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NOTE TO READERS
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been observed.
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Indigenous peoples designates First Nations and Inuit collectively.
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A WORD FROM THE
COMMISSIONER

I am back from a long journey. To those who enquire how the adventure went, | invariably
respond the same way. When | accepted this mandate more than two years ago, | could
never have imagined what | would end up discovering. | definitely had a notion of what |
thought to be fact. It had been formed from learned images and information conveyed and
coloured—I admit—by my own cultural background. After all, no matter who we are or what
our roots may be, we embody our culture, but this should not preclude the possibility of
being enriched through contact with another culture. My recent experience has once again
confirmed this to me.

For quite some time, | searched for an image powerful enough to describe what | had
witnessed. And one morning, the voices of all those | had listened to melded to shape what
would be my principal finding. Each in their own way, the stories told by Richard, Lucie,
Elisapi and the many others depicted how—by building unwarranted bridges, and dams
that were deemed necessary and reassuring—public services intruded into territories with
no understanding of their true nature. Territories with sensitive issues at stake, including
physical and mental health, justice and parent-child relations.

From there, it's hard not to draw a parallel with the past. In fact, what these people had to
say wasn't that different from the words of their Elders who, to this day, tell of the decades-
long transfiguration of the land as a result of railways, dams and massive clear cutting.
Through these observations, it became crystal clear to me that, collectively, we have
nothing to gain from repeating past errors. And that by following familiar paths, steered
by what we wrongly believe to be the sole solutions to any human problem, the risk of
fostering mistrust, injustice and failure is huge.

I am not disputing the goodwill of all those who continuously strive for solutions. Along the
way, | met willing, caring and deeply committed individuals. | also came across resilient
people who are open to change and convinced that nothing is stronger than when it is
woven together, in mutual respect. | seized this idea and decided to build on it.

Once this was established, an image sprung to mind that had been conjured by an
Atikamekw Nehirowisiw Elder during our work. It was the importance of knowing each
person's position in the canoe (tciman), for one's position dictates one's role in maintaining
balance. The bowman watches for obstacles, the sternsman steers and propels the canoe,
and the passenger lets themself be guided along. Where public services are concerned, we
have almost always made Indigenous peoples into “passengers’ on their own territory. Yet,
realistically, who better than the Indigenous communities themselves to act as bowman
and guide the canoe? If we accept the fact that a smooth voyage starts with acknowledging
each person's role and contribution, then this path will be—I am certain—the beginning of
an answer to something bigger than ourselves, something different that could lead to true
reconciliation, like a change of perspective and of position in the canoe!
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That the challenge is huge there can be no doubt. Yet the energy emanating from all sides
and expressed during our work encourages me to believe that change is possible. And for
everything we discovered and learned, and for the renewed perspective this has given me,
I will never be able to sufficiently thank the many courageous individuals who shared their
life stories with us. | would like to acknowledge them not only for their generous remarks
and observations, but also, and most importantly, for believing in the process and for
trusting us. To all of you, thank you, wliwni, meegwetch, mikwetc, chiniskuumitin, tiawenhk,
tshinashkumitin, nakurmiik, wolimon komac, wela'lin, nia:wen, chiniskumitin.

I would also like to thank the experts we heard as well the public services representatives
for their enlightening insights into the issues at hand. The points of view that have been
expressed will forever serve as a legacy for future generations.

In this regard, | would also like to express my deepest gratitude to my dedicated and
dynamic team, which remained focused on the task and without which it would not have
been possible to so poignantly bring to light the wealth of information gathered.

And last, a very special thank you goes to the women of Val-d'Or whose videoed testimonies
raised awareness and called all of Québec's attention to the all-too real situation of
discrimination and violence. At certain points when the schedule was particularly heavy
and energy levels waned, your courage spurred me on. | hope your fortitude will also inspire
our decision makers, both Indigenous and non-Indigenous, in terms of the follow-up to be
given on the proposed calls for action.

Dee —
7

Jacques Viens









CHAPTER 1

CONTEXT FOR THE COMMISSION'S CREATION

The eventsjustifying the creation of a public inquiry commission play out against a backdrop
that we can refer to as the context. In general, the context is characterized by a few events
and key players or by a tense social environment that requires action to be taken. The Public
Inquiry Commission on relations between Indigenous Peoples and certain public services
in Québec: listening, reconciliation and progress (the Commission) fits into such a context.
This chapter outlines the major milestones leading up to the Commission’s creation.

1.1. Triggering event

During his first election campaign as leader of the Liberal Party of Canada in the winter
of 2015, Justin Trudeau promised to set up a national inquiry into missing and murdered
Indigenous women and girls! In a report released a year earlier, the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police estimated that 1,181 women had disappeared over a 30-year period.2 That
figure, which would later be considered conservative3, also included women in Québec.

In Val-d'Or, Sindy Ruperthouse, aged 44, had been reported missing in the spring of 2014.
It was her story that first brought the journalists from Radio-Canada’'s Enquéte program to
the Abitibi region. Her parents, like many others elsewhere in Canada, criticized the police
for their lack of diligence and support in searching for their daughter.4

In addition to providing names and putting a face on the phenomenon of missing Indigenous
women in Quebec, the news story, which was broadcast on October 22, 2015, gave about
10 Indigenous women from the region an opportunity to speak out. They said that they had
been subject to abuse by police officers from the Sureté du Québec (SQ) assigned to Val-
d'Or between 2002 and 2015.5

As soon as the story was broadcast, Lise Thériault, Minister of Public Security, said that she
was concerned and shocked by the allegations of abuse described. She then confirmed
that she had been informed about the situation a few months earlier by Edith Cloutier,

1 ICI Manitoba. (2015, February 12). Justin Trudeau exige une enquéte sur la disparition et le meurtre de
femmes autochtones. Ici Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/706584/jus-

2 Royal Canadian Mounted Police. (2014). Missing and Murdered Aboriginal Women: A Nat/ona/ Operat/ona/
Overview Retrieved from http: p-gre.g ! J-and-murd i-ak Jinal- atio-
nal-operational-overview.

3 ICl Radio-Canada.ca. (2016, February 16). Ottawa croit qu'il y a plus que 1 200 femmes autochtones
assassinées ou disparues. /Cl Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/7
patricia-hajdu-carolyn-bennett-femmes-autochtones-assassinees-disparues-nombre.

4 Dupuis, J. (journalist) (2015). Abus de la SQ : les femmes brisent le silence [News story]. In E. Marchand

(producer) Enquéte. l\/lontreal Québec: Société Radio-Canada. Retrieved from http://ici.radio-canada.ca/
| 2015-201 17/femm hton rete-du- -

5 Dupuis (journalist). (2015), op. cit.
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Executive Director of the Val-d'Or Native Friendship Centre.® However, she indicated that
she would rely on the inquiry conducted by the SQ's Direction des normes professionnelles
and the Directeur des poursuites criminelles et pénales (DPCP) in order to evaluate
whether charges should be laid” At that time, 14 files were opened and submitted to the
SQ's Direction des normes professionnelles. The eight police officers identified had been
interviewed and were under investigation.®

The proposed approach was criticized by many observers. During question period on the
same day the news story was broadcast, Pierre Karl Péladeau, who was the Leader of the
Official Opposition in the National Assembly at that time, demanded that an independent
inquiry be held.® Stakeholders quickly voiced their opinions in favour of that approach.*® The
Bureau des enquétes indépendantes (BEI), which was created through legislation in 2013,
was considered by many to be the most appropriate organization to conduct the inquiry.
However, although the BEI existed on paper, it had not yet started operating when those
events occurred. Unlike the situation today, its mandate at that time did not cover sexual
misconduct allegations against police officers® and allegations against police officers by
Indigenous individuals*?

The issue of trust raised by many stakeholders concerning the investigation process meant
that a decision had to be made. On October 23, 2015, less than 24 hours after the news story
was broadcast, at the request of Martin Prud’homme, Director General of the SQ, public

6 Six lettres en liasse, document P-599 (Commission), p. 6.

7 ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2015, October 22). Policiers soupgonnés d’agressions sexuelles : « Troublant
et choguant» dit Lise Thériault. /CI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/
nouvelle/745707/policiers-sg-agressions-sexuelles-val-dor-enquete-dpcp-couillard-theriault.

8 Dupuis (journalist). (2015), op. cit.

9 National Assembly of Québec. (2015). Journal des débats (Hansard) of the National Assembly. Questions
et réponses orales. Enquéte de la Sdreté du Québec sur certains de ses policiers de Val-d'Or. Pierre Karl
Péladeau, 41stLeg., October 2, 2015, 1s'session, Vol. 44, N° 118, p. 7345.

10 Assembly of First Nations Québec-Labrador. (2015, October 23). Le cas d’abus de pouvoir de la SQ :
L’APNQL exige la tenue d’'une enquéte indépendante. [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.
pressegauche.org/Les-cas-d-abus-de-pouvoir-de-la-SQ-L -APNQL -exige-la-tenue-d-une-enquete;

Amnesty International. (2015, October 23). Policiers soupconnés d’agressions sexuelles envers des
femmes autochtones a Val-d’Or : Amnistie Internationale demande une commission parlementaire élargie.
[Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.newswire.ca/fr/news-releases/policiers-soupconnes-dagres-
sions-sexuelles-envers-les-femmes-autochtones-a-val-dor--amnistie-internationale-demande-une-commis-
sion-parlementaire-au-mandat-elargi-536318911.html; Regroupement des Centres d’amitié autochtones du
Québec. (2015, October 23). A call for action to eliminate violence and abuse towards Aboriginal women.
[Press release]. Retrieved from http://www.rcaaq.info/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2015-10-23_A-call-for-
action-to-eliminate-violence-and-abuse-towards-Aboriginal-women.pdf; Coalition Avenir Québec. (2015,
October 23). Situation des femmes autochtones — La CAQ demande une commission d’enquéte. [Press
release]. Retrieved from https://v2018.lacaq.org/fr/presse/situation-des-femmes-autochtones-la-cag-de-
mande-une-commission-denquete/; Grand Conseil des Cris (Eeyou Istchee). (2015, October 23). Réaction
du Grand Conseil des Cris (Eeyou Istchee) faisant suite au reportage-choc d’Enquéte de Radio-Canada
en matiere de sévices a I'endroit de femmes autochtones. [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.
pressegauche.org/Reaction-du-Grand-Conseil-des-Cris-Eeyou-Istchee-Gouvernement-de-la-Nation-crie.

11 Since a legislative amendment was made in December 2017, the BEI has been officially authorized to
investigate any allegations concerning an offence of a sexual nature committed by a police officer in the
performance of duties.

12 Since a legislative amendment was made in September 2018, the BEI has been officially authorized to
investigate any allegations by an Indigenous individual against a police officer.
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security minister Lise Thériault announced that the investigation would be transferred
to the Service de police de la Ville de Montreal (SPVM, Montréal's police force).® On the
same day, First Nations representatives demanded that the police officers involved be
suspended.* Their demands were met and the eight police officers subject to allegations
were immediately relieved of their duties for the duration of the investigation.s

1.2. Regional tensions

At the local level, tensions were rising. On October 25, while Geoffrey Kelley, Minister
responsible for Native Affairs, was making a visit to Val-d'Or'¢, representatives from the
Eeyou (Cree) nation announced that they would boycott the city's municipal administration
and merchants.”” During the weekend following the broadcast of the Enquéte news story,
officers fromthe La Vallée-de-l'Or RCM police station refused to work. They claimed that they
did not feel supported by their employer and were concerned that the tense atmosphere
between them and the population made them unable to do their jobs effectively. They also
asked the public security minister to make a formal apology to them.®® A groundswell of
solidarity towards the police officers appeared on social media. To show their support for the
police, Facebook users began changing their profile pictures to the 144 avatar identifying
the La Vallee-de-l'Or RCM police station.®® At the same time, Verna Polson, Grand Chief
of the Algonquin Anishinabeg Nation Tribal Council, announced that her nation would be
joining the boycott.>°

13 Ministere de la Sécurité publique. (2015, October 23). Allégations visant des policiers du poste de la MRC de
La Vallée-de-I'Or. Le gouvernement ne tolérera aucun écart de conduite des policiers et entend soutenir la

population de Val-d'Or. [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.securitepublique.gouv.qc.ca/ministere/

salle-presse/communiques/detail/12710.html.

14 ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2015, October 23). Les Autochtones pressent Ottawa d’agir sans plus attendre.
ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/745902/autochtones-allega-
tions-reactions-premieres-nations-enquete-publique.

15 Croteau, M. (2015, October 23). Allégations d’abus sur des femmes autochtones a Val-d'Or : le SPVM
enquétera. La Presse.ca. Retrieved from http://www.lapresse.ca/actualites/201510/23/01-4913137-allega-
tions-dabus-sur-des-femmes-autochtones-a-val-dor-le-spvm-enquetera.php.

16 ICl Radio-Canada.ca. (2015, October 25). Le ministre Geoffrey Kelley lance un appel au calme a Val-d'Or.
ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/746202/ministre-affaires-autoch-
tones-geoffrey-kelley-val-dor.

17 TVA Nouvelles. (2015, October 25). Crise de confiance a Val-d'Or. TVA Nouvelles.ca. Retrieved from http:/
www.tvanouvelles.ca/2015/10/25/crise-de-confiance-a-val-dor.

18 ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2015, October 26). Colere et solidarité chez les policiers de Val-d’Or. IC/
Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/746286/policiers-sg-val-dor-peti-
tion-facebook-association-des-policiers-provinciaux-du-Québec.

19 ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2015, October 28). L'élan de solidarité avec les policiers de Val-d’Or s’étend a

Rouyn-Noranda. /CI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/746695/autopa-

trouilles-sg-rouyn-noranda-144-solidarite-val-dor.

20 Chamberland, D. (2015, November 2). Au tour des Algonquins de boycotter Val-d’Or. La Sentinelle.
Retrieved from http://www.lasentinelle.ca/au-tour-des-algonquins-de-boycotter-val-dor/.
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At the national level, the Assembly of First Nations Québec-Labrador claimed that an
independent inquiry supervised by Indigenous police officers was necessary and asked for
an emergency meeting with Premier Philippe Couillard .

A meeting was initially refused but ultimately took place on November 4, 2015.22 A series of
measures focusing on Indigenous populations in the Val-d'Or region was announced? and a
tripartite working platform (Québec, Ottawa, Indigenous authorities) was set up to examine
the practices of police forces in Québec.24 The appointment of M® Fannie Lafontaine as
independent civil observer was also confirmed for the inquiry being conducted by the
SPVM:? Drawing on her background as a legal professional and Université Laval professor,
her role was to review the inquiry's integrity and impartiality.

Following the meeting, the Indigenous leaders stated that they were not completely
satisfied and were still interested in seeing a public inquiry commission held.?® For his part,
Premier Couillard said that he first wanted to review the mandate assigned to the federal
inquiry and asked the Trudeau government to include Québec in the inquiry's mandate
When questioned, Carolyn Bennett, federal Minister of Crown-Indigenous Relations and
Northern Affairs, replied that Québec would have to conduct its own investigation because
the federal government's wideranging inquiry could not zero in on “specific cases"?®
However, Quebec's position remained unchanged

21 Boutros, M. and Marin, S. (2015, October 27). Le chef Picard somme Couillard de se rendre a Val-d'Or d'ici
24 heures. L’Actualité. [Based on content from The Canadian Press] Retrieved from http://lactualite.com/
actualites/Québec-canada/2015/10/27/il-ny-a-pas-de-crise-a-val-dor-selon-le-directeur-general-de-la-s

22 ICl Radio-Canada.ca. (2015, November 4). Incidents de Val-d’Or : Philippe Couillard rencontre les chefs
autochtones. IC/ Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/747930/rencontre-phi-
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In the first week of December, wanting to put an end to the tensions tearing apart the
community, the Val-d'Or municipal council adopted a unanimous resolution asking the
Québec government to set up a public inquiry commission concerning what was commonly
referred to as the “Val-d'Or events”3* Although the resolution did not elicit a response from
Quebec, it did foster dialogue at the local level. On December 15, 2015, the City of Val-
d'Or, the Grand Council of the Crees (Eeyou Istchee)/Cree Nation Government, Anicinapek
Council of Kitcisakik, the Council of the Nation Anishnabe of Lac Simon and the Council
of the First Nation of Abitibiwinni (Pikogan) signed the Val-d'Or declaration3* By doing so,
they hoped to take the first step towards improving relations between Indigenous and
non-Indigenous communities. The economic and social boycott was terminated. Various
task forces and awareness campaigns were launched in the following weeks and months
to relieve the tensions between the region's Indigenous communities and the rest of the
population.?

1.3. Far-reaching impact

In the preceding months, a number of observers spoke out against the difficult relations
between the Indigenous communities and law enforcement. A second news story
broadcast by the Enquéte program on March 30, 2016 supported those views.® In that story,
other Indigenous women told about police abuse that had occurred in locations such as
Maniwaki, Sept-iles and Schefferville. Various speakers, including a former inspector from
the public security ministry, revealed that “starlight tours” had taken place in Québec
involving members of Indigenous communities in a vulnerable state who were taken outside
the city to isolated locations and left there. The story also stated that the complaint process
was inadequate and encouraged a feeling of impunity among police officers34 As a result
of that report, a phone line administered by the Native ParaJudicial Services of Québec was
set up to make it easier for Indigenous women to make complaints about assault.?> On April

30 Landry, A. (2015, December 9). Une commission d’enquéte sur la crise a Val-d’Or est demandée
malgré la tenue de I'enquéte fédérale. /ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/
nouvelle/754399/commission-enquete-val-dor-demandee.

31 Ville de Val-d'Or. (2015). Déclaration de Val-d'Or. Retrieved from https://ville.valdor.qc.ca/la-ville/democratie/
declaration-de-val-d-or; Chamberland, D. (2015, December 18). Un nouveau départ avec la Déclaration de
Val-d'Or. La Sentinelle. Retrieved from http://www.lasentinelle.ca/un-nouveau-depart-avec-la-declaration-de-
val-dor/; Prince, D. (2015, December 16). Val-d’Or s’entend avec les Autochtones. Le Journal de Montréal.
Retrieved from https://www.journaldemontreal.com/2015/12/15/val-dor-signe-un-traite-de-paix-avec-les-au-
tochtones.

32 ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2015, December 15). Déclaration de Val-d’Or : les Cris et les Anishnabés
mettent fin au boycottage économique. ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/
nouvelle/755367/declaration-val-dor-cris-anishinabe-boycott; Chamberland, D. (2015, December 18), op. cit,;
ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2016, January 15). Le Conseil tribal de la nation algonquine Anishnabeg met
fin au boycottage de la Ville de Val-d’Or. ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https.//ici.radio-canada.ca/
nouvelle/7569939/fin-boycott-val-dor-conseil-nation-anisnabe.

33 Dupuis, J. and Panasuk, A. (journalists). Le silence est brisé. [News story]. In M. Bourdeau and E. Marchand
(producers), Enquéte. Montréal, Québec: Société Radio-Canada. Retrieved from : https://ici.radio-canada.ca/
tele/enquete/2015-2016/segments/reportage/6143/enquete-femmes-autochtones-surete-du-Québec-palice.

34 Ibid.

35 Gagné, L. (2016, April 5). Femmes autochtones : une nouvelle ligne téléphonique pour dénoncer les abus de
policiers. Le Journal de Québec. Retrieved from http://www.journaldeQuébec.com/2016/04/05/femmes-au-

tochtones-une-nouvelle-ligne-telephonique-pour-denoncer-les-abus-de-policiers.
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5, 2016, the SPVM's mandate was expanded to include complaints against any police officer
assigned in Québec.® Phase 1 of the inquiry focusing solely on Val-d'Or was still underway.

On August 3, 2016, the federal government officially announced that it was setting up the
National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls (MMIWG).¥ In
the weeks that followed, despite further calls by the Grand Council of the Crees (Eeyou
Istchee)/Cree Nation Government to set up a Québec inquiry®, the Couillard government
adopted an order giving the federal commissioners full powers to conduct an inquiry in
Québec3®

Then, on October 20, 2016, one year after the first story had been broadcast, police officers
assignedto Val-d'Or, supported by the Association des policieres et des policiers provinciaux
du Québec, launched a defamation lawsuit against Radio-Canada and its journalist Josée
Dupuis.#° According to the police officers, the news story on Indigenous women in Val-d'Or
was lacking in terms of thoroughness, accuracy, impartiality and balance#* Radio-Canada
asked for the lawsuit to be dismissed immediately, calling it “an attempt to muzzle a
broadcaster whose mission is the public interest” 4

Those police officers received support at the national level. In support of their colleagues,
2,500 SQ police officers started wearing a red bracelet bearing the number 144 in reference
to the Val d'Or police station and eight stars representing the suspended police officers.4
Private radio stations and the hosts of call-in talk shows attacked the credibility and
reputations of the Indigenous women who had spoken on camera. Aradio host from Quéebec
City stated that the Indigenous women were lying. Another host was later reprimanded by
the Québec Press Council for making degrading comments about the women.#

36 Croteau, M. (2016, April 5). Policiers et Autochtones : Québec élargit 'enquéte a toute la province. La Presse.
ca. Retrieved from http://www.lapresse.ca/actualites/politique/politique-Québecoise/201604/05/01-4967926-
oliciers-et-autochtones-Québec-elargit-lenquete-a-toute-la-province.php.

37 The Canadian Press. (2016, August 3). Lancement de la commission d’enquéte sur les femmes autochtones
tuées ou disparues. /Cl Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/796026/au-
tochtone-premiere-nation-assassinee-disparue-femme-bennett-commission-enquete-nationale-ottawa.

38 ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2016, August 18). Val-d’Or : des leaders autochtones réiterent la demande d’une
enquéte québécoise. ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/798208/au-
tochtone-enquete-inconduite-policiere-province-nationale-femmes-filles-disparues-assassinees.

39 Order concerning the constitution of the Commission of Inquiry on Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women
and Girls in Québec (2016) 711 G.0.Q. I, p. 4921.

40 Demande introductive d’instance, Cour supérieure du Québec (Chambre civile) district de Montréal, no 500-
17-096027-167.

41 Croteau, M., Duchaine, G. (2016, October 20). Reportage a Val-d’Or : 41 policiers poursuivent
Radio-Canada. La Presse.ca. Retrieved from http://www.lapresse.ca/actualites/justice-et-faits-divers/actua-
lites-judiciaires/201610/20/01-5032333-reportage-a-val-dor-41-policiers-poursuivent-radio-canada.php.

42 Demande en rejet d’action pour abus, Version revue a la suite de I'ordonnance du juge Bisson du
9 juin 2017, Cour supérieure (Chambre civile) district de Montréal, no 500-17-096027-167, p. 1.

43 Prince, D. (2016, October 19). Un bracelet en soutien aux policiers de Val-d’Or. Le Journal de Montréal.
Retrieved from http://www.journaldemontreal.com/2016/10/19/allegations-de-femmes-autochtones-les-poli-
ciers-de-val-dor-denoncent-la-suspension-de-huit-collegues.

44 Québec Press Council. (2017, June 16). Adjudication D2016-11-060. Retrieved from https://conseildepresse.
gc.cal/decisions/d2016-11-060/.
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Against that tense backdrop, Me Fannie Lafontaine tabled her report on November 16, 2016.
The independent observer concluded that the SPVM's inquiry had been conducted with
integrity and impartiality. However, she stated that it was “necessary to shed some light
on the causes underlying those allegations of sexual violence and abuse of power against
police officers and the potential existence of a pattern of discriminatory behaviour against
members of Indigenous communities indicating that systemic racism against Indigenous
communities existed within police forces.” In her opinion, “in order to identify measures that
would complement the SPVM's criminal investigation by shedding light on more collective,
systemic issues, an immediate, official consultation process involving the government, police
forces and Indigenous organizations would be required"

1.4. Creation of the Commission

Two days later, the DPCP announced that no charges would be laid in the cases involving
the Val-d'Or women#¢ The only charges would be in the case concerning the Schefferville
events. The reaction to the announcement among the alleged victims and the Indigenous
stakeholders who supported them was very negative.#

There was considerable coverage in the media, with many stakeholders reiterating that they
wanted a Québec inquiry commission to be appointed.#® Like his Minister responsible for
Native Affairs a year earlier, the Premier initially showed some openness to that possibility4+®
and said that he understood the “frustration” and “despair” felt by First Nations. However,
not long after that, the idea of creating a commission was once again rejected®, a decision
that was criticized by the Chief of the Assembly of First Nations Québec-Labrador.5*

45 Rapport de I'observatrice civile indépendante. Phase 1. Le 15 novembre 2016, document P-616
(Commission), p. 11.

46 ICl Radio-Canada. (2016, November 18). Décision du DPCP a Val-d'Or : entre colére et incompréhension.
ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from http://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/1000753/decision-du-dpcp-a-val-
dor-entre-colere-et-incomprehension; Prince, D. (2016, November 15). L’absence d’accusation contre les
policiers de la SQ divise Val-d’Or. Le Journal de Montréal. Retrieved from http://www.journaldemontreal.
com/2016/11/15/allegations-de-femmes-autochtones-agressees--val-dor-divisee-face-a-la-decision-du-dpcp.

47 ICI Radio-Canada. (2016, November 18), op. cit.; The Canadian Press. (2016, November 17). Val-d'Or : les
femmes autochtones amerement décues. La Presse.ca. Retrieved from https://www.lapresse.ca/actualites/
justice-et-faits-divers/actualites-judiciaires/201611/17/01-5042453-val-dor-les-femmes-autochtones-amere-
ment-decues.php.

48 Saint-Arnaud, P. (2016, November 21). Val-d’Or : les leaders autochtones réclament une enquéte judiciaire.
La Presse.ca. [Based on content from The Canadian Press]. Retrieved from http://www.lapresse.ca/
actualites/justice-et-faits-divers/201611/21/01-5043666-val-dor-les-leaders-autochtones-reclament-une-en-
guete-judiciaire.php.

49 Saint-Arnaud, P. (2016, November 22). Autochtones : Couillard entrouvre la porte a une enquéte
indépendante. Le Devoir. Retrieved from https://www.ledevoir.com/societe/485316/autochtones-couillard-en-
trouvre-la-porte-a-une-enquete-independante.

50 ICl Radio-Canada.ca. (2016, November 23). Commission d’enquéte sur les femmes autochtones : Couillard
fait marche arriere. ICI Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/1001895/com-
mission-enquete-femmes-autochtones-philippe-couillard-recul-ghislain-picard.

51 Ibid.
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Then, unexpectedly on December 1, 2016, Premier Couillard, together with Martin Coiteux,
Minister of Public Securitys?, Geoffrey Kelley, Minister responsible for Native Affairs, and
Stéphanie Vallée, Minister of Justice, met with Ghislain Picard, Chief of the Assembly of First
Nations Québec-Labrador, Matthew Coon Come, Chief of the Grand Council of the Crees
(Eeyou Istchee)/Cree Nation Government, Adrienne Anichinapeo, Anishnabe chief from
Kitcisakik, and Adrienne Jérébme, Anishnabe chief from Lac Simon, as well as Edith Cloutier,
Executive Director of the Val-d'Or Native Friendship Centre. The Indigenous representatives
proposed that an inquiry commission be set up to examine various public services.s3

Michele Moreau, acting as Executive Director of the MMIWG inquiry?, then sent a letter to
the Québec government confirming that the Val-d'Or events would not be reviewed by the
federal inquiry because they were specific cases.ss Her action was the final argument for the
Couillard government to set up a provincial inquiry commission.s® The order creating the
Commission was passed on December 21, 2016.

As a retired Superior Court of Québec judge, | was appointed that day by the Québec
government to act as commissioner. The rest of the story is described in the following
chapters.

52 On October 29, 2015, Lise Thériault announced that she would be taking temporary leave from her duties
as Minister of Public Security. She was replaced by Pierre Moreau, who was Minister of Municipal Affairs
and Land Occupancy at that time. On January 28, 2016, as part of a cabinet shuffle, Martin Coiteux was
appointed Minister of Municipal Affairs and Land Occupancy and Minister of Public Security.

53 Dutrisac, R. (2016, December 1). La demande d’'une commission d’enquéte publique reste en suspens. Le
Devoir. Retrieved from http://www.ledevoir.com/non-classe/486061/relations-autochtones-policiers-la-de-
mande-d-une-commission-d-enquete-publigue-reste-en-suspens.

54 Ms. Moreau resigned as Executive Director of the MMIWG inquiry on July 21, 2017.

55 ICI Abitibi-Témiscamingue. (2016, December 15). Femmes autochtones : pas d’enquéte fédérale
approfondie sur Val-d'Or. IC/ Radio-Canada.ca. Retrieved from http://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/1006235/
val-dor-mandat-enquete-nationale-femmes-autochtones-disparues-assassinees.

56 Gouvernement du Québec. (2016, December 21). Commission d’enquéte sur les relations entre les
Autochtones et certains services publics. Pour mieux s’écouter, se réconcilier et pour que nos relations
progressent. [Press release]. Retrieved from http://www fil-information.gouv.qc.ca/Pages/Article.
aspx?idArticle=2412217946.
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CHAPTER 2

MANDATE, ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONAL
FRAMEWORK

An inquiry commission takes place within a well-defined regulatory framework. The work
required to complete its mandate must not only be carried out in compliance with the Act
respecting public inquiry commissionss’, but also with the decree that led toits establishments®
and the Procedural and Operational Rules established by the Commission's team itself.5

This chapter describes the mandate assigned to me as well as my interpretation of the
mandate as the designated commissioner. This chapter also presents an outline of the
work carried out by the Commission's various teams, from the initial contact with the parties
concerned to the submission of the final report. Grouped together in this manner, these
components allow us to better understand the obligations and constraints inherent to an
inquiry commission as well as the efforts required to successfully complete a project of
such importance.

2.1. The mandate

2.1.1 Terms of the order

According to the government order, the Public Inquiry Commission on relations between
Indigenous Peoples and certain public services in Québec: listening, reconciliation and
progress (the Commission) was given the following mandate:

[.] to investigate, ascertain the facts and make analyses with a view to making
recommendations as to the concrete, effective and sustainable measures
to be implemented by the Gouvernement du Québec and by the Aboriginal
authorities to prevent or eliminate, regardless of their origin or cause, any form
of violence or discriminatory practices or differential treatments in the provision
of the following public services to the Aboriginals of Quebec: police services,
correctional services, justice services, health and social services and youth
protection services.®°

The orderalso specifies that the inquiry must cover the last 15 years and that the Commission
sits in Val-d'Or. It also opens the door to holding hearings in other regions and communities
affected, if deemed necessary.

57 Act respecting public inquiry commissions, CQLR, c. 37.

58 Order concerning the establishment of the Commission d’enquéte sur les relations entre les Autochtones et
certains services publics au Québec : écoute, réconciliation et progres, (2016) 1095 G.0.Q. II. The full text of
the order is available in Appendix 1.

59 The Commission’s Procedural and Operational Rules can be found in Appendix 2.

60 Order concerning the establishment of the Commission d’enquéte sur les relations entre les Autochtones et
certains services publics au Québec : écoute, réconciliation et progres, (2016) 1095 G.0.Q. II, p. 24. The full
text of the order is available in Appendix 1.

FINAL REPORT | CERP

21



22

The government order also emphasizes the importance of allowing Indigenous citizens and
providers of public services to “share their experience and concerns,” but also to “voice their
opinions with respect to the solutions that could be implemented to improve the provision
of public services to Aboriginals." As indicated by the name of the Commission, it's time for
listening and reconciliation, with a view to making progress.

2.1.2 Interpretation of the mandate

While the “Val-d'Or events" spurred the creation of the Commission, the Commission’s
mandate was to shed light on the issues that characterize relations between Indigenous
peoples and the providers of certain public services throughout Québec.

In concrete terms, the mandate consisted of assessing whether the treatment of Indigenous
peoples in the delivery of public services was marked by violence or discriminatory
practices. The underlying question was to determine whether Indigenous peoples were
treated differently by public services due to their distinctive characteristics, and whether
this generated injustices, particularly with respect to the services provided, and hindered
them in exercising their rights. It was also important to establish whether such observations
stemmed from isolated acts or were the result of systemic ways of acting and of thinking,
i.e. rooted in the organizations and fuelled by their operating logic.

The answer to these questions should enable me to identify the problems observed
generally, but also for each of the public services listed in the mandate, i.e. police services,
correctional services, justice services, health services, social services and youth protection
services.

In addition, the causes of the problems observed needed to be identified before formulating
the calls for action deemed essential to improving the situation.

In order to accomplish this in accordance with the government's desire to encourage
listening, | deemed it necessary to prioritize the testimonies of both Indigenous citizens
and providers of public services. The adopted approach was inclusive and allowed as
many women as men to speak at the public hearings. | also listened to stories about other
public services if they allowed me to better understand the reality and particular needs of
Indigenous peoples.

With a view to reconciliation, | also took special care to respect Indigenous cultures and
traditions. This position not only shaped the work of the Commission as a whole, but its
organization as well.



2.2. Organization and work carried out

| benefited from a seasoned team of professionals to help me successfully complete my
mandate. At the peak of the work, the Commission’'s team consisted of 89 people® spread
out over eight work teams, each with well-defined responsibilities.

2.2.1 General Secretariat and administration

The General Secretariat is the administrative arm of a commission. They are responsible for
the general administration of the commission, as well as for its financial management and
smooth operation. They ensure that the commission has the human and material resources
it needs to carry out its mandate. They are also responsible for setting up the offices and
coordinating the logistics for holding the public hearings. Julie Camirand served as General
Secretary for the entire duration of the Commission's work. Ms. Camirand was supported in
her duties by Sylvain Roy, Administrative Officer. She also worked closely with Alain Lauzier,
advisor to the Commission.

2.2.2 Legal affairs

Allinquiry commissions also have a team consisting of counsel, lawyers and legal research
officers at their disposal. This commission was no exception. The Legal Department ensured
that evidence pertaining to the mandate was identified and prepared for the hearings. The
team prepared witnesses to appear before the Commission, and members of counsel
interviewed them at the hearing. Christian Leblanc and Marie-Josée Barry-Gosselin acted
as Chief Counsel and Deputy Chief Counsel, respectively, until September 7, 2018, the
date on which Suzanne Arpin succeeded them. The Commission was able to successfully
complete its work thanks to a team of 13 people, five of whom were counsel.

The Commission held hearings for a total of 38 weeks, between June 5, 2017 and
December 14, 2018. A total of 765 witnesses testified at these hearings, 277 of whom
were citizen witnesses.®? A certain number of witnesses also testified via statements filed
as evidence (423). The majority of the hearings were held in Val-d'Or. Nevertheless, with
the agreement of the Commission's counsel, | deemed it appropriate to organize public
hearings in Montreal (4 weeks), Uashat mak Mani-Utenam (3 weeks), Mistissini (2 weeks),
Queébec City (2 weeks), Kuujjuaq (1 week) and Kuujjuarapik (1 week). The hearings led to
1,367 documents deemed relevant to the inquiry being filed as evidence 3

61 The complete list of the individuals who worked for the Commission can be found in Appendix 3.
62 The list of individuals heard during the Commission’s hearings is available in Appendix 4.
63 The list of documents filed as evidence before the Commission is available in Appendix 5.
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2.2.3 Research and analysis

The Research Department is responsible for the organization, planning and execution of all
research work required under the Commission's mandate. In this respect, the department
worked on documenting the various issues raised by the mandate and analyzing the
testimonies heard during the hearings. It also actively helped in the preparation of expert
witnesses, the analysis of briefs and documents collected by counsel, and drafting the
report. Directed jointly by Suzy Basile and Frédérique Cornellier, and subsequently by
Sébastien Brodeur-Girard as of September 2018, at the peak of the Commission's activities,
the department consisted of some 20 people with varying profiles. The majority were working
as research officers. Six university researchers, recognized for their expertise in the area of
our mandate, were also hired for their analytical services: Céline Bellot, Christiane Guay,
Myléne Jaccoud, Carole Lévesque, Marie-Eve Sylvestre and Cyndy Wylde.® These experts
were used throughout the duration of the Commission. Their work enabled us to take stock
of the situation for each of the public services subject to the inquiry and compare the
different testimonies given during the public hearings. They also led to the identification of
promising initiatives in Québec or elsewhere.’s All research was carried out in compliance
with the First Nations in Québec and Labrador's Research Protocol, which was developed
by the Assembly of First Nations Québec-Labrador and published in 2014.%¢

2.2.4 Investigations

The investigation team was responsible for collecting and processing the testimonies of
persons who wanted to share their experiences with the Commission.

Led by Annick Larose, this team benefited from the contributions of 10 investigation agents
and an investigation office clerk. The investigation agents ensured that the testimonies were
collected and that each one was summarized in the form of a statement. Under exceptional
circumstances, they could also be called to appear at hearings as reporting witnesses,
summing up the events experienced by one or more individuals.

In total, 1,047 testimonies by people from all the nations were collected by the investigation
team.’” A number of them were deemed inadmissible with regard to the Commission's
mandate (109), and nearly 20 were more relevant to other government bodies (19), such
as the Commission des droits de la personne et des droits de la jeunesse and the Bureau
des enquétes indépendantes. In addition, by the end of the exercise, 190 instances of
discontinuance were recorded.

Although a secure telephone line and email address were made available as soon as the
work began, the majority (80.0%) of the testimonies were collected in the field, during visits
to Indigenous communities and from Indigenous organizations in urban settings across

64 Sébastien Grammond also worked as an expert for the Commission until September 2017, when he was
appointed judge of the Federal Court.

65 The promising initiatives identified are presented in Appendix 6.

66 Assembly of First Nations Québec-Labrador. (2014). First Nations in Québec and Labrador’s Research
Protocol. Québec City, Québec: AFNQL.

67 Refer to Appendix 7 for the number of investigation files opened per nation.



Québec. The work done by the investigation team also enabled eight discussion groups to
be established. This alternative mode of collecting testimonies led to the presentation of a
number of stories at the hearings.

2.2.5 Community relations

The Commission benefited from an Indigenous relations team to facilitate initial contact.
Serving as a link to the communities, the team was made up of 11 people, seven of
whom were liaison officers working in the field. Three people were also responsible for
coordinating their work and visiting the communities to introduce the Commission and
encourage citizen participation: Janet Mark, Sharon Hunter and Lucy Grey, Coordinator
and Assistant Coordinators, respectively. One Assistant Coordinator worked with all nations
whose second language was English and the others worked in Inuit territory.

Between May 2017 and August 2018, the team met with more than 3,000 people and
carried out 234 visits, 87 of which were in an urban setting. The visits began in Anishnabe
territory and then gradually extended to all of the other regions. With a view to respecting
the wishes of the communities and the special situations of each of the territories, the team
made 82 courtesy visits to explain the Commission and invite people to participate in the
process. More than 150 official visits (152) were organized following the courtesy visits. By
the end of the exercise, all 11 nations had been visited, as well as nearly all First Nations
communities and villages in Nunavik.%®

The Commission also benefited from a coordinator of relations with public services,
Michel Michaud, who worked to build bridges with representatives of the various public
services. Following the example of what was done in the First Nations communities and
villages of Nunavik, presentations were organized for the government bodies directly
concerned by the mandate, as well as for the labour unions in the sectors concerned.

2.2.6 Psychosocial support and well-being

| felt it was necessary to have a psychosocial support team available to help with stories
about difficult and emotionally challenging experiences. Coordinated by Roch Riendeau,
this eight-person team accompanied the investigators and community relations teams
on each of their visits in the field. This team was also an integral part of establishing
discussion groups. Its mandate was primarily to support those wishing to testify at every
step of the process, from collecting the preliminary information to appearing at the hearing.
On occasion, the team was also asked to help with preparing the witnesses. In addition,
it directed all individuals with inadmissible testimonies to the appropriate resources in
their communities. Furthermore, the team ensured systematic follow-up of the witnesses
after they appeared at the hearing. The team also provided psychological support to all
Commission employees for the duration of the mandate.

68 An exhaustive list of the visits is available in Appendix 8. The communities of Essipit (Innus), Wolf Lake
(Anishnabek/Algonquins) and Kebaowek (Anishnabek/Algonquins) did not receive an official visit. Only
courtesy visits were made to the communities of Gespeg (Mi'gmaq) and Waskaganish (Eeyou/Cree), as well
as to Malécite territory (Malécites de Viger).
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2.2.7 Communications

The public nature of an inquiry commission requires constant interaction with the media
and the community. Benoit Bigué-Turcotte acted as the communications coordinator
throughout the course of the Commission’s work. In addition to media relations, he ensured
that all relevant content was posted on the Commission's website and social networking
sites when the Commission began its work.

With the help of a communications advisor, he was also in charge of producing all materials
needed for the Commission's entertainment activities, particularly when visiting the
communities. To encourage citizen participation and take into account the different cultural
realities of Indigenous peoples, particularly in terms of language, these tools were made
available in both English and French and, in certain cases, Inuktitut. Publicity campaigns
encouraging people to come and testify were also carried out, mainly on our social
networking sites and on community radio stations.

2.3. Operational framework

Implemented underthe Act respecting public inquiry commissions, the operational framework
was created by the Commission in accordance with the requirements under the Act.

2.3.1 Procedural rules

And so, as provided for by the Act, one of my first tasks was to develop Procedural and
Operational Rules.®® These rules set out the principles applicable to obtaining a standing
before the Commission, to applications and motions, to preliminary interviews with
witnesses, and to public hearings. They also define the rules of evidence, delineate the
questioning process, and describe document management and media coverage. The
framework applicable to closed proceedings and to non-disclosure, non-publication and
non-distribution orders are also included in these rules.

The Procedural and Operational Rules were published on the Commission's website for
the first time in March 2017, and as a revised version in January 2018. They were developed
in accordance with the principles of procedural fairness, and have certain similarities to
those adopted by other recent inquiry commissions. To respect Indigenous cultures, they
stipulate that witnesses may express themselves in English, French or in any Indigenous
language present in Québec. They also include the Commission's commitment to providing
an interpreter, if need be.

2.3.2 Full participant and limited participant standings

In an inquiry commission, the full participant standing is granted to any individual or
organization that has a significant, direct interest with respect to the subject of the inquiry
and is likely to be affected by the Commission's report. It also allows the Commission to
question a witness on certain specific points of his/her testimony. However, in the context
of the Commission, the points questioned had to receive prior approval by me.

69 The Commission’s Procedural and Operational Rules can be found in Appendix 2.



The limited participant standing is reserved for individuals or organizations that have a
real interest with respect to the subject of the inquiry or whose perspective, expertise or
experience may contribute to the execution of the Commission's mandate.

The full participant standing was granted to the following organizations:

Assembly of First Nations Québec-Labrador

Association des policieres et policiers provinciaux du Quebec
Association professionnelle des officiers de la Streté du Quéebec
Cree Board of Health and Social Services of James Bay

Conseil de la Nation Atikamekw

Directeur des poursuites criminelles et pénales

Québec Native Women

Grand Council of the Crees (Eeyou Istchee) and Cree Nation Government
Innu Takuaikan Uashat mak Mani-Utenam

Makivik Corporation

Attorney-General of Québec

Regroupement des centres d'amitié autochtones du Québec
Regroupement Mamit Innuat inc.

Service de police de la Ville de Montreal

The Naskapi Nation of Kawawachikamach

Only one organization was granted the limited participant standing:

Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services

No status applications were rejected or refused.

2.3.3 Public nature of the work

With a view to being transparent, and with the collaboration of the technical staff of the
Centre de services partages du Quebec, all of the Commission’s hearings were webcast
live on the Commission's website. The public was also invited to attend. People who wanted
to listen to one of the testimonies (except for in camera testimony) again or to read the
transcripts could do so in the Archived Hearings section of the website. This content is still
available on the site and may be consulted at any time.

As soon as the work began, | also invited the public to participate in the Commission's work
by submitting a brief on the phenomena being studied during the public hearings, as well
as on possible solutions. The deadline for taking part in this phase of the inquiry was set
as October 15, 2018. An information document was made available on the Commission's
website to help guide the public in the process. In total, 36 briefs were received.”® Each brief
was analyzed. Only one was deemed inadmissible because its content was not in keeping
with the mandate of the Commission. Among the briefs deemed admissible, several were
presented at the hearings.

70 The complete list of briefs received by the Commission is available in Appendix 9.
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The individuals participating in the work were also allowed to give final presentations. These
were added to the evidence and observations collected beforehand as part of the hearings
with a view to drafting the final report. Consultations with persons belonging to Indigenous
peoples or from one of the public services under investigation were also organized for the
preparation of this report.”*

When the work was done, the Commission's archives were submitted to the Bibliotheque
et Archives nationales du Quéebec. They are now available on request, with the exception of
certain documents considered to be confidential.

The work was carried out between December 2016 and September 2019. The original
order stipulated that the report was to be submitted by November 30, 2018, at the latest.
In the winter of 2017, however, a request for a 10-month extension was submitted to the
government, which was authorized by order on February 7, 2018.72

71 The list of participants is available in Appendix 10.

72 Décret concernant la prolongation de la Commission d’enquéte sur les relations entre les Autochtones et
certains services publics au Québec : écoute, réconciliation et progres, (2018) 83-2018, G.0.Q. II. The full
text of the order is available in Appendix 11.









Investigating requires one to ascertain with as much acuity as possible the realities and
characteristics of the players, environments and systems at issue.

And so, mandated to investigate relations between Indigenous peoples and certain public
services, | deemed it useful to first revisit the history in order to better understand how
these relations were built and the stigmas left behind by certain events. The result of this
was a version of history rarely presented in the public sphere, which | endeavoured to keep
in mind throughout the course of the Commission's work, for it very much illustrates and
helps us understand the complexity of current relations between Indigenous peoples and
public services.

It was also impossible for me to assess whether Indigenous peoples are subject to
discrimination in the public services due to their distinctive characteristics without first
seeking to understand what specifically differentiates them. Consequently, from the outset
of the process, the Commission's team went to great lengths to obtain statistical and
geopolitical information on Québec's First Nations and Inuit. This exercise allowed us to
paint a portrait that, while piecemeal, is, in my opinion, very illuminating as to the disastrous
consequences brought about by the colonization and social and economic marginalization
of Indigenous peoples over the past few centuries.

With a view to being fair, it was just as crucial to understand how public services work and
the framework within which they play their roles. Knowing this information allows us to not
only better understand the constraints and demands faced by these systems, but also to
measure the gap between theory and reality.

Given the wealth of information collected, it was imperative for me to ensure that it be
shared with as many people as possible, which is why | chose to put it in the first part of this
report. Chapter 3 deals with the history of relations. Chapter 4 presents an overview of the
social, political and economic realities of Indigenous peoples, which the Commission had
gleaned by the end of the process. And lastly, Chapter 5 contains an exhaustive portrait of
the services that were subject to the Commission's inquiry.
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CHAPTER 3

THE HISTORY OF RELATIONS WITH INDIGENOUS
PEOPLES

Prior to the first contact with Europeans, Indigenous peoples formed organized nations of
various cultures adapted to their way of life.”? They also had their own political systems,
firmly established legal traditions and acquired knowledge, especially with respect to
health and early childhood.” This autonomy to act and to think allowed them to serve their
people in ways that are met by public services today.

Far from being non-existent, the social and political organization of First Peoples had its
origins in a special bond with the land and between nations.”> Moreover, for centuries, the
French and Indigenous peoples evolved side by side, allies in trade and in war.”® These
partnerships may have survived the arrival of the British, but demographic pressures, the
lack of farmland and the rise of the mining and forestry industries radically altered the
relationship between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples.

Melding the different versions of history is not easy. If the historical facts exist and are
documented, they can be interpreted differently according to the adopted points of view.
Many people that spoke during the hearing came to state that, until now, Quebec's history
has given precedence to the non-Indigenous peoples’ view of things.”” By combining the
accepted facts and the comments gathered in the course of its work, the Commission opted

73 Testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 25-27, lines 23-1; testimony
of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 19, lines 16-22; Perspectives historiques
autochtones: entrevues, document PD-16 (Commission), p. 44, 59, 73, 122-124 and 131-132; testimony of
Constant Awashish, stenographic notes taken June 19, 2017, p. 24-25, lines 25-21.

74 Testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 29-30, lines 23-15; testimony
of Constant Awashish, stenographic notes taken June 19, 2017, p. 43, lines 2-9; testimony of Nadine
Vollant, stenographic notes taken October 20, 2017, p. 77, lines 11-14; Les relations entre les Autochtones
et les services de justice du Québec : une recension des écrits, document PD-11 (Commission), p. 14-15;
testimony of Lucy Grey, stenographic notes taken November 23, 2018, p. 14-15, lines 22-24; testimony
of Paul John Murdoch, stenographic notes taken June 18, 2018, p. 21, lines 14-18; testimony of Valérie
Napoléon, stenographic notes taken December 4, 2017, p. 20, lines 11-23; testimony of Hadley Friedland,
stenographic notes taken December 4, 2017, p. 28-29, lines 12-16; testimony of Jessyka Boulanger,
stenographic notes taken June 14, 2018, p. 26, lines 18-23.

75 Testimony of Adrienne Jéréme, stenographic notes taken June 7, 2017, p. 75, lines 1-10; testimony of Noah
Swappie, stenographic notes taken June 16, 2017, p. 12-13, lines 20-6 and p. 13, lines 4-6; testimony of
Kateri Vincent, stenographic notes taken September 28, 2017, p. 47, lines 17-18; testimony of Mélissa Mollen
Dupuis, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2018, p. 169-170, lines 9-6; Initial brief of the Grand Council
of the Crees (Eeyou Istchee)/Cree Nation Government, document P-010 (Commission), p. 8, par. 4142.

76 Testimony of Armand Mackenzie, stenographic notes taken October 20, 2017, p. 176, lines 11-14; testimony
of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 15, lines 8-25 and p. 19, lines 5-16;
document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 18-22, p. 120 and p. 126; testimony of Constant Awashish,
stenographic notes taken June 19, 2017, p. 37, lines 3-12; testimony of Kateri Vincent, stenographic notes
taken September 28, 2017, p. 21, lines 15-21.

77 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken November 25, 2017, p. 142, lines 14-19; testimony
of Manon Jeanotte, stenographic notes taken September 15, 2017, p. 20, lines 14-19 and p. 21, lines 12-18;
testimony of Konrad Sioui, stenographic notes taken September 28, 2017, p. 14, lines 9-21.
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to read events in a different way. Through interviews with people representing the nations,
the Commission's team was able to hear first-hand the oral history of these peoples.”® The
events presented occurred between 1850 and 2001, the start of the period targeted by the
Commission's inquiry.

3.1. 1850 - 1890 / The imposition of Canadian sovereignty

The first half of the 19th century marks a decisive turning point in the relations between the
State and the First Nations of Québec and Canada. At the beginning of the century, they
were considered military and economic allies of the British Crown thanks, in particular, to
the War of 1812 and the fur trade.” The annual payments made by London to Indigenous
tribes in accordance with the treaties of co-operation sealed the good relationship.®
However, changes to the Canadian economy, which was turning to larger-scale forestry
and agriculture, disrupted the role of Indigenous peoples in the aspiring new country.8

3.1.1 Control of the territory

After Europeans settled the St. Lawrence Valley and around the Great Lakes, the second
half of the 19th century was the scene of intense colonization. This was especially the
case in Western Canada and Central-Northern Québec, an area that comprises Abitibi-
Témiscamingue, Mauricie, Saguenay-Lac-Saint-Jean and Cote-Nord.® The occupation of
the country's southern lands also accelerated due to the extremely high birth rate and the
arrival of many immigrants®, as evidenced by the increase in the number of townships 8This
phenomenon initially affected the First Nations of Lower Canada (today's Québec).
The autonomous area available to Indigenous peoples as allies of the Crown shrank

78 Document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 167. The Mi’gmaq First Nation declined to accept the
Commission’s offer. Furthermore, the Eeyou (Cree) person who had been interviewed preferred to withdraw
part-way through the process, at a time when it was no longer possible to schedule a new interview.

79 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 70-71, lines 9-20.

80 Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996). Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal
Peoples Volume 1. Looking Forward, Looking Back. Ottawa, Ontario: Canada Communication Group, p. 354
of 1005 (online PDF).

81 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 70-71, lines 9-20.

82 Hamelin, L.-E. (1995). Nordicité canadienne (2nd ed.). Montréal, Québec: Hurtubise. Our definition of
Central-Northern Québec is based on what Hamelin called the “pre-North”; Gaffield, C. (1994). Histoire
de I'Outaouais. Québec City, Québec: Presses de I'Université Laval, p. 159; Bousquet, M.-P. (2016). Les
Anicinabek, du bois a l'asphalte : le déracinement des Algonquins du Québec. Rouyn-Noranda, Québec:
Editions du Quartz, p. 57; Leroux, J., Chamberland, R., Brazeau, E. and Dubé, C. (2004). Au pays des peaux
de chagrin. Occupation et exploitation territoriales a Kitcisakik (Grand-Lac-Victoria) au XXe siecle. Québec
City, Québec: Presses de I'Université Laval, p. 72; Girard, C. and Perron, N. (1995). Histoire du Sague-
nay-Lac-Saint-Jean. Québec City, Québec: Institut québécois de recherche sur la culture, p. 132; Laurin,
S. (1989). Histoire des Laurentides. Québec City, Québec: Institut québécois de recherche sur la culture,
p. 423-458.

83 Beaulieu, A. (2013). La création des réserves indiennes au Québec. In A. Beaulieu, S. Gervais and M.
Papillon (ed.), Les Autochtones et le Québec. Des premiers contacts au Plan Nord (p. 281-296). Montréal,
Québec: Presses de I'Université de Montréal, p. 59.

84 Girard, C. and Brisson, C. (2018). Reconnaissance et exclusion des peuples autochtones au Québec. Du
traité d’alliance de 1603 a nos jours. Québec City, Québec: Presses de I'Université Laval, p. 240-244.
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considerably. Their territory was constantly encroached upon as shown by the many petitions
sent by Indigenous communities to the authorities during the first half of the 1gth century ®

The forested areas exposed to commercial development and colonization saw the game
population decline rapidly. Starting in 1870, all of the fauna living in Central-Northern
Québec was affected.t® Due to these changes, an increasing number of Indigenous peoples
subsisted on the foodstuffs available at the fur trading posts. As a result, they had to spend
more time on activities relating to the fur trade. According to anthropologist Claude Gélinas,
between 1850 and 1870, the Atikamekw Nehirowisiw were significantly impacted by this
phenomenon and had to cut back on hunting big game to focus instead on trapping.®”
A similar situation affected the Eeyou (Cree) in the 1880s.88 These changes created an
unequal power balance for Indigenous peoples compared with the burgeoning colonial
society. Beginning in the 19™ century, the authorities began to worry about this and sought,
from that point on, to assess what role they had to play given the situation. As early as 1828,
Major General Darling chaired a commission of inquiry that concluded that colonization
was having dire consequences for Indigenous peoples.®® Darling's report believed that the
Crown had responsibilities with respect to Indigenous peoples and a duty to “civilize” them
to help them integrate fully into Canadian society.?° To achieve this objective, the report
considered transferring the Department of Indian Affairs, which, up until that time, had been
under military control, to civilian hands.* The State's fiduciary role was also asserted by
the 1839 proclamation in Upper Canada (today's Ontario) of the Act for the Protection of the
Lands of the Crown .2 The Ordonnance pour pourvoir a la protection des Indiens ou Sauvages
[Regulation to provide for the protection of Indians or Savages], passed in Lower Canada in
1840, followed along the same lines.?* The Crown, therefore, saw itself as the guardian of

85 Beaulieu. (2013), op. cit., p. 137-139; testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken
September 26, 2017, p. 47-48, lines 6-18; Bouchard, /S. and Lévesque, M.-C. (2017). Le peuple rieur.
Hommage a mes amis innus. Montréal, Québec: Lux Editeur, p. 234-240; Girard and Brisson. (2018), op. cit.,
p. 111-112,

86 Testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 46, lines 2-11; document PD-16
(Commission), op. cit., p. 79.

87 Gélinas, C. (2002). The creation of the Atikamekw reserves in Upper Mauricie (1895-1950), or when the
Indian was truly an Indian. Recherches amérindiennes au Québec, 40(1-2), p. 32.

88 Leroux, Chamberland, Brazeau and Dubé. (2004), op. cit., p. 22-23.
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1828-1858. Québec City, Québec: Editions du Septentrion, p. 31.

91 Réthoré, A. (2000). La fin d’'un symbole d’alliance. Les Britanniques et la politique de distribution des
présents aux Amérindiens, 1815-1858 (Mémoire de maitrise en histoire). Université de Rennes 2/Université
du Québec a Montréal, p. 37 and 40-42.
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public lands, including those set aside for Indians, to protect them, on their behalf, from the
abuses of colonization.®4

Over the following years, a number of commissions were launched to determine policy
with respect to Indigenous peoples. The Bagot Commission of 1842 and the Pennefather
Commission of 1856 both recognized the disastrous effects of colonization® Yet again,
the Crown's responsibility toward Indigenous peoples was expressed through its desire to
place them under its supervision in order to settle and “civilize" them.%®

In 1850, The Act for the better protection of the Lands and Property of the Indians in Lower
Canada®” (Act of 1850) laid the foundation for the system of Indian reserves in Quebec. This
system was finalized the following year by the Act to authorize the setting apart of Lands for
the use of certain Indian Tribes in Lower Canada®®, which set aside 230,000 acres of land for
reserves.? The initiative went into effect in 1853 with the creation of several reserves, located
in Témiscamingue, Maniwaki (Kitigan Zibi), Bécancour (Wélinak), the Lower Saint-Lawrence
(Malécites de Viger) and Restigouche (Listuguj), on the North Shore (Pessamit) and near
Lac-Saint-Jean (Mashteuiatsh), among other locations.**® The land earmarked for reserves
did not always correspond to the affected populations' actual places of habitation, and in
most instances their land space was reduced. The decisions made by the Commissioner of
Crown Lands primarily served the interests of forestry companies®* and the Church, which
sought to create reserves to educate and “civilize” the Indigenous population.’*2 In reality, no
matter the issue, the will of the early Canadian colonial government prevailed, as it sought
to affirm its sovereignty over the land and those who inhabited it.13 These reserves were not
governed by the Indigenous peoples themselves, but by the State.*4

94 Testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 47, lines 5-17; testimony of
Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 22-23, lines 14-14.

95 Lavoie and Vaugeois. (2010), op. cit., p. 63 and 229; Réthoré. (2000), op. cit., p. 81-82 and 109; Canadian
Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 358-362 of 1,005 (online PDF).

9% Leslie, J. F. (1985). Commissions of Inquiry into Indian affairs in the Canadas, 1828-1858: Evolving a
corporate memory for the Indian department. Ottawa, Ontario: Indian and Northern Affairs, p. 185-187;
Beaulieu. (2013), op. cit., p. 135-136.
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1850, 13-14 Vict,, c. 42.

98 Act to authorize the setting apart of Lands for the use of certain Indian Tribes in Lower Canada (Province of
Canada), 1851, 14-15 Vict., c. 106.

99 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 89, lines 18-23; testimony
of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 23, lines 15-22.

100 Testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 23-24, lines 23-3. Land obtained in
Métabetchouan and Péribonka were exchanged in 1856 for land in Pointe-Bleue, now Mashteuiatsh.

101 Bouchard and Lévesque. (2017), op. cit., p. 241; testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken
September 25, 2017, p. 86, lines 3—-18.
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“The government and clergy at the time, along with the Bishop of Rimouski, tried
to bribe the Malécites by giving them land there, as well as seeds for a number
of years, so that they would move there and become "good settlers.” [.] But that
never worked, because they were a nomadic people. [.] For them, agriculture, it
was not... it was not the most natural thing. [And] what happened, was that, there
were.. The settlers that were there at the time started to put pressure on the
clergy, saying: "Yes, the land is great, but we're losing it." So the clergy took it all
back. With the help of the government.”

Dave Jennis, Malécite Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 230)

3.1.2 Administering the First Nations

\¥ith the Act of 1850, the Crown undertook to define the Indian status for the first time.**s The
measures outlined in the Act applied first to “all persons of Indian blood, reputed to belong
to the particular Body or Tribe of Indians interested in such lands, and their descendants;”
secondly to “all persons intermarried with any such Indians and residing amongst them,
and the descendants of all such persons;” thirdly to “all persons residing among such
Indians, whose parents on either side were or are Indians of such Body or Tribe, or entitled
to be considered as such;" and lastly to “all persons adopted in infancy by any such Indians,
and residing in the Village or upon the lands of such Tribe or Body of Indians, and their
descendants"®

In the same vein, the government adopted the Act to Encourage the Gradual Civilization
of Indian Tribes in this Province* in 1857. Touted as a path to enfranchisement, this Act
established that members of First Nations could not hold the title of citizen and Indian at
the same time. To be recognized as a citizen and therefore gain the right to own property
and the right to vote, an Indigenous person had to renounce their Indian status.**® Only men
could apply for enfranchisement.’*® They also had to be “not under twenty-one years of age,
[..] able to speak, read and write either the english or the french language readily and well,
and [..] (be) of good moral character and free from debt" as determined by a committee
of “non-Indian” examiners.’** An enfranchised Indian was allotted 50 acres of land as a life
estate™, taken from the reserve land, along with their share of the annuities receivable by

105 Grammond, S. (2009). /dentity Captured by Law. Membership in Canada’s Indigenous Peoples and
Linguistic Minorities. Montréal, Québec and Kingston, Ontario: McGill-Queen’s University Press, p. 71;
Morin, M. (1997). L'Usurpation de la souveraineté autochtone. Le cas des peuples de la Nouvelle-France et
des colonies anglaises de I'’Amérique du Nord. Montréal, Québec: Boréal, p. 213-214.

106 Act for the better protection of the Lands and Property of the Indians in Lower Canada, op. cit., s. V.

107 Act to Encourage the Gradual Civilization of Indian Tribes in this Province, and to Amend the Laws Relating
to Indians (Province of Canada), 1857, 20 Vict., c. 26; testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken
June 20, 2017, p. 25, lines 3-13.

108 Act to Encourage the Gradual Civilization of Indian Tribes in this Province, and to Amend the Laws Relating
to Indians, op. cit., s. VII; Morin. (1997), op. cit., p. 215-217; Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal
Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 362-362 of 1,005 (online PDF); document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 118.

109 Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 363 of 1,005 (online PDF).

110 Ibid, Act to Encourage the Gradual Civilization of Indian Tribes in this Province, and to Amend the Laws
Relating to Indians, op. cit., s. lll.

111 Use of land for the duration of a person’s life.
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the band.*2 In other words, whatever an enfranchised Indigenous man gained, his band
lost. Consequently, only one person dared make use of this option over a period of nearly
20 years.

The relationship with the Crown also changed. In 1858, London deemed this model too
onerous and officially ended the practice of distributing funds to bands on the basis of
cooperative treaties*® Two years later, under the Act respecting the Management of the
Indian Lands and Property*4 the Commissioner of Crown Lands was appointed ‘Superintendent
General of Indian affairs’*® By placing Indigenous peoples under the authority of the
Canadian government, this Act severed the nation-to-nation relationship with the British
Crown. 16

Then, in 1867, the British colonies of the Province of Canada (now Ontario and Quebec),
Nova Scotia and New Brunswick were united under the British North America Act. This
gave rise to the Canadian confederation (Dominion of Canada).*” Formerly in the hands of
the colonies®®, the responsibility for Indian affairs was officially transferred to the federal
government.®® The British North America Act also gave the Parliament of the Dominion the
power to legislate with respect to “Indians, and lands reserved for the Indians”*2°

As was the case under British rule, the new Dominion of Canada retained a centralized
approach to Indigenous issues. The stated objective was to promote the assimilation of
Indigenous peoples into Canadian society.**

It was the Secretary of State (also Minister of the Interior as of 1873) who became
Superintendent Generalof Indian Affairs. Then, in 1869, An Act for the gradual enfranchisement
of Indians, the better management of Indian affairs, and to extend the provisions of the Act 31st
Victoria, Chapter 42, enabled the newly formed Canadian government to impose a new
mode of governance—band councils—on Indigenous communities in order to replace the

112 Act to Encourage the Gradual Civilization of Indian Tribes in this Province, and to Amend the Laws Relating
to Indians, op. cit., s. VII; testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 25,
lines 3-13.

113 Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 366 of 1,005 (online PDF).

114 Act respecting the Management of the Indian Lands and Property (Province of Canada), 1860, 23 Vict.,
c. 151,

115 Morin. (1997), op. cit., p. 212.

116 Réthoré. (2000), op. cit., p. 73-76; testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017,
p. 25, lines 14-20.

117 Constitution Act, 1867 (U.K.), 30 & 31 Vict., c. 3, reprinted in R.S.C. 1985, Appendix Il, No. 5.

118 Testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 45, lines 6-11; testimony of
Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2016, p. 25, lines 14-20.

119 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 81-82, lines 19-8;
testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 25, lines 20-25; document PD-11
(Commission), op. cit., p. 16.

120 British North America Act, now known as the Constitution Act, 1867, op. cit., s. 91(24); Canadian Royal
Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 367 of 1,005 (online PDF).

121 Document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 44-45.
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traditional systems of chiefs.*?> From that point onward, chiefs could be removed by federal
authorities and only men had voting rights.

"My grandfather used to say: "Well, the chief.. the chiefs today aren't like they
were before.” [.] he said that among the Abenakis, there were three chiefs. One
chief for the hunters, one chief for the Elders, and one chief for the women.
[.] Before making a final decision, they had to go to their group and tell them.
Then, if the group didn't agree, well, he had to go back and discuss it, etc., until
an agreement was reached among everyone. [.] [IMy grandfather] said that [.] it
had poisoned the community’s life a little bit. The fact that they had imposed a
single chief”

Nicole O'Bomsawin, Abenakis Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 17-18)

In addition, for the first time, an Indigenous woman who married a non-Indigenous person
would lose their access to reserved lands as well as their Indian status, band membership
and residency rights.’?3 The same applied to children from that marriage. In Québec, the
"Haudenosaunee [lIroquois confederation] in particular would be affected by that change
because, in the past, the women from certain clans designated the leaders elected by the
councils of those nations" 24

Those events laid the groundwork for the adoption of the Indian Act a few years later.

3.1.3 Tightening conditions: Indian Act of 1876

Faced with resistance from Indigenous peoples who were committed to preserving their
cultures, the federal authorities, led by Alexander Mackenzie, Canada's second Prime
Minister, continued to tighten legislative conditions. Originally introduced as An Act to amend
and consolidate the laws respecting Indians'?, the Indian Act of 1876 brought together all
previously enacted legislation concerning Indigenous peoples.?® The government's view
was that Indigenous peoples needed to be under the guardianship of Canadian authorities
in order to be able to make progress towards civilization and become good British citizens.?

122 An Act for the gradual enfranchisement of Indians, the better management of Indian affairs, and to extend
the provisions of the Act, 31st Victoria, Chapter 42, S.C. 1869, c. 6; testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic
notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 52-53, lines 15-5; testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken
June 20, 2017, p. 30-31, lines 21-25; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 18 and 224; Les relations
entre les Autochtones et les services de justice du Québec : une recension des écrits, rapport soumis a la
CERP, Marie-Eve Sylvestre et Jessica Caouette, avec la collaboration de Myléne Jaccoud et Céline Bellot,
document PD-11 (Commission), p. 16.

123 Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 370 of 1,005 (online PDF);
document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 118.

124 Morin. (1997), op. cit., p. 224.
125 An Act to amend and consolidate the laws respecting Indians, S.C. 1876, c. 18.
126 Testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 30, lines 10-16.

127 Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 371 of 1,005 (online PDF);
Girard and Brisson. (2018), op. cit., p. 133-135; testimony by Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes
taken September 25, 2017, p. 88-90, lines 24-5; testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken
June 20, 2017, p. 29-30, lines 20-9 and p. 31, lines 4-11; testimony of Viviane Michel, stenographic notes
taken June 5, 2017, p. 55-56, lines 19-2; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 16.
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“The exclusionary movement began when the Canadian federation or
Confederation was created and Prime Minister Macdonald declared [that] there
was an Indian problem. And they needed to get rid of that problem. [.] [Alll the
governments, all the political parties adopted [.] that policy, that mindset, that
philosophy. So they created legislation concerning “savages,” the Indian Act, and
did not allow us to practice our rituals, practices, traditions and culture. [.] In
addition, we were treated as children of the Queen. Today, we're still children of
the Queen. So it's not surprising that relations are sometimes chaotic”

Richard Kistabish, Anishnabe Nation

(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 44)

The Indian Act imposed administrative and police control over First Peoples that was
not imposed on any other citizens. Amended regularly without consultation, the Act was
unpredictable and changed according to what legislators wanted. One thing was constant,
however: the considerable discretionary power granted to the Superintendent General of
Indian Affairs and his agents.

Under the Act, a civil servant in charge of estate settlement could, for example, decide on
inheritance issues concerning the land, furniture and belongings of a deceased Indian.2®
The government representative also acted on Indians' behalf if they were expropriated to
build a road or railway in their reserve or to carry out public works there *2¢

The Indian status and powers granted to bands were also subject to a number of legislative
amendments. For example, in 1884, bands were refused the right to accept or refuse
the enfranchisement of a member or the surrender of their personal land.=° In 1887, the
Superintendent General was given the power to determine who was a member of an Indian
band.’3! That provision remained in place until 1951.13

Moreover, Indian Affairs agents could also preside over trials as justices of the peace
wherever they felt it necessary, sometimes even off the reserve’3 In addition, a new
infraction specific to Indigenous peoples was created in 1884, namely, inciting “three or
more Indians, non-treaty Indians, or halfbreeds to breach the peace or to make riotous
or threatening demands on a civil servant"4 Selling, trading with, bartering or otherwise
supplying “intoxicants,” including alcoholic beverages, to Indians was outlawed in 1876 and

128 An Act to amend and consolidate the laws respecting Indians, 1876, op. cit., s. 9; An Act to further amend
“The Indian Act, 1880,” S.C. 1884, c. 27, s. 5; Morin. (1997), op. cit., p. 226.

129 Morin. (1997), op. cit., p. 228; An Act to amend and consolidate the laws respecting Indians, 1876, op. cit.,
s. 20.

130 An Act to further amend “The Indian Act, 1880,” 1884, op. cit.,, s. 16 and 17; Canadian Royal Commission on
Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 383-385 of 1,005 (online PDF).

131 An Act to amend “The Indian Act,” S.C. 1887, c. 33, s. 1.
132 Indian Act, S.C. 1951, c. 29, s. 5-17.

133 An Act to further amend “The Indian Act, 1880,” S.C. 1881, c. 17, s. 12; An Act to further amend “The Indian
Act, 1880,”S.C. 1882, c. 30, s. 3; An Act to further amend “The Indian Act, 1880,” 1884, op. cit., s. 22 and
23; Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 387 of 1,005 (online PDF).
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subject to fines. Drunkenness therefore became grounds for imprisonment.*3

In Western Canada, a pass system was also instituted by Indian Affairs agents. Deemed
illegal, the system was abandoned in the following decade. It was never put into practice
in Québec3® However, even without the pass system, the powers of Indian Affairs agents
became so great that they could effectively control the movements of Indigenous peoples
through threats and inducements.

Trade and other business was also regulated. For example, in 1881, Indians in Western
Canada were forbidden from selling their agricultural produce.*¥ In 1884, the Superintendent
General also outlawed munitions sales to all Indians in Western Canada®®, a measure that
specifically targeted Eeyou (Cree) and Métis who were dissatisfied with federal policy.®3°

Indigenous culture did not escape this suppression. In 1884, potlatches (symbolic gift-
giving ceremonies) and tamanawa dances were prohibited.’° These bans were extended to
include many spiritual and cultural practices, which added to the pressures already exerted
on Indigenous peoples by missionaries 4

These governmentrestrictions and prohibitions were met with a certainamount of resistance.
Many ceremonies continued to be held in secret, out of sight of Indian Affairs agents.#?
There was also resistance to the imposition of the band council system. In Saint-Reégis (now
Akwesasne), where the government appointed chiefs “for life," major demonstrations were
held, and one Indigenous individual who resisted arrest was killed.**3

At the time of Confederation, the Inuit had little contact with the Canadian government.
Their territories were part of Rupert's Land, under the jurisdiction of the Hudson's Bay
Company until 1869. Contact with missionaries*#, U.S. whalers and other \Xestern parties
occurred mostly through Hudson's Bay Company trading posts and stores.+

The presence of trading posts also led certain Inuit to partially settle. Though they remained
a largely nomadic people, villages began to appear near trading posts. When Great
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139 Dickason, O. P. (1996). Lgs Premieres Nations du Canada. Depuis les temps les plus lointains jusqu’a nos
jours. Québec, Québec: Editions du Septentrion, p. 304.

140  An Act to further amend “The Indian Act, 1880,” 1884, op. cit., s. 3.

141 Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 393-394 of 1,005 (online PDF);
testimony of Manon Jeannotte, stenographic notes taken September 15, 2017, p. 13, lines 9-13.

142 Dickason. (1996), op. cit., p. 318.
143 Morin. (1997), op. cit., p. 224.
144 Testimony of Lisa Qiluggi Koperqualuk, stenographic notes taken January 26, 2018, p. 30-31, lines 24-16.
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No. 14.

FINAL REPORT | CERP

43



44

Britain ceded Rupert's Land to Canada in 1870%%, Canada had "no intention of assuming
responsibilities for the Indigenous peoples in the North"*#7 While it asserted sovereignty
over the continent and Arctic islands in an 1880 order,*® the Canadian government did
not consider itself to have any responsibilities to Indigenous peoples who had not signed
a treaty. When a police station was opened in the Northern Yukon in 1895, officers were
specifically instructed not to encourage the idea that the Inuit could sign a treaty4
Following an agreement with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), the Hudson's
Bay Company district manager became responsible for conducting certain criminal
investigations in Nunavik.*° It was not until World War Il that a sitting government took an
interest in the North and its inhabitants ***

3.2. 1890 -1940 / Erasing the Indigenous presence

While the birth of a united Canada presented a threat to Indigenous cultures, the
Francophone inhabitants of Québec also faced hardships in the second half of the 19th
century. The situation became so critical that elected officials and clergy feared for the
survival of the "French fact" in North America, and the values it represented. The result
was an unprecedented desire to occupy the territory. The impact on Indigenous peoples
was brutal. As the political will to ensure the survival of French-Canadian culture through
colonization was asserted, the very existence of Indigenous nations tended to be erased,
first from the history books, and then from the territory.

3.2.1 Québec the colonizer

After becoming a minority following the Act of Union** of 1840, by the late 19th century,
Francophones were marginalized economically®3 A lack of arable land and diminishing
economic opportunities in the countryside led hundreds of thousands of French Canadians
to flee to cities and New England, which was already heavily industrialized.*** This urban
exodus and attendant social upheaval caused many to fear for the future of the “French-
Canadian race," which was associated with a traditionally agricultural life !5 With the twin aims
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des Autochtones depuis le contact.” In A. Beaulieu, S. Gervais and M. Papillon (dir.), Les Autochtones et
le Québec : des premiers contacts au Plan Nord. Montréal, Québec: Presses de I'Université de Montréal,

p. 181.



of stemming the tide of massive emigration to the United States and ensuring the survival
of French-Canadian and Catholic culture, the clergy asked the government to support
colonization. Beginning in the second half of the 19th century®®, the return to the land was
seen as a means for anchoring French-Canadian culture, language, religion and traditions.*s”

The survival discourse developed by the intellectuals of the time did not wholly overlook
Indigenous peoples. Their presence was invoked to justify the “territorial ownership and
economic development envisaged by the French-Canadian nation"*® Educated people
sought to disassociate French Canadians from Indigenous peoples®® by ascribing all virtues
to the former, and all vices to the latter. Indigenous peoples were alternately infantilized
(sometimes referred to as “children of the forest") or described as barbarians standing in
the way of progress.**° Both images would remain a fixture in school textbooks well into the
1960s and 1970s.16!

«The missionaries, even though they maybe didn't realize their missionizing

objectives was to remove, to treat the Inuit as children. So that's an effect of..

you know, one of the first things is being treated as we have, as if we had no
knowledge. »

Lisa Qiluggi Koperqualuk, Inuit

(document PD-16 (Commission), p. 198)

Another trend was for historians to simply excise First Peoples from national history
altogether®2 As late as 1950, Lionel Groulx justified the conquest of North America with the
suggestion that Europeans arrived to find an essentially empty landscape: “Canada was a
land of vast but nearly empty spaces, sparsely inhabited by Indigenous tribes who were
capable of economic cooperation that was insignificant at best"1*3 This was the prevailing
view of the past at a time in which French Canadians sought to occupy, develop and expand
Quebec's territory.
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At the end of the 19th century, Québec’s borders would be redrawn, a reflection of the will
to occupy and exploit an ever-larger region. The Abitibi-Témiscamingue territory, as far as
the Rupert River, became part of the province of Québec in 18984, followed by the banks
of the Hudson and Ungava bays in 1912.%5 By 1927, after Labrador was removed to become
part of Newfoundland®®, Québec's borders had taken on their present-day shape.’*” The
effects of colonization would also be felt in Indigenous communities along the St. Lawrence
valley, where unoccupied land was continually shrinking, and in Central-Northern Québec,
which was affected by the substantial development of the forestry industry.*®

Beginning in the early 20th century, the government played an active role in the colonization
process, which was viewed as a genuine development strategy. This will be especially true
in Abitibi, as evidenced in the Gordon and Vautrin plans implemented in 1932 and 1934
by the successive governments of Louis-Alexandre Taschereau and Adélard Godbout.
However, it was the clergy, with the support of an influential episcopate, who would play
the central role in developing “new" regions as of 1840. From recruiting in villages in the
southern part of the province to providing the logistical and moral support required for the
establishment of settlers in the north, they were ardent supporters of the colonial enterprise,
as demonstrated by their constant demands to the government.*7°

Moreover, the missionaries did not wait for the vast colonization movements to travel to the
more remote parts of Quebec and meet with Indigenous peoples. However, prior to 1830,
these forays were infrequent, and in the mid-19th century, there were very few followers
of the Christian faith among the Indigenous peoples in Central-Northern Québec* The
situation would quickly change when priests began being sent to the Anishnabe, Atikamekw,
Nehirowisiw, Eeyou (Cree) and Innu territories, where they would stay for a few months a year
during the summer. In the summer camps of the various communities, they primarily aimed
to replace ancestral practices and beliefs, which were viewed as devilish by Christians. In
addition to services of a religious nature, the missionaries provided some material support

164  Act respecting the delimitation of the Northwestern, Northern and Northeastern boundaries of the Province
of Quebec, S.Q. 1898, c. 6; Act respecting the Northwestern, Northern and Northeastern boundaries of the
Province of Québec, S.C. 1898, c. 3.

165  Act respecting the extension of the Province of Québec by the annexation of Ungava, S.Q. 1912, ¢c. 7;
Québec Boundaries Extension Act, S.C. 1912, c. 45; Girard and Brisson. (2018), op. cit.,, p. 142; Frenette, J.
(2013). Québec Boundaries Extension Acts of 1898 and 1912, James Bay and Northern Québec
Agreement, First Nation of Abitibiwinni. Recherches amérindiennes au Québec, 43(1), 87-104; testimony
of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 182-183, lines 19-9; testimony of
Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 14-15, lines 14-2.

166 Re Labrador Boundary, [1927] 2 D.L.R. 401 (C.J.P.C)).

167 Linteau, Durocher and Robert. (1989), op. cit., p. 13-14.

168  Beaulieu. (2013), op. cit., p. 136-140.
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as well as medical care to Indigenous peoples.’’? However, the persistence of Indigenous
rituals beyond the summer indicates that not all were converted with the same fervour, and
they did not necessarily give up their traditional beliefs.73

The “civilizing" enterprise orchestrated by the missionaries intensified with the opening of
Indian residential schools. Based on a rationale of confessional rivalry, Quebec's first two
institutions open their doors on the same island, east of James Bay, in Fort George (now
Chisasibi). After Anglican missionaries settled there in 1891, Oblates joined them in 1922 out
of concern over the Eeyous (Cree) converting to Protestantism rather than Catholicism. 74
The Oblates were the first to build a residential school in 1931. The Anglicans did the same
the following year.*”s The interconfessional race to convert Indigenous peoples, which led to
the multiplication of residential schools in Western Canada®, did not catch on right way in
Queébec. It would take another twenty years for most of them to open here. Theirimpact on
Indigenous peoples was no less significant, however, as is mentioned later in this chapter.

3.2.2 An exploited and regulated territory

The opening of new territories to colonization also paved the way for the exploitation of
natural resources by private enterprises, sometimes even on reserved land.*” For instance,
in 1914, the government granted cutting rights on the Wemotaci reserve to Laurentides
Co.® Forestry operations began there in 1920. Although the company had promised to carry
out selective cutting, it did not honour that commitment. In addition, its workers engaged
in trapping on the reserve.®

The arrival of settlers combined with the existing forestry industry exerted considerable
pressure on the semi-nomadic lifestyle of Indigenous peoples.**° Poaching by newly arrived
settlers, at times on a massive scale, limited Indigenous peoples’ access to resources that

172 Gélinas, C. (2003)., Les missions catholiques chez les Atikamekw (1837-1940) : manifestations de foi et
d’esprit pratique. Etudes d’histoire religieuse, 69, p. 84.

173 Ibid.

174 Goulet, H. (2016). Histoire des pensionnats indiens catholiques au Québec. Le réle déterminant des peres
oblats. Montréal, Québec: Presses de I'Université de Montréal, p. 59.
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Summary of the Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Montréal, Québec and
Kingston, Ontario: McGill-Queen'’s University Press, p. 394.

176 Miller, J. R. (1992). Denominational Rivalry in Indian Residential Education. Western Oblate Studies, 2, p. 145;
Goulet. (2016), op. cit., p. 61.

177 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 85, lines 1-13.

178 Basile, S. (2017). Le réle et la place des femmes atikamekw dans la gouvernance du territoire et des
ressources naturelles (Thesis in for master’s degree in environmental sciences). Université du Québec en
Abitibi-Témiscamingue. Retrieved from http://depositum.ugat.ca/703/1/Basile %2C %20Suzy.pdf, p. 105.

179 Gélinas. (2002), op. cit., p. 40.

180  Loiselle, M., Dugré, S., Neveu, L. P., Kistabish, M., Mowatt, J., Mowatt-Gaudreau, M. and Mapachee, T.
(2009). Les impacts de l'arrivée des « wemitikojik » (colons blancs) au début du XX¢ siecle sur le mode de
vie des Abitibiwinnik (Algonquins) : recueil de récits de vie chez les ainés de la communauté de Pikogan.
Rouyn-Noranda, Québec: Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue, p. 27-30; LeBel. (2005), op. cit.,
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taken September 25, 2017, p. 85, lines 9-18.
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were essential to their survival® The construction of infrastructures, such as railways, also
significantly modified the landscape of the regions they crossed.®? According to Father
Guinard, an Oblate missionary in Upper Mauricie in the early 20th century: “The construction
of the railway destroyed the forest throughout the region. Everything was burnt over vast
areas on either side of the track. The builders [.] lit fires here and there to cook their food
and keep the flies away. They didn't keep an eye on those fires, and they eventually spread
to the forest” In his view: “it was a considerable loss for the [plrovince of Québec and for
the Indians"13

At the turn of the 20th century, the switch from an industry centred on softwood lumber
to that of pulp and paper production also had major impacts on the lifestyle of Indigenous
peoples due to the intensification of logging practices.*®

In addition to destroying the ecosystems on which Indigenous peoples depended for their
survival, clearcutting by lumber companies resulted in river congestion from log driving.
Logs sent downstream to plants complicated travel on waterways, the main routes used
by Indigenous peoples. This practice would continue until 1995 on the Saint-Maurice River.

Later in the 20th century, ore mining would also have an impact, as evidenced by the
settling, then displacement of the Anishnabe band from Long Point (Winneway) to
Témiscamingue.’®s Moreover, the first law concerning mines, adopted in 1880%*°, rooted
Québec's mining regime in the principle of free mining. This principle implies minimal
government intervention and gives precedence to mining interests over all others, including
those of Indigenous peoples.’®”

The building of dams on rivers and the subsequent creation of reservoirs flooding vast
territories were also done without consideration for the Indigenous communities who lived
there. For instance, the impoundment of the Gouin reservoir by the Quebec government in
1918 did not take into account that 30.0% of the space occupied by the new body of water
would flood the hunting territories of the Atikamekw Nehirowisiw of Opitciwan (Obedjiwan).:
It also failed to consider the newly built village located on the site of an ancestral gathering
place® Yet surveyors reassured government authorities in 1917 by stating that “the lands
which would be flooded by the establishment of the proposed reservoir [hadl little value

181 Leroux, Chamberland, Brazeau and Dubé. (2004), op. cit., p. 55; Bousquet. (2016), op. cit., p. 83.
182 Basile. (2017), op. cit., p. 77.
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186 Acte général des mines de Québec, S.Q. 1880, c. 12.

187 Thériault, S. (2006). Repenser les fondements du régime minier québécois au regard de I'obligation de
la Couronne de consulter et d’'accommoder les peuples autochtones. McGill International Journal of
Sustainable Development Law and Policy/Revue internationale de droit et politique du développement
durable de McGill, 6(2), p. 223-224; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 164.
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for lumber or agriculture"*® The major disruptions caused by this loss of territory and the
responsibility of the federal and provincial governments in this regard would be recognized
by the Specific Claims Tribunal in 2016.1%

“The Elders told a story that the water there turned brown like tea. Tea! So much
that all of the wildlife, beavers, [.] the trees .. They were paddling among the
trees, like that. All they saw was water, just water, tree stumps, peninsulas, and
they had to .. They were looking for a piece of land that wasn't soaked to be able
to land, to be able to eat, to be able to sleep. And they were paddling among the
bushes like that
Lucie Basile, Atikamekw Nehirowisiw nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 110)

The harnessing of rivers to build dams and hydroelectric facilities affected many regions
in Québec in the first half of the 20th century. That was the case during the creation of
the Baskatong reservoir (Upper Laurentians and Outaouais) in 1927, the Cabonga reservoir
(Outaouais) in 1928-1929 and the Dozois reservoir (Abitibi-Témiscamingue) in 1949. Each
time, the developments resulted in the loss of territory, resources and sites of significance
for Indigenous peoples, as well as water contamination and forced relocations .2 History
would repeat itself on a grander scale, first in Innu territory, in Saguenay-Lac-Saint-Jean
(power stations on the Peribonka River), then on the North Shore (Manic-Outardes project)
in the 1950s and 1960s'3, and finally in Eeyou (Cree) territory in the 1970s (James Bay
project).e4

Other legislation and regulations contributed to restricting the freedom of action of
Indigenous peoples, particularly the legislative framework surrounding traditional activities
such as hunting, fishing and trapping. In 1858, the Fisheries Act**s allowed the government to
relinquish fishing rights on salmon rivers to private interests, namely fishing clubs belonging
to wealthy foreigners.®® Despite their continued protests and reassertion of the fact that
they had never relinquished their rights'¥’, Indigenous peoples found themselves “strangers

190  Gélinas. (2007), op. cit., p. 105.
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Québec: Presses de I'Université Laval; Gagnon, J. and Desbiens C. (2018). Mapping memories in a flooded
landscape: A place reenactment project in Pessamit (Québec). Emotion, Space and Society, 27, 39-51;
Desbiens, C., Hirt, I. and Boivin H. (Pekuakamiulnuatsh Takuhikan). (2014). Développement industriel et
négociations territoriales des Pekuakamiulnuatsh (Québec, Canada) : défis et enjeux d’une nouvelle alliance
territoriale. In I. Bellier (dir.), Terres, territoires, ressources. Politiques, pratiques et droits des peuples
autochtones (p. 191-208). Paris, France: L’'Harmattan.

195 Fisheries Act, S.C. 1858, c. 86.
196 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 83-84, lines 22-8.

197 Massicotte, G. (2009). Rivalités autour de la péche au saumon sur la riviere Ristigouche : étude de la
résistance des Mi'gmagq (1763-1858). (Thesis for master’s degree history). Université du Québec a Montréal.
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on their own rivers” overnight®® The 1885 Act on Hunting and Fishing Clubs**® legalized the
private club system2®° These clubs, which thrived and eventually monopolized the use
of wildlife in certain territories, without consideration for traditional uses by Indigenous
peoples. In subsequent years, hunting legislation in Québec would become even more
restrictive. Quotas and seasonal practices were established. Certain traditional hunting
practices by Indigenous peoples were also prohibited, something that was vehemently
challenged, but which received little attention from the authorities .2

‘How can you pass down dignity in.. when you now have to ask permission to kill
a moose! | would even go as far as saying for permission to feed one's children.
[.] That's the reserve.”

Richard Kistabish, Anishnabe Nation

(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 66)

When they first came into force, the hunting and fishing regulations were not applied
too strictly. Indigenous peoples who hunted off-season or in locations where it was now
prohibited, such as provincial parks and the newly founded private clubs, were generally
only given warnings. The conciliatory attitude of government agents changed quickly,
however, and a harsher application of the laws led to frustration and humiliation.2°2 There
are numerous stories of conflicts between Indigenous peoples and game wardens.
Although some regulations could be bypassed in the event of extreme need—which
had to be authorized by an Indian agent or missionary—trade resulting from such “illegal”
hunting was not tolerated >3 Nearly a hundred years later, in his autobiographical narrative,
Marcel Pititkwe of Wemotaci remembered the game wardens who came to the house
to seize all of the food and escort his father to the police station. He was sentenced to
several months in prison for bartering moose meat for flour, milk and sugar.2°4 The family
not only lost the food that was supposed to get it through the coming winter, it also lost its
breadwinner.

The Québec government's creation of beaver reserves in the 1930s in response to a worrisome
decline in fur-bearing animals seemed to indicate some openness towards Indigenous

198 Panasuk, A.-M. and Proulx, J.-R. (1981). La résistance des Montagnais a I'usurpation des rivieres a saumon
par les euro-canadiens du XVlle au XXe siecle. (Thesis for master’'s degree in science). Université de
Montréal, cited by McKenzie, G. and Vincent, T. (2010). La « guerre du saumon » des années 1970-1980.
Interview with Pierre Lepage. Recherches amérindiennes au Québec, 40(1-2), p. 106; testimony of
Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 84, lines 9-24.
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Winnipeg, Manitoba: University of Manitoba, p. 277 and 281; Ingram, D. (2014). Wildlife, Conservation, and
Conflict in Québec, 1840-1914. Vancouver, BC: UBC Press.
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peoples, who now had exclusive trapping rights on these lands.2°s However, the new territorial
division did not take traditional occupation practices into account and ultimately resulted in
restricting First Nations' mobility and limiting the size of trapping territories 2

Certainly, one direct result of the exploitation and regulation of the new territories being
colonized was to encourage the creation of reserves.?” Faced with the invasion of their
territories, different communities sometimes resigned themselves to requesting that certain
territories be set aside for them.2°® This decision did not always protect them effectively.
Gradually, the idea was developed that, in the guise of protection, the true function of
reserves was to eliminate the Indigenous presence from a territory in order to promote the
exploitation of natural resources.2°°

‘[Tlhere were also.. [.] what could be called regulations and policies that kept
us from exercising our fundamental rights, from living on the land. We had
tremendous difficulty continuing to live that way of life. Hunting, fishing. trapping.
And occupying the territory, you know, because, we were occupying the
territory, but we were ... on forestry company roads, on Hydro-Québec roads, on
mining company roads. We had to .. be gotten rid of. We had to be excluded.”

Richard Kistabish, Anishnabe Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 43-44)

The 1922 Act respecting lands set apart for Indians®° confirmed this impression. While it
increased the area of public lands set aside for use by Indians from 230,000 to 330,000 acres,
that very law stipulated that new reserves could not be created in spaces for which forestry
concessions had already been granted 2 However, there were very few such spaces left in
Central-Northern Québec, limiting the size of new reserves, or confining them to even more
isolated and more northerly regions 2

3.2.3 Indigenous people’s participation in Québec’s development

Although the tendency in Québec after 1867 was to erase Indigenous peoples from public
discourse, the First Nations and Inuit were still highly present in the territory, and in frequent
contact with non-Indigenous people.
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The fur trade long remained the preferred activity for fostering cooperation as well as
economic and cultural exchange. Between 1668 and 1970, the Hudson's Bay Company
opened over 80 fur-trading posts across Québec2s It even had a presence among the
Inuit beginning in the 1830s, when the first post was opened at Fort Chimo (Kuujuaq).2*
Although far from being consistently egalitarian, the economic cooperation between the
Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples required and generated respectful relationships
between them?®, which generally benefited both sides. In fact, as long as the fur trade
remained viable, it would benefit semi-nomadic Indigenous peoples, who were thus able
to maintain their way of life2®* Among non-Indigenous peoples, trade made it possible to
amass large fortunes, which clearly helped Québec and Canada flourish.?7

Indigenous peoples also participated in Québec's economic development through the
exploitation of natural resources, often located on their own land. Because the development
of the forestry industry had substantially reduced the opportunity for them to meet
their own needs through the fur trade, many Indigenous peoples (such as Anishnabek,
Atikamekw Nehirowisiw, Abénakis and Innus) joined logging teams.?® They also helped
build the infrastructures associated with colonization, such as dams and railroads.?® \When
the outfitters and private clubs were set up, Indigenous peoples’ extensive knowledge of
their territory also allowed them to guide the new occupants, to whom the government was
ceding vast areas.®°

‘[Tlhe Atikamekw were doing a lot of logging in territory. Han! It was their only
source of income. [.] Big private clubs were coming to the territory, there, in
McTavish. So they built for those associations, which included professionals,
doctors, lawyers, judges .. even a minister [.] The people coming to the territory
created jobs, they gave them work, cutting the logs, clearing the territory. [..] Over
the years, the Atikamekw participated in development because it provided job
opportunities, and it was in their territory.”

Lucie Basile, Atikamekw Nehirowisiw Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission). p. 77)
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The Indigenous peoples were also there when prospectors went looking for new deposits,
sometimes discovering metal in their own basements.?

«| think in exploration and development, [the geologists] would not have been
able to go as far as they did without having anybody there that knew the area
very well, and [.] sharing certain information..I don't think anybody would have
been able to contribute to any sort of exploitation or development in the area,
without that expertise, that knowledge. »

Glenda Sandy, Naskapi Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 285-286)

At one time, Indigenous crafts became popular, becoming a major source of revenue
for members of certain nations.?2? Others developed specific kinds of expertise, like the
Mohawk high steel workers. Since they helped build the Saint-Laurent Railway Bridge»
across the river to Kahnawa ke in 1886, these specialized iron workers worked on many
US. construction sites. For example, they worked on the Québec Bridge in the early
20th century, the Empire State Building in New York City in the 1920s, and the World Trade
Center in the late 1060s.24

Despite these proven facts, little has been written about relations between Indigenous
and non-Indigenous peoples in the context of colonization. Yet the development of certain
regions, such as Mauricie and Abitibi-Témiscamingue, led to encounters and relationships,
sometimes sustained, between them.??s The research of historian Sylvie LeBel has shown
that there were Indigenous peoples (Atikamekw Nehirowisiw, Abénakis and Anishnabek) in
many parishes in Mauricie during the last third of the 19th century, although parish reports
say little about it Memories of contacts between Anishnabek and French Canadians
at the start of Abitibi's colonization®’, and the existence of a mixed village on the North
Shore??® (Moisie) also confirm existing relationships and cohabitation.
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Mapachee. (2009), op. cit., p. 22-23.

226 LeBel. (2005), op. cit.,, p. 69-70.
227 Loiselle, Dugré, Neveu, Kistabish, Mowatt, Mowatt-Gaudreau and Mapachee. (2009), op. cit., p. 30-32.

228 Document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 165-166; Audet, V., Briand-Racine, J., Charest, P., et al. (2012).
Collection of interviews: Des tentes aux maisons, Innu/Uashat mak Mani-Utenam section. In ARUC Tetauan,
Projet Des tentes aux maisons - volet Innu. Québec, Québec: Université Laval, p. 370; document PD-16
(Commission), op. cit., p. 166.
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"Before Mani-Utenam, there was the small village called Moisie, there, on the
point. Yeah. We called it Metsheteu. In those days, our parents, our grandparents,
before Mani-Utenam, well, that's where they stayed, you know. With the Whites,
at the time. [.I Then, they say. there were Whites and Innus who lived together.
It wasn't a reserve, it was a village people had decided to live in. Because, at the
mouth of the Moaisie river, there were salmon in the summer, and there was cod,
too, and people could go fishing.”

Réginald Vollant, Innu Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 165-166)

3.3. 1940-1960 / Subjects to administer

Largely ignored by Québec during the previous decades, around the middle of the
20th century, Indigenous peoples became subjects who had to be administered, and often
assimilated, to meet the expectations of the State and society.?® The shift in attitude toward
Indigenous peoples coincided with the slow shift toward the welfare state, which aimed to
offer an increasingly wide array of services. When the array of public services expanded,
the service dispensers (private and public) seemed to become more concerned about First
Nations.

3.3.1 Health care

Although the Québec health care system as we know it today began taking shape in the
1960s, its public origins date back to the 1920s. The Service d'assistance publique (1921)
and Service provincial d'hygiéne (1922), respectively mandated to finance the hospitals and
manage preventive services®°, were created at that time. Until the late 1940s, however,
the system essentially relied on the initiative of the religious communities who ran the
hospitals and other health care establishments.zt They did so with the support of patrons
and doctors, whose profession was then essentially unregulated.?

The situation began to change in 1948, with the federal government's national subsidy
program giving new momentum to the availability of public services in Québec, in particular
by promoting the construction of hospitals and the development of psychiatric services. 23

229 Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015b). Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation
Commission of Canada, Canada’s Residential Schools: The History, Part 2: 1939 to 2000. Volume 1.
Montréal, Québec and Kingston, Ontario: McGill-Queen’s University Press, p. 14; testimony of
Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 127-128, lines 25-18.

230 Desrosiers, G. (1999). Le systeme de santé au Québec. Bilan historique et perspective d’avenir. Revue
d'’histoire de I'Amérique francaise, 53(1), p. 9; Ministere de la Santé et des Services sociaux. (2009). Regards
sur le systeme de santé et de services sociaux du Québec. Québec, Québec: Ministere de la Santé et des
Services sociaux du Québec, p. 38.

231 Desrosiers, G. and Gaumer, B. (2004). Réformes et tentatives de réformes du réseau de la santé du Québec
contemporain: une histoire tourmentée. Ruptures, revue transdisciplinaire en sante, 10(1), p. 9; Ministere
de la Santé et des Services sociaux. (2009), op. cit., p. 38; Revue de littérature, santé: organisation des
services, document PD-8 (Commission), p. 11.

232 Goulet, D. (2004). Professionnalisation et monopolisation des soins: le College des médecins du Québec
1847-1940. Ruptures, revue transdisciplinaire en santé, 10(1), p. 47.

233 Fleury, M.-d. and Grenier, G. (2004). Historique et enjeux du systeme de santé mentale québécois. Ruptures,
revue transdisciplinaire en santé, 10(1), p. 24-26.



Until the Quiet Revolution, it was the federal government that drove the development of
Quebec's health care system. This was the case with hospitalization insurance, established
by the federal government in 1957; it became official in Québec with the passage of the
Hospital Insurance Act in 1960.234

Prior to that date, the information available regarding the health care services provided
to Indigenous peoples remains piecemeal. For many years, employees at Hudson's Bay
Company posts and missionaries provided a certain amount of medical care to Indigenous
peoples in more remote regions.® The missions founded in the wake of colonization
were able to provide services to both Indigenous peoples and newcomers, as was the
case of the Hopital de Ville-Marie, founded in Témiscamingue in 1887.2% Beginning in
the 1930s, the Ministere de la Colonisation created several free clinics, mainly in Abitibi-
Témiscamingue?¥, but also in Saguenay-Lac-Saint-Jean?®, on the North Shore®9 and in
Atikamekw Nehirowisiw territory24° Nurses and doctors visited Indigenous communities,
but there is little knowledge of the impacts of deploying these services. The testimony
of a nurse from Abitibi, who was “fairly frequently” called on to work in Eeyou (Cree) and
Atikamekw Nehirowisiw communities, suggests that contact with these health care stations
was not rare 24 In Eeyou (Cree) territory, the missionaries and managers of Hudson's Bay
Company posts offered curative care??, sometimes into the 1950s. In 1930, the first private
hospital opened, with a free clinic and “‘canoe ambulance,” established by the Fort George
Catholic residential school (Chisasibi).>4

In the 1940s, epidemics of infectious diseases, such as polio and tuberculosis, broke
out in First Nations communities and Inuit villages, prompting a proliferation of medical
interventions with Indigenous peoples?# For example, teams were deployed to Inuit

234 Ministere de la Santé et des Services sociaux. (2009), op. cit., p. 38-39; Hospital Insurance Act, CQLR
c. A-28.

235 Document PD-8 (Commission), op. cit., p. 11.

236 Gareau, S. (1982). L‘organigation hospitaliere dans le nord-ouest québécois. Sessions d’étude - Société
canadienne d’histoire de I'Eglise catholique, 49, p. 38.

237 Vincent. (2005), op. cit.,, p. 361; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 75.

238 Girard and Perron. (1995), op. cit,, p. 526. However, there had been a federal free clinic at Pointe-Bleue
(Mashteuiatsh) since 1876: Id., p. 243-244.

239 Rousseau, N. and Daigle, J. (2013). Infirmiéres de colonie. Soins et médicalisation dans les régions du
Québec, 1932-1972. Québec, Québec: Presses de I'Université Laval, p. 19 (also see the table of nursing
stations in Appendix 1, p. 422-432).

240 Vitenti, L. (2011). Couper le fil de la vie: suicide et rituels de mort chez les Atikamekw de Manawan (doctoral
dissertation in anthropology). Université de Montréal. Retrieved from https://papyrus.bib.umontreal.ca/xmilui/
bitstream/handle/1866/8533/Vitenti_Livia_2012_these.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y, p. 170-171.

241 Turgeon, M. (1998). Mémoires d’une infirmiere de colonie en Abitibi. Un récit de Marguerite Turgeon.
Terrebonne, Québec: Berthiaume, p. 83.

242 Torrie, J., Bobet, E., Kischuk, N. and Webster, A. (2005). The Evolution of Health Status and Health
Determinants in the Cree Region (Eeyou Istchee): Eastmain-1-A Powerhouse and Rupert Diversion Sectoral
Report. Volume 2: Detailed Analysis. Chisasibi, Québec: Cree Board of Health and Social Services of
James Bay, p. 173, 178-179 and 184.

243 Id., p. 260; Goulet. (2016), op. cit., p. 60.

244  Canadian Public Health Association. (2017). TB and Aboriginal people. Retrieved from https://www.cpha.ca/
tb-and-aboriginal-people; Document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit.,, p. 76 and 188.
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villages (now Nunavik) to systematically take lung X-rays, and a hospital ship chartered by
the federal government, the C.D. Howe, began visiting Inuit villages in 1950245 At the time,
many Indigenous patients were evacuated and hospitalized in sanatoriums in the south,
particularly in Québec City, Macamic, Roberval and Sainte-Agathe, as well as in Gaspé and
Mont-Joli for Innus, and Edmonton, Moose Factory and Hamilton for Inuit, where they were
isolated and far from their families24 When some died as a result of their illness, loved
ones were not necessarily notified# This situation persisted until at least the 1970s, when
eight children from the Pakua Shipu community on the North Shore were sent to hospital in
Blanc-Sablon for treatment and never returned. Their parents were finally informed of their
deaths in 2015, as the result of an investigation by CBC journalist Anne Panasuk 24

3.3.2 Indian residential schools in Québec

The 1940s also saw the transformation of Québec's education system. Long opposed
to it, Québec clergy now supported the principle of mandatory education decreed by
Adélard Godbout's Liberal government in 1943.2° Québec was the last province in Canada to
pass such a law. In the same era, the Missionary Oblates of Mary Immaculate and Québec's
bishops clamoured for the construction of residential schools in Quéebec.?°

The residential school system was introduced by the federal government in the 1880s.%*
It was then that Duncan Campbell Scott, Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, Canada,
provided the clearest indication of the government's long-term goals regarding Indigenous
peoples: “Our objective is to continue until there is not a single Indian in Canada that has
not been absorbed into the body politic and there is no Indian question, and no Indian
Department”?% The instruction of Indigenous children became mandatory in 1920 with

245  Olofsson, E., Holton, T. L. and Partridge, |. J. (2008). Negotiating identities: Inuit tuberculosis evacuees
in the 1940s-1950s. Etudes/Inuit/Studies, 32(2), p. 129; Canadian Public Health Association, op. cit.;
document PD-8 (Commission), op. cit., p. 12; testimony of Samir Shaheen-Hussain, stenographic notes
taken March 21, 2018, p. 219, lines 1-7.

246 Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. (2006), op. cit., p. 82; Torrie, Bobet, Kischuk and Webster. (2005),
op. cit., p. 188; testimony of Christopher Fletcher, stenographic notes taken March 21, 2018, p. 317-318,
lines 15-3; testimony of Samir Shaheen-Hussain, stenographic notes taken March 21, 2018, p. 218,
lines 13-21; testimony of Donat Savoie, stenographic notes taken November 24, 2017, p. 162-163,
lines 23-11; L'itinérance et les Inuit a Montréal — du Nord du Québec a l'itinérance, document P-0242
(Commission), p. 9; document PD-16 (Commission), p. 188.

247 Canadian Public Health Association. (2017), op. cit.; testimony of Jean-Charles Piétacho, stenographic
notes taken June 16, 2017, p. 127, lines 1-10; testimony of Christopher Fletcher, stenographic notes taken
March 21, 2018, p. 318, lines 4-12; testimony of Donat Savoie, stenographic notes taken November 24, 2017,
p. 164-165, lines 8-16.

248 Panasuk, A. (journalist). (2015). Pakuashipi: A la recherche des enfants disparus [news story]. In L. Tremblay
(director), Engquéte. Montréal, Québec: Société Radio-Canada.

249 Act making school attendance compulsory, S.Q. 1943, c. 13; testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes
taken December 7, 2017, p. 57-58, lines 20-4.

250  Goulet. (2016), op. cit., p. 27-28.

251 Miller, J. R. (1996). Shingwauk’s Vision: A History of Native Residential Schools. Toronto, Ontario: University
of Toronto Press, p. 89 ff.

252 Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015b), op. cit., p. 14; testimony of Serge Bouchard,
stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 93-94, lines 23-11; testimony of Michel Morin,
stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 58, lines 10-22; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit.,
p. 89.



the Indian Act, although its implementation came later in Québec, in 194323 However, the
model chosen quickly came under fire.

The chronic underfunding problems facing residential schools and their adverse impacts on
Indigenous peoples were denounced starting in 1948 before the Special Joint Committee of
the Senate and the House of Commons. Tasked with amending the Indian Act, the committee
then recommended that residential schools be shut down and replaced with day schools 2%

This proposal was not followed in Québec, as the residential schools in Sept-iles
(Maliotenam), Amos (Saint-Marc-de-Figuery), Pointe-Bleue (Mashteuiatsh) and La Tuque
opened in 1952, 1955, 1960 and 1962, respectively, adding to the two residential schools
established in the 1930s in Fort George on James Bay.2% This late appearance has not yet
been fully clarified.?®* However, we know that, in Québec, the rivalry between Protestant and
Catholic missionaries over converting Indigenous peoples, was not as strong as it was in the
rest of Canada, where it quickly fostered a proliferation of competing residential schools.??
It was therefore only with the growing colonization of Central-Northern Québec to exploit
its natural resources that the government began opening residential schools.?®

Regardless of the era or part of the country, the family separations and cultural ruptures
caused by the forced departures of Indigenous children for residential schools is a
constant.2® Survivor testimonies®®® frequently mention the distress experienced by the
children, some of whom were as young as 5 or 6, as they got on trains, planes or boats,

253 An act to amend the Indian Act, S.C. 1919-20, c. 50, s. 1; Milloy, J. S. (1999). A National Crime. The
Canadian Government and the Residential School System, 1879 to 1986. Winnipeg, Manitoba: University
of Manitoba Press, p. 70-71; Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015a). Final Report of the
Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, Canada’s Residential Schools: History, Part 1, Origins to
1939. Volume 1. Montréal, Québec and Kingston, Ontario: McGill-Queen’s University Press, p. 310-312;
Bousquet. (2016), op. cit., p. 107; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 18; testimony of Michel Morin,
stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 57-58, lines 20-4.

254 Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015b), op. cit., p. 16-18 and 26-42; Goulet. (2016), op.
cit., p. 50.

255  Six residential schools were set up in Québec, in addition to the non-denominational federal hostels
for the Inuit and the hostel in Mistissini. Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015b), op.
cit., p. 43-50; Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015d). Final Report of the Truth and
Reconciliation Commission of Canada, Canada’s Residential Schools: Missing Children and Unmarked
Burials. Volume 4. Montréal, Québec and Kingston, Ontario: McGill-Queen’s University Press, p. 163-164;
Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015a), op. cit., p. 241; Truth and Reconciliation
Commission of Canada. (2015f), op. cit., p. 394-395; testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken
December 7, 2017, p. 69, lines 9-23.

256 Bousquet, M.-P. (2016a). L'histoire scolaire des autochtones: un chantier a défricher. Recherches
ameérindiennes au Québec, 46(2-3), 117-123.

257 Miller. (1996), op. cit., p. 132; Goulet. (2016), op. cit.,, p. 58 and 61; Ottawa, G. (2010). Les pensionnats
indiens au Québec. Un double regard. Québec, Québec: Cornac, p. 20.

258 Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015b), op. cit., p. 43-44.

259  Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 136-137, lines 25-5;
testimony of David Kistabish, stenographic notes taken June 6, 2017, p. 92-93, lines 18-9; testimony
of Viviane Michel, stenographic notes taken June 5, 2017, p. 57, lines 6-13; testimony of Pierre Picard,
stenographic notes taken November 21, 2017, p. 28-30, lines 25-22; testimony of Jeannette Brazeau,
stenographic notes taken April 12, 2018, p. 54, lines 1-12; testimony of Pierre Papatie, stenographic notes
taken June 7, 2018, p. 277-278, lines 23-2; testimony of Kathleen J. Wootton, stenographic notes taken
January 24, 2018, p. 12, lines 19-22; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 18-19.

260  All the examples below come from the testimonies of Québec Indigenous survivors.
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afraid they might never see their families again.2®* The boarders were given numbers upon
admission 22 Siblings were usually separated if they were not in the same age group or of
the same gender, further intensifying the feeling of isolation 23

“When the department came, [theyl took all the kids. They had identified all the
families who were living in the territories then, that June, the priest, he was the
one who told the families, in his sermon, after or.. I don't remember, that the
children would be going to school. That all the children, it was compulsory [.]
And he had the list of all children. Han! [..] They picked up all the kids from age 6.
up to adulthood, | mean 17 or 18 years old. The only kids left in the village were
babies. 3-year-olds, 2-year-olds, 1-year-olds.”

Lucie Basile, Atikamekw Nehirowisiw Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission). p. 78)

The parents, for their part, were suddenly stripped of their family responsibilities.2®4 Although
they might often have seen their children having access to education as a good thing®s,
they were still forced to give up their children to strangers. They felt powerless against
agents who could threaten to send them to jail if they didn't comply.2°®

“The families were gutted [.] they were ... in total disarray [.] They didn't talk about
it much. [.] But [.] the parents, who had lost their right to be parents. [..] It was their
responsibility, and they'd also lost the whole family setting, love, affection. All of
that, it didn't just send one person into upheaval, it was catastrophic for all the
families. The whole community, and the whole nation. Han!"

Lucie Basile, Atikamekw Nehirowisiw Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 78-79)

Most parents were unaware of how their children were being treated at the residential
schools, and could not conceive of the harsh reality that included punitive practices in
general and sexual abuse in particular.2®”
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262
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264

265
266
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Tremblay, D. (2008). L éveil des survivants. Récits des abus sexuels dans les pensionnats amérindiens du
Québec. Montréal, Québec: Michel Bralé, p. 70-71.

Testimony of Jeannette Brazeau, stenographic notes taken April 12, 2018, p. 69-70, lines 24—1; testimony
of Omer St-Onge, stenographic notes taken September 11, 2017, p. 38, lines 20-25 and p. 39, lines 15-18;
testimony of Georges Wabanonik, stenographic notes taken September 11, 2017, p. 39, lines 8-9.

Loiselle, M., Legault, L., Potvin, M., Mowatt, J., M-Gaudreau, M., Mapachee, T. and Kistabish, C. (2011).
Recueil des récits de vie des ainés de Pikogan et des ex pensionnaires de St-Marc-de-Figuery couvrant la
période de 1931 a 1975. Rouyn-Noranda, Québec: Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue (Chaire
Desjardins en développement des petites collectivités), p. 29 and 35; Sioui, B., Mowatt-Gaudreau, M. and
Mowatt, J. (2018). Ka Pi Icita8atc. Ce qu'ils ont fait. Parcours de dix-sept éléeves du pensionnat autochtone
de Saint-Marc-de-Figuery. Montréal, Québec: Carte blanche, p. 23 and 29; Ottawa. (2010), op. cit,, p. 29;
testimony of Roméo Saganash, stenographic notes taken October 27, 2017, p. 138, lines 3-14.

Document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 43; testimony of David Kistabish, stenographic notes taken

June 6, 2017, p. 99, lines 10-22; testimony of Pierre Picard, stenographic notes taken November 21, 2017,
p. 31-32, lines 13-21; in camera testimony HC-55, stenographic notes taken June 8, 2018, p. 222, lines 7-13;
testimony of Phoebe Atagotaaluk, stenographic notes taken November 16, 2018, p. 94, lines 14-24; in
camera testimony HC-64, stenographic notes taken Augu® 22, 2018, p. 199-200, lines 22-6.

Goulet. (2016), op. cit., p. 50; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 88.

Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015e), op. cit., p. 15-17; testimony of Jeannette Brazeau,
stenographic notes taken April 12, 2018, p. 54, lines 16-19; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 18.
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Eachyear, childrenand parentswere separated for the 10 months of the schoolyear, which led
to significant loneliness 2% The distance that separated them was not simply geographical.
The breakdown in the communication of values, Indigenous languages (forbidden in
residential schools)?9, traditional knowledge and spirituality meant that children were
deprived of fundamental elements of their identity, and this created a cultural gap between
young people and their parents?”® When the children returned home, an adjustment
period was sometimes required since family members no longer recognized each other.?*
Gilles Ottawa, a self-taught historian who spent time at the Pointe-Bleue residential school,
remembers that the children had been separated not only from their “spiritual, religious
and linguistics practices” but also from “small day-to-day gestures’ because they had not
been taught these things.22 As a result of the “taunts, sarcasm, inappropriate and pejorative
remarks” at residential schools, the children understood that the traditions of their ancestors
‘had no value"?73 In certain cases, the cultural alienation was so extreme that the children no
longer wanted to be “Indian,"## and did not want to speak their language.?s “We learned to
hate ourselves because we are Indians,” explained a survivor of the Amos residential school
(Saint-Marc-de-Figuery) 276 Certain children internalized this rejection of their culture and
some became ashamed of their roots and their parents.2”7

“We wanted to be Indians when we were with our parents, but once we got
there [the residential schooll, they showed us movies where Indians were the
ones who got beaten, and the Whites always won [.] And we couldn't speak our
own language. We were punished if we spoke our language, um .. they washed
our mouths out with soap, um.. A lot of things like that went on!”

Lucie Basile, Atikamekw Nehirowisiw Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission). p. 88)

268 Ottawa. (2010), op. cit., p. 40-41; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 78 and 150; testimony of
Richard Kistabish, stenographic notes taken November 16, 2017, p. 148, lines 11-16.

269  Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015e), op. cit., p. 49-63; Loiselle, Legault, Potvin, Mowatt,
Gaudreau, Mapachee and Kistabish. (2011), op. cit., p. 6, 7 and 31; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit.,
p. 42, 62, 88 and 220; testimony of Roméo Saganash, stenographic notes taken October 27 2017, p. 137,
lines 13-22; testimony of Omer St-Onge, stenographic notes taken September 11, 2017, p. 40, lines 4-16;
testimony of Jeannette Brazeau, stenographic notes taken April 12, 2018, p. 55, lines 3-6; testimony of
Evelyne Saint-Onge, stenographic notes taken May 7, 2018, p. 15, lines 3-5.

270 Testimony of David Kistabish, stenographic notes taken June 6, 2017, p. 92-93, lines 18-7; testimony
of Clifford Moar, stenographic notes taken November 16, 2017, p. 13-14, lines 20-5; testimony of
Roméo Saganash, stenographic notes taken October 27, 2017, p. 137-136, lines 22-11.

271 Ottawa. (2010), op. cit,, p. 40-41 and 97; testimony of Jeannette Brazeau, stenographic notes taken
April 12, 2018, p. 55, lines 14-20.

272 Id., p. 97; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 86.
273 Ottawa. (2010), op. cit., p. 72.

274 Pititkwe. (2016), op. cit., p. 15.

275 Sioui, Mowatt-Gaudreau and Mowatt. (2018), op. cit., p. 65.

276 Loiselle, M. and Roy, C. (2007). Un portrait. Le pensionnat pour enfants autochtones de Saint-Marc-de-Figue-
ry. Rouyn-Noranda, Québec: Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue, p. 9.

277 Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015e), op. cit., p. 112; testimony of Clifford Moar, stenographic
notes taken November 16, 2017, p. 14, lines 6-23; testimony of Pierre Picard, stenographic notes taken
November 21, 2017, p. 38-39, lines 17-19; in camera testimony HC-55, stenographic notes taken June 8, 2018,
p. 220-221, lines 18-7; testimony of Marie-Pierre Bousquet, stenographic notes taken April 11, 2018, p. 74,
lines 18-25; in camera testimony HC-64, stenographic notes taken Augus 22, 2018, p. 189, lines 4-6.
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Depending on the time period, location and individuals concerned, Indigenous children's
experiences in residential schools varied2® Some have fond memories of the games and
activities they took part in (e.g. hockey), what they learned, or a nun that was particularly kind .27

However, in Québec and elsewhere in Canada, many Indigenous children were the victims
of psychological, physical and sexual violence and abuse 28 Several mentioned the almost
military lives they led in residential schools, where breaking the rules was forbidden 2®
Anyonewho dared to step out of line was punished by the nuns and supervisors. Punishments
ranged from hurtful remarks to slaps with a ruler or strap, being forced to kneel for hours
on end, being confined to a shower or locked in a closet or room, sometimes for days at a
time, being deprived of meals and forced to eat soap, etc.??

"Il saw some things going on at the residential school, [.] things, experiences
that were really difficult, dificult, and | sometimes relive it, you know. | saw young
kids being .. pow .. just beaten up by the priests and nuns, they beat them right
in front of us. [..] I didn't experience it myself, but [.] when you see blood spurting
everywhere, well.. We were very young then. We were.. | don't know how old |
was, but we were pretty young. [..] [Youl sit down and you don't move.”

Reginald Vollant, Innu Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 158)

According to the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada (TRC), thousands of
children died in residential schools (3,201 deaths recorded). The majority of these deaths
took place before 1940 and were, for the most part, outside Quebec.?3 That said, 38 deaths
were recorded by the TRC in Québec residential schools.284

In addition to other forms of trauma, sexual mistreatment filled victims with shame and guilt
and plunged some into serious bouts of depression long after the fact.?s The blind faith

278 Bousquet. (2016a), op. cit., p. 117-123.

279 Ottawa. (2010), op. cit., p. 63-69; Loiselle, Legault, Potvin, Mowatt, Gaudreau, Mapachee and Kistabish.
(2011), op. cit.,, p. 30, 52-54, 59; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 157; testimony of Pierre Picard,
stenographic notes taken November 21, 2017, p. 36-37, lines 10-2; testimony of Evelyne Saint-Onge,
stenographic notes taken May 7, 2018, p. 15-16, lines 22-8.

280  Testimony of David Kistabish, stenographic notes taken June 6, 2017, p. 98, lines 13-18 and p. 99, lines 2-7,
document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 102 and 158; Panasuk, A. (journalist). (2018). Les Oblats : Régner sur les
ames et les corps [news story]. In Enquéte, S. Desmarais (producer). Montréal, Québec: Société Radio-Canada.
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2018, p. 13, lines 10-21 and p. 14, lines 15-18.
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April 13, 2018, p. 113-115, lines 20-3.
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that parents placed in religious figures of authority and threats made by the abusers made
accusations all the more complicated.?®

“The nuns didn't believe us. Our parents didn't even believe us. Even.. They
couldn't [.] comprehend that a priest could.. “No, he's a man of God! It can't be!
He couldn't have done that! No way! Stop saying that! Don't say it!" They didn't
believe us!”

Lucie Basile, Atikamekw Nehirowisiw Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 103)

Determining the exact number of victims of sexual abuse is challenging. However, the
investigation by journalist Daniel Tremblay revealed at least 20 alleged abusers, the majority
of whom were priests in six residential schools in Quebec.?®”

Even though residential schools destroyed many lives and families, Indigenous peoples
put up considerable resistance. Children in particular were often very daring in order to
get through the ordeals they were faced with. Despite not being allowed to speak their
languages, many continued to do so0.288 Because they were often hungry, the young girls at
the Amos residential school (Saint-Marc-de-Figuery) devised a system that allowed them
to go in search of bread at night without being caught by the supervisors.22® Other children
chose to run away from the residential schools or begged their parents not to send them
back after the summer vacation 2 Some families fled their traditional territories in order to
avoid having to bring their children back to the residential school.2*

Most residential schools in Québec were operational for a short period of time, less than
20 years. Those in Sept-iles, Amos and La Tuque closed in 1971, 1973 and 1978, respectively.
The two oldest residential schools in Fort George closed their doors in 1975 and 1978,
after over 40 years in operation. Management of the Pointe-Bleue residential school was
transferred to Indigenous peoples before its closure in 1991.2%2

Small and large acts of resistance paved the way for the resilience of several survivors of Indian
residential schools. Many found courage and perseverance and began to relearn the language
and traditions of their parents? Reconnecting with their culture in this way has often been
therapeutic. Though certain journeys have been marked by pitfalls and relapses, and there is

286 Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015e), op. cit., p. 169-170; testimony of Stanley Vollant,
stenographic notes taken November 17, 2017, p. 13-14, lines 17-7.

287  Tremblay. (2008), op. cit.,, p. 221.

288 Loiselle, Legault, Potvin, Mowatt, Gaudreau, Mapachee and Kistabish. (2011), op. cit., p. 31 and 60; Truth
and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015e), op. cit.,, p. 56-57.

289 Sioui, Mowatt-Gaudreau and Mowatt. (2018), op. cit., p. 71.

200  Goulet. (2016), op. cit.,, p. 169; Ottawa. (2010), op. cit., p. 101; in camera testimony HC-55, stenographic
notes taken June 8, 2018, p. 214, lines 2-24.

291 Testimony of Jeannette Brazeau, stenographic notes taken April 12, 2018, p. 56-57, lines 10-12.

292 Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015b), op. cit., p. 49-50; Truth and Reconciliation
Commission of Canada. (2015f), op. cit., p. 394-395.

293 Ottawa. (2010), op. cit,, p. 122; testimony of Suzie Basile, stenographic notes taken Augus 13, 2018,
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stillmuch suffering as a result of the past, we must not forget how the survivors have contributed
to their communities and to society in general2** They have spoken out and denounced the
abuse and efforts on the part of the State to erase them as a people, even if this means reliving
the pain of the past?% The denunciations made during the TRC and in other forums resulted
in increased awareness among non-Indigenous people. In some instances, testimonies also
allowed the children of survivors to understand how deep the scars of their parents run2%®

3.3.3 Settling and displacement

The period during which the majority of residential schools were built in Québec coincided
with a second wave of creating reserves in the province. Between 1949 and 1963, a
dozen or so reserves were created. Most were located on the North Shore, in Abitibi and
in Témiscamingue. However, even though the number of reserves increased, this in no
way compensated for the losses incurred during the encroachment and other cessions
of territory carried out by the federal government since the end of the 19th century.? In
addition to losing access to their traditional territories, Québec's First Nations have seen
the spaces they were allocated become progressively smaller. This situation deprives
communities of resources that could ensure their economic independence.2®

Various interests, which include continuing to exploit natural resources in Central-Northern
Québec, have led to the creation of new reserves.?® Settling is, in part, the result of a wish
on the part of Indigenous parents to not be separated from their children who were sent
to residential schools 3 This was the case with certain Abitibiwinni (Pikogan) peoples who,
following the opening of the Amos residential school (Saint-Marc-de-Figuery) in 1955, set
up their camp on the outskirts of town. A former residential school student remembers that
the goal was to: “get a little closer and see them more often”3%

Many reserves are located in the traditional summer camps of Indigenous peoples.
However, certain locations were imposed on Indigenous peoples. This was the case on
the North Shore. In the early 1940s, Innus on the territory were, for the most part, semi-
nomadic. Certain families from the region still gathered in the summer in the village of

294  Sioui, Mowatt-Gaudreau and Mowatt. (2018), op. cit., p. 9.

295  Ottawa. (2010), op. cit., p. 108-118; testimony of Judith Morency, stenographic notes taken April 19, 2018,
p. 57-58, lines 22-8.
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297 Gélinas. (2007), op. cit., p. 34.
298 Ibid.

299 Scott, C. (2013). Le partage des ressources au Québec : perspectives et stratégies autochtones. In
A. Beaulieu, S. Gervais and M. Papillon (dir.), Les Autochtones et le Québec. Des premiers contacts au Plan
Nord (p. 363-384). Montréal, Québec: Presses de I'Université de Montréal, p. 366.

300  Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 130-131, lines 8-22;
testimony of Pierre Picard, stenographic notes taken November 21, 2017, p. 33-34, lines 9-20;
document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 163.

301 Loiselle, Legault, Potvin, Mowatt, Gaudreau, Mapachee and Kistabish. (2011), op. cit., p. 46; Bousquet.
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Moisie or in Sept-iles, where there was a reserve (Uashat)3° A range of different interests
served to change the lifestyle of Innus during this period. On the one hand, the federal
government wanted to set up a military base in Moisie.3*3 On the other hand, Iron Ore, a
mining company, claimed more land in Sept-iles for urban development3¢ Therefore, a
decision was to implement a deportation program and force the Innus who had gathered
in Moisie and Sept-lles to relocate to the Mani-Utenam reserve, which was created in
1949. However, most of the families in Sept-iles (Uashat) refused to be displaced, and the
community remained in its original location while the Moisie community relocated to Mani-
Utenam (now known as Uashat mak Mani-Utenam).3°

This process was repeated in the early 1960s when the federal government decided to
displace Pakua Shipu Innus to the Unamen Shipu reserve (La Romaine). The August 1961
relocation of 65 Innus in the hold of a cargo ship is still referred to as a deportation in
Innu oral tradition3°¢ Witness accounts also tell of undue pressure, threats and promises
that were never kept. “When we arrived there [Unamen Shipul, we went to the river [.],
all us young people were together, we sat on the rocks and looked at the river. The river
reminded us of the Pakua Shipu river and that made us cry," said Jérome Mesténapéo, who
returned home on foot.3% In the years following the 1961 deportation, almost all deportees
returned to their homes, most of them on foot3?8, as the feeling of being uprooted was too
much to bear.

3.3.4 The occupation of Northern Québec and the Inuit

Though Southern Quéebec was appealing to governments in power before World War I,
they were only slightly interested in Northern Québec.3°0 However, following a series of
decisions aimed at affirming Canadian sovereignty, the federal government introduced
RCMP foot patrols in 1922 in what is now known as Nunavik. The government also opened

302  Frenette, P. (1996). Histoire de la Céte-Nord. Québec, Québec: Institut québécois de recherche sur la
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ameérindiennes au Québec, 41(2-3), 175-184.

307 Id., p.180.

308 Sensibilisation sur les communautés autochtones du territoire de la Cote-Nord, document P-576
(Commission), p. 41; testimony of Judith Morency, stenographic notes taken April 19, 2018, p. 68, lines 1-9.

309  Lévesque, F., Jubinville, M. and Rodon, T. (2016). En compétition pour construire des écoles. L'éducation
des Inuits du Nunavik de 1939 a 1976. Recherches amérindiennes au Québec, 46(2-3), 145-154.;
testimony of Donat Savoie, stenographic notes taken November 24, 2017, p. 166, lines 9-19; testimony of
Johnny Peters, stenographic notes taken November 21, 2018, p. 321, lines 4-10; Parnasimautik Consultation
Report. On the Consultations Carried Out with Nunavik Inuit 2013, document P-202 (Commission),
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the first permanent police station in Port Harrison (Inukjuak) in 1936.3*° This politically
motivated government presence was, for the most part, unintrusive 34

Indeed, during the 1930s, for financial reasons, both levels of government in turn brushed
off the responsibility of providing services to the Inuit. Therefore, following the famine in
the early 1930532, the federal government came to the aid of the Inuit and assumed that
the Quebec government would reimburse a portion of the sums incurred.33 In 1935, the
government of Maurice Duplessis refused to do so and appealed to the Supreme Court of
Canada, defending the notion that, under the Constitution Act, 1867, the Inuit are under the
responsibility of the federal government rather than the provincial government3“ In 1939,
a unanimous Supreme Court judgment ruled in favour of Québec 3 Though the judgment
Reference as to whether “Indians”includes in s. 91 (24) of the B.N.A. includes Eskimo in habitants
of the Province of Québec (Re Eskimo) had little immediate effect on the provision of services
in Inuit villages, it put an end to the incessant back and forth between Québec City and
Ottawa by clearly establishing the federal government's responsibility.3:

The interest of other countries in the northern territories and a desire to affirm Canadian
sovereignty were the driving forces behind the federal government's interventions until the
1960s.37 This led to the displacement of over 80 Inuit peoples beyond the Arctic Circle,
some 1,500 km north the Ungava Peninsula. During the Cold War, the federal government
offered residents of Port Harrison (Inukjuak) on Hudson Bay3*® and Pond Inlet on Baffin
Island in 1953 and 1955, respectively, the opportunity to move to the High Arctic. They were
promised better living conditions and good hunting grounds, as well as the possibility to

310 Jaccoud, M. (1995a). L'histoire de I'imposition du processus pénal au Nunavik (Nouveau-Québec inuit).
The Journal of Human Justice, 6(2), p. 108; Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. (1985). The government
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December 7, 2017, p. 66-67, lines 20-7; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit,, p. 17; Peuples autochtones
et droit constitutionnel, document P-415 (Commission), p. 66.
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November 23, 2018, p. 100-101, lines 19-1.
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Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1994). La réinstallation dans I'Extréme-Arctique. Un rapport sur la
réinstallation de 1953-1955. Ottawa, Ontario: Canada Communication Group, p. 122-140; document P-202
(Commission), op. cit.,, p. 177; testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017,
p. 157, lines 4-21.

318 Montpetit, C. (May 13, 2014). Voyage au bout d'un enfer de glace. Le Devoir. Retrieved from https://www.
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return if their new lives did not suit them 3 However, none of these promises were kept and,
to their astonishment, the exiled families were sent to two different locations (Resolute Bay
and Grise Fiord), which further isolated the communities.3° Markoosie Patsauq was 12 years
old when his family stepped off the C.D. Howe icebreaker in Resolute Bay. Several years
later, she remembers that the place “looked pretty much like a dead planet”3

The exiled families who had been relocated to a hostile environment and an extreme
climate suffered from cold and hunger and had to adapt to long months of polar darkness.
When families expressed the desire to return to their home communities, the authorities
refused or asked them to pay for their relocation, which was impossible for most of them.
Those exiled were finally repatriated at the government's expense in 198832, but a formal
apology was not issued until 2010.323

It was not until the mid-1950s that the range of services offered to Inuit people was
expanded.? Prior to that, the federal government feared that the Inuit would become
dependent on public programs and, therefore, provided as little assistance as possible.
However, a new crisis linked to a drop in fur prices and the sudden disappearance of
caribou forced the government to rethink its approach3? Jean Lesage, federal Minister
of Northern Affairs and National Resources at the time, maintained that the government
had a moral obligation towards the Inuit. According to him: “The most realistic approach
involves accepting that, over time, the Eskimo will be increasingly influenced by the South”
He added that the government was responsible for *helping them to adjust their lifestyle
and way of thinking to deal with the consequences of this new life"32¢

In essence, the aim of the new policy was the integration of the Inuit into Canadian society,
and settling them appeared to be an obligatory phase of the integration process 3?7 Settling
had already begun near Hudson's Bay Company trading posts, but it was partial and often
temporary, and the Inuit had maintained their lifestyle on their territory. However, World War I,
followed by the Cold War, led to the creation of military installations in Northern Québec,
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which included bases in Kuujjuaqg, Kuujjuarapik and lgaluit, where Inuit were not allowed.3?®
In a bid to accelerate settlement during the 1950s, the federal government built housing,
clinics and federal schools3* In 1960, the federal government opened four federal hostels
in Northern Québec, in George River (Kangigsualujjuaq), Port Harrison (Inukjuak), Payne
Bay (Kangirsuk) and Grande riviére de la Baleine (Kuujjuarapik)3* The requirement to send
children to school led to the settlement of several families33* Several young people were
also sent outside the province to federal hostels, such as the Churchill Vocational Centre in
Manitoba33? The experiences in these hostels were similar to those of other Canadian Inuit
who were sent to Indian residential schools33, in particular when it came to a ban on speaking
Inuktitut.334 The last of these hostels closed its doors in 1971, as the Québec government had
developed a provincial educational network in the region in parallel with the federal system.

During this period of rapid settlement, over 1,000 sled dogs were slaughtered in Nunavik
by RCMP and Sureté du Quéebec (SQ) officers during the 1950s and 1960s. The influx of Inuit
to new villages following the construction of schools led to large concentrations of dogs .32
Following a few unfortunate incidents, the police ordered that all dogs must be tethered 33
However, this directive was largely unheeded since the Inuit were not used to tethering
their animals, primarily so that they could feed themselves. The authorities responded by
slaughtering the dogs3¥, even those that were tethered 33

Epidemics of canine distemper and rabies in various villages served to justify the slaughter
of dogs. Some research supports the theory that the police decided to kill the dogs primarily
for health and safety reasons, and not as a means of accelerating the settlement and
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stenographic notes taken November 15, 2018, p. 77, lines 4-6 and p. 94-95, lines 23-1; document P-202
(Commission), op. cit., p. 4 and 48.
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p. 187-188; document P-202 (Commission), op. cit., p. 47-48; testimony of Tunu Napartuk, stenographic
notes taken November 19, 2018, p. 34-35, lines 24-9.

334 Testimony of Charlie Arngak, stenographic notes taken November 22, 2018, p. 237, lines 5-8;
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assimilation of the Inuit.33° Regardless of the reasons put forward to justify the slaughter,
there is no denying that it had a disastrous effect on the population in Northern Quebec.34°
For thousands of years, sled dogs had been essential to the livelihood of the Inuit, who
relied on them for hunting and travel.3* The dogs were shown affection and respect since
their relationship was so important to the Inuit34 Their disappearance led to “material
and spiritual deprivation" for several Inuit who, besides the sadness that was caused,
witnessed their identity, independence, way of life and means of livelihood put in grave
danger.

"And then, all of a sudden, someone comes in and says: "Your dogs are
dangerous! Kill all of them!" All of a sudden! From one day, from one minute to
the next minute. You had dogs that you were caring for, [travellingl with and then,
the next minute: they are all gone. All gone! Your means of travel, your means
of hunting, your means of going long distance, your means of knowing the land!
Ah.!'Your ability as an Inuk man has just been completely shot! Threatened. Your
identity as an Inuk man who knows your land, who knows how to go out, who
relies on the dogs also, to bring [youl back home.. All of that: cut!

Lisa Qiluggi Koperqualuk, Inuit

(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 202)

In 2010, an inquiry report on the events described an impasse between the Inuit and the
police at the time, particularly since the police deemed that coercion was more effective
than negotiation.3#4 The report also put forward that the Quebec and Canadian governments
failed to meet their fiduciary obligations towards the Inuit34 Following the report's
publication, the Québec government recognized the major impact that the slaughter of
sled dogs had on the Inuit of Nunavik and awarded financial compensation 34 However, the
bond of trust between Inuit and the authorities remains tenuous.3#
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3.4.1960-1970 / A period of change

A new world order emerged in the years following World War I, made possible by the
creation of the United Nations (UN), whose charter affirmed equality and people’s right to
self-determination.3¥® The erawas also marked by the expansion of the global decolonization
process and the emergence of the civil rights movement in the United States, which aimed
to end racial segregation. This international context was fertile ground for the Indigenous
and Québec nations to assert their autonomy and demand independence.

3.4.1 The provincial nation state

After coming to power in 1960, the Québec Liberal Party called an early election to propose
nationalizing hydroelectricity to Quebecers. It was during this election that Jean Lesage
popularized the slogan “Maitres chez nous” (*masters in our own house"). While the slogan
primarily expressed a will to take control of management of the State, it also asserted an
obligation to determine the scope of its authority and the public services being introduced.
The ambiguous slogan took hold as the exploitation of natural resources was accelerating
in territories in which Indigenous peoples were asserting rights that had never been
officially given up.3# It also coincided with a growing awareness of Northern Quebec®° and
its economic and political importance 3% After serving as federal Minister of Northern Affairs
and National Resources from 1953 to 1957, Jean Lesage became Premier of Québec in
1960. One of his objectives was to end the government's neglect of the North and the
people who lived there 352 Lesage's Minister of Natural Resources, René Lévesque, toured
northern Québec, helping to formalize this new political awareness.?3

At the time, French-Canadians' national consciousness was increasingly focused around
the State of Québec which, in a way, was replacing the Church as “what secured the
people's cultural integrity”3% It also proved to be a powerful “tool for social transformation
and economic promotion”3% This transition was the core of what would later be known as
the Quiet Revolution. Québec's identity was being forged, and the Duplessis-era discourse
of provincial autonomy was giving way to that of provincial sovereignty. This discourse
recognized the interdependence of the various levels of government and the need for

348 Charter of the United Nations, June 26, 1945, art. 1(2).
349 Desbiens. (2015), op.cit., p. 40-49.

350  Gow, J. |. (1986). Histoire de I'administration publique québécoise, 1867-1970. Montréal, Québec: Presses
de I'Université de Montréal, p. 174; Hamelin. (1995), op. cit., p. 269.

351 Ducharme, E. (2009). L’Etat québécois et les Autochtones : la construction d’une politique, 1960-1970
(Thesis for master’s degree in history). Université du Québec a Montréal. Retrieved from https://archipel.
ugam.ca/2008/1/M10774.pdf, p. 53-54.

352 Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada. (2006), op. cit., p. 13; Lévesque, Jubinville and Rodon. (2016), op.
cit., p. 145-154; Lévesque. (2010), op. cit., p. 149-166; Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. (1985), op. cit.,
p. 107.

353 Godin, P. (1997). René Lévesque. Héros malgré lui. Montréal, Québec: Boréal, p. 172-177; testimony of
Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 97-99, lines 18-18.

354  Boismenu, G. (1989). La pensée constitutionnelle de Jean Lesage. In R. Comeau and G. Bourque (dir.), Jean
Lesage et I'éveil d’'une nation. Les débuts de la Révolution tranquille (p. 76-107). Québec, Québec: Presses
de I'Université du Québec.
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cooperation among them, while vigorously opposing the federal government'’s interference
in provincial jurisdictions.3%®

The delivery of public services and the establishment of state sovereignty in the North
gave rise to a jurisdictional conflict between the Canadian federal government and the
Québec provincial government.?*” This conflict led to a jurisdictional transition, as illustrated
by the introduction, in 1963, of a Québec institutional structure: the Direction générale du
Nouveau-Québec (DGNQ).3%® Québec's objective was clear: to entrench its sovereignty
by replacing the federal government in the territory of Nouveau-Québec.3* This aim also
prompted the Québec to set up the Commission d'étude sur lintégrité du territoire du
Québec.3®° Led by Henri Dorion, the commission's mandate was to conduct studies and
make recommendations to the government on means for ensuring the integrity of Québec's
territory. The commission looked at the matter from an external perspective, examining the
issue of borders, and from an internal perspective, studying such matters as Indigenous
land claims.3®* Although it did not adhere to the concept of Indigenous sovereignty3?, the
Dorion Commission report recognized that First Peoples had certain rights. Among other
things, the commission proposed transferring Québec Indigenous peoples to provincial
jurisdiction, creating a framework law for Québec on Indigenous peoples, and recognizing
Indigenous titles to the territories they occupied. It also suggested transforming the
reserves into municipalities with broader powers, and electing an Indigenous representative
to the National Assembly.3%3 However, this wide-ranging program did not go forward, with
the exception of recognizing commitments made to the Indigenous peoples of the North,
which would form the basis of the James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement (JBNQA).3%4

Québec sovereignty over the northern territory was also asserted by bringing in the provincial
police force with the aim of replacing the RCMP, which had been there since the turn of
the century. A Sureté du Québec (SQ) station opened in Kuujjuarapik in 1961, followed by
another one in Kuujjuaq.3®s This was another example in which the police were mobilized to
secure strategic and political interests, this time at the provincial rather than federal level 3¢
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Septentrion, p. 17.
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363  Dorion, H. (1971). Rapport de la Commission d’étude sur l'intégrité du territoire du Québec. Volume 4 : Le
Domaine indien. Québec, Québec: Editeur officiel du Québec, recommendations 5, 6, 11, 13 and 31.
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This individual jurisdictional conflict was also connected to the broader context of the
federal government's policy of disengagement toward Indigenous communities. In fact,
in 1960, the RCMP announced that it would no longer be offering police services to First
Nations in Ontario and Québec. Some band councils took the opportunity to invest in law
enforcement, made possible by the 1951 amendments to the Indian Act 37 Although the Act
excluded the Inuit3®®, the 1939 Reference Re Eskimos decision still entitled them to federal
programs in the areas that affected them3%°

During this time, the desire to make Indigenous peoples equal citizens steadily grew. This
meant not simply subjecting them to state sovereignty through policing, but rather making
them Canadian and Québec citizens, with all the rights that entailed. After having been
extended to the Inuit in 1950, the right to vote without losing Indian status was finally given
to First Nations for the 1960 federal election.3° It would take a few more years in Quebec:
Indigenous peoples only received the franchise at the end of the decade, in 196937 This
made Québec the last province in Canada to recognize this right. The first Indigenous
member elected to the National Assembly since then¥2 was Alexis Wawanoloath, an
Abénakis, who represented the district of Abitibi-Est from 2007 to 2008.373 No Inuit have
been elected to the National Assembly to date.

3.4.2 Building a welfare state

The development of the welfare state also led to federal-provincial competition in the areas
of health care and social services. In the late 1950s and throughout the 1960s, the federal
government introduced a series of laws to strengthen health care services and make them
more accessible across the country.3 In the face of these measures regarding provincial
jurisdiction, Quebec launched a broad study of health care delivery, which included the
Commission of Inquiry on Health and Social Welfare (Castonguay-Nepveu Commission).375
Following this exercise, a centralized health care system was established, and a universal
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he was elected in 1924. However, he had to renounce his Indian status in order to take his seat. On a
federal level, James Gladstone was the first Indigenous person appointed to the Senate (1958), while
Leonard Marchand was the first member elected to the House of Commons (1968).

373 Testimony of Alexis Wawanoloath, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2018, p. 12, lines 16-21 and p. 38,
lines 5-7.
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health care plan was introduced in 1970.3° Jurisdictional competition in health care had
ramifications for the North as well. On the federal level, the C.D. Howe hospital ship
continued to serve Inuit villages until 1968.377 Provincially, the Fort George (Chisasibi) free
clinic, in Eeyou (Cree) territory, became the Québec's first hospital to be subsidized by
hospitalization insurance, in 1965.3® However, the health care services offered in the North
remained limited. Inuit only had one doctor residing in Fort-Chimo (Kuujjuaq) as of 1965, and
there was still no doctor on the Hudson coast in the early 1970s.37¢

State interventionism also extended to social services, as private charities were no longer
sufficient to meet the needs of the most disadvantaged. As government involvement grew,
the need to integrate health and social services became increasingly clear. The Ministére
de la Santé and the Ministere de la Famille et du Bien-étre social were therefore merged
to become the Ministére des Affaires sociales in 1970.3%° The network of local community
service centres (CLSCs) was created shortly thereafter.3®

Provincial authorities were also involved in youth protection. After section 87 was added to
the Indian Act in 195132, provincial legislation applied to Indigenous peoples, although they
came under federal jurisdiction pursuant to the Constitution Act, 186733 To the extent that
the Canadian government had no specific legislation covering the protection of Indigenous
youth, provincial legislation applied.3®

The rules that were developed and applied during this period were standardized and did
not take into account the specific situations of Indigenous children. In contrast with the
residential school system, which aimed to assimilate children into the dominant culture, the
goal was now to integrate by simply providing them with the same services available to any
other child, in accordance with the principles of universality and neutrality.38 Although well-
intentioned, the effects of the approach were, in many ways, similar to those of residential
schools. Among other things, it continued to divide families without considering the specific
aspects of Indigenous communities, therefore fostering a loss of cultural reference points

376 Desrosiers. (1999), op. cit.,, p. 12; Desrosiers and Gaumer. (2004), op. cit.,, p. 11-12.

377 Beauvais, D. (2017). Mémoires de glace. Récit autobiographique d’un infirmier en région isolée. Québec,
Québec: Presses de I'Université Laval, p. 72.

378 Beauvais. (2017), op. cit., p. 81-82.

379 [d., p. 77 and 82; Tremblay, N. (2014). Qingaujaaluk. Médecine et aventures dans le Grand Nord québécois.
Québec, Québec: Editions GID, p. 72.

380  Desrosiers. (1999), op. cit.,, p. 13; Desrosiers and Gaumer. (2004), op. cit., p. 13; D’Amours, O. (1986). Survol
historique de la protection de I'enfance au Québec, de 1608 a 1977. Les jeunes et le travail social, 35(3),
p. 400.

381 Desrosiers and Gaumer. (2004), op. cit,, p. 14.
382 Indian Act, 1951, op. cit.,, s. 87.
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autochtone au regard de la theorie libérale de Will Kymlicka (Thesis for master’s degree in law). Université
de Montréal. Retrieved from https://papyrus.bib.umontreal.ca/xmlui/handle/1866/2411, p. 23-24; testimony of
Sébastien Grammond, stenographic notes taken September 22, 2017, p. 105, lines 8-25.
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for the children.3® The transfer of responsibility from the federal to provincial governments
was not accompanied by additional funding, creating great disparity between the regions
in terms of the quality and quantity of services3¥ The integration policy led to the massive
removal of Indigenous children from their communities. Taken into the custody of provincial
youth protection agencies, children were placed with non-Indigenous families across
Canada, in the United States, and even in Europe.3®®

This trend occurred across Canada, and would come to be called the “sixties scoop,” a
term that referred to the period when the over-representation of Indigenous children in
youth protection began .3 The phenomenon peaked in the 1970s, but continued even into
subsequent decades. An estimated 11,000 Indigenous children were adopted in Canada
between 1960 and 19903, very often without their parents’ consent3* At the end of the
1970s, these children represented over 20.0% of the children in the custody of Canadian
social services agencies; Indigenous people only represented 2.0% of the population.3e?

In Québec, where residential schools remained open longer, there is much less
documentation on the impacts of the “sixties scoop”. Shortly after the Youth Protection Act
(YPA)*3 came into effect in 1979, it was observed that 2.6% of the children taken into custody
by the province were Indigenous. At the time, they represented just 0.7% of Québec's
children394 The rate of over-representation was lower than elsewhere in Canada, but was
likely underestimated, given that the residential schools closed at a later date.

3.4.3 Burgeoning Indigenous movements

While the Québec State was taking shape, the ability of Indigenous communities to band
together to assert their interests and rights was limited. In the last third of the 19th century,
the Indian Act played a large role in disrupting the Indigenous political order.39%
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A few associations did emerge in the first half of the 20th century, such as the League of
Indians of Canada, founded in 1919 by Mohawk Fred Loft.3%® The initiative was defeated
due to active opposition from the Department of Indian Affairs, RCMP surveillance, and the
difficulty in uniting Indigenous communities across Canada’s vast territory.3%”

Next came the 1923 attempt by Hereditary Chief Deskaheh to convince the League of
Nations (the UN's forerunner) to recognize the sovereignty of the Haudenosaunee (Mohawk)
people. Canadian and British diplomats opposed his claim vigorously, shutting it down.3®

The next attempt at affirmation would take shape in the 1940s, when Huron-Wendat
Jules Sioui helped restablish the League of Indians of Canada, which soon gave rise to
the North American Indian Nation Government3%® Government opposition once again
materialized. Jules Sioui was arrested in 1948 and charged with conspiring to undertake to
participate in a rebellion. After a long legal saga, punctuated by a hunger strike, the charges
against Sioui were finally dropped.4°°

‘At home, there's a very important figure, a direct or distant cousin of my
grandfather's, [..] a historical figure called Jules Sioui, who was a very important
Indigenous activist in Canada. And [.] he argued for the idea of an Amerindian
parliament. [.] At the time, Mackenzie King deemed him a rebel, and he [.] was
put in jail. For his political ideas, and for his activism. He went on a hunger strike
that lasted 75 days, | think. [.l[Llater, he was forgotten. But his ideas came at a
time when Indigenous peoples across Canada were starting to get organized
politically. Then the first large Indigenous political associations started to appear.”

Member of the Huron-\Wendat Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 114-115)

It was difficult to unite Indigenous political forces and, in the early 1960s, the community
remained the major point of reference in terms of identity for individuals, with its roots on
the reserve or ancestral land. However, a growing awareness of the experiences shared
by the various Indigenous communities led to the development of Canada-wide political
organizations. In 1961, the National Indian Council was established to represent status
Indians, Métis and non-status Indians.4* In 1969, the Council split into the National Indian
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Brotherhood and the National Indigenous Council, set up in 1971 to represent Métis and
Indians not recognized by the Indian Act.4°?

In the meantime, the Indians of Québec Association (IQA) was founded in 1965, quickly
emerging as the main organization speaking on behalf of Quebec's Indigenous nations to
government entities .43 Among other things, the IAQ produced three briefs on the concerns
of Indigenous peoples regarding authorities. The first brief addressed the issue of hunting
and fishing rights (1967), while the second dealt with tax status (1968) and the third with
Indigenous territorial rights (1969).4%4 The IQA would also play a leading role in challenging
hydroelectric power development in James Bay in the early 1970s.4°5

Major legal battles over equal rights for Indigenous women also took place in the 1960s. As
of 1876, an Indigenous woman who married a non-Indigenous man automatically lost her
Indian status, whereas the opposite scenario (an Indigenous man marrying a non-Indigenous
woman) did not apply.4°® These women and their children were then immediately excluded
from their communities, even if the couple had separated. In 1968, Mary Two-Axe Early of
Kahnawa ke started the Equal Rights for Indian Women movement, which would inspire the
creation of the Native Women's Association of Canada in 1974.47

Quebec Native Women was founded the same year4®® and determinedly began to fight
the discrimination against women contained in the Indian Act4® In the late 1970s, the
organization also began to look at the adoption of Indigenous children outside of the
community, women's experiences in the health care system, and the serious issue of
violence against women 4°

In addition to being political militants, Indigenous women also turned to the courts to assert
theirrights. In the early 1970s, Jeanette Corbiere Lavelland Yvonne Bédard, two women who
had lost their status after marrying non-Indigenous men, went to court to gain recognition
of the inequity of their situation. The case went to the Supreme Court of Canada, which
dismissed their allegations in order to preserve the legality of the Indian Act4* It was only
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403 Turcotte. (2018), op. cit., p. 22-23.
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when Sandra Lovelace, a Malécite woman who had also lost her status, took the fight to the
international level that Canada's political authorities acknowledged the problem. In 1981,
the UN Human Rights Committee ruled that Canada had violated its obligations under the
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights* particularly as the cultural rights of
women had been threatened since they could no longer live on a reserve after marriage, in
accordance with the Indian Act .43 The federal government finally amended the Indian Act in
1985, allowing many Indigenous women (and their children) to regain the status that had
been stripped from them 4

At the time, there was also a growing awareness that First Nations' members were
increasingly present in cities.#® In Québec, to deal with the needs of Indigenous peoples
living in urban areas, the first Native Friendship Centre opened its doors in Chibougamau
in 1969. Initially serving as places to get together and for cultural mediation, over the years,
the friendship centres have developed an array of services that make them true living
environments.47 In 1976, the first centres in Chibougamau (1969), Val-d'Or (1974), La Tuque
(1975) and Senneterre (1978) formed the Regroupement des centres d'amitié autochtone,
which then expanded into several other cities.4®

Throughout the 1960s, Indigenous claims and pressure groups to assert them proliferated;
the core theme was the right to equality, including the right to difference.#? In response
to the increasingly pressing demands for change, in 1969, Pierre Elliott Trudeau's Liberal
government released a White Paper proposing to eliminate the special legal status
reserved for Indigenous peoples and to incorporate them fully into Canadian society.4° The
government's proposed vision included replacing collective, historic Indigenous rights with
the individual civil rights common to all Canadian citizens. Among other things, it would
eliminate the protection of reserve lands, the legal status of Indian, and have services to
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plurielles. In A. Beaulieu, S. Gervais and M. Papillon (dir.), Les Autochtones et le Québec. Des premiers
contacts au Plan Nord (p. 281-296). Montréal, Québec: Presses de I'Université de Montréal; testimony of
Christine Jean, stenographic notes taken June 8, 2017, p. 15, lines 1-8.

418 Testimony of Christine Jean, stenographic notes taken June 8, 2017, p. 12, lines 18-21, p. 13, lines 8-17
and p. 16, lines 9-20; testimony of Philippe Meilleur, stenographic notes taken December 11, 2018, p. 140,
lines 4-24.

419 Hot, A. (2010). L’école des Premieres Nations au Québec. (Cahier DIALOG no 2010-01). Montréal, Québec:
DIALOG and INRS.

420  Government of Canada. (1969). Statement of the Government of Canada on Indian Policy. Ottawa, Ontario:
Indian and Northern Affairs Canada.
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Indigenous peoples provided by the provincialgovernments. ' The Indigenous backlash was
swift: the project was clearly and massively rejected.422 Alberta Cree leader Harold Cardinal
responded with two books: The Unjust Society: The Tragedy of Canada’s Indians and Citizen
Plus, also known as the Red Paper.423 In this work, Harold Cardinal asserts: “We don't want
the Indian Act retained because it's a good piece of legislation. It isn't. It's discriminatory
from start to finish. But it serves as a lever and an embarrassment to the government, as it
should be. [.].. [WIle would rather continue to live in bondage under the inequitable Indian
Act than surrender our sacred rights"424

In the face of the outcry, the federal government backed down, quickly abandoning the
White Paper*®* However, the White Paper served to catalyze Indigenous militancy, which
was already burgeoning in the late 1960s across Canada.

3.5.1970-1990 / Time for afirmation

In Quebec, it took time for a clear Quebec government policy on Indigenous matters to
develop.#® Establishing the DGNQ in the early 1960s was the first step in this direction 4>
The department's creation was followed by the negotiation of the JBNQA and Northeastern
Québec Agreement (NEQA) in the 1970s.4® The signing of these agreements represented a
political turning point. For the first time, a Québec policy was the result of direct negotiations
with Indigenous peoples, who were acknowledged as having a role to play in their own
local government, and in the delivery of public services.#9

421 Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996), op. cit., p. 216-217; testimony of
Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 150-151, lines 21-7; testimony of
Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 59-60, lines 21-1; testimony of Maryse Picard,
stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 34-35, lines 18-1.

422 Testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 35, lines 1-8; testimony of
Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 151, lines 18-24.

423 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 152, lines 10-21.

424 Cardinal, H. (1970). The Unjust Society: The Tragedy of Canada’s Indians. Montréal, Québec: M. G. Hurtig,
Ltd.

425 Testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 60, lines 1-8; document PD-11
(Commission), op. cit., p. 21.

426 Gourdeau, E. (1994). Le Québec et la question autochtone. In A.-G. Gagnon (dir.), Québec: Etat et société
(Volume I, p. 329-355). Montréal, Québec: Québec-Amérique, p. 331.

427 Ducharme. (2009), op. cit., p. 51.

428  Northeastern Québec Agreement, Members of the Shefferville Naskapi band, Government of Québec,
James Bay Energy Corporation, James Bay Development Corporation, Grand Council of the Crees, Northern
Québec Inuit Association and Government of Canada, January 31, 1978.

420 Salée, D. (2003). L’Etat québécois et la question autochtone. In A.-G. Gagnon (dir.), Québec: Etat et
société (Volume 2, p. 117-147). Montréal, Québec: Editions Québec Amérique, p. 120-121; testimony of
Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 128, lines 19-25.



3.5.1 Confrontations and negotiations

On April 30, 1971, Quebec Premier Robert Bourassa announced what he called the “project of
the century": the hydroelectric development of James Bay.4° This monumental plan sought
to build several dams on northern Québec rivers, in order to create jobs while ensuring the
province's energy future 3t Quebec expertise in hydropower was well established, particularly
with the development of the Manicouagan and Outardes rivers in the North Shore region.
The nationalization of electricity in 1063 made it a symbol of the Quiet Revolution and new
economic modernity of Francophone Quéebec.43 The Bourassa government wanted to make
the James Bay development a true societal project. However, at no time were the Indigenous
peoples residing within this territory ever consulted 43 From their point of view, their rights
have never been ceded by treaty, as specified in An Act to extend the Boundaries of the Province
of Quebec, 191243 The Québec government claimed instead that the ancestral rights of the
province's Indigenous peoples had probably been extinguished implicitly by the French
Regime*¥ Thus, the James Bay development created a clash between two opposing views
of the territory: those of Indigenous peoples, rooted in an ancestral relationship of reciprocity,
and those of non-Indigenous peoples, driven by the development by and for the people
in southern Québec.4¥* On the Cree side as on the Inuit side, young Indigenous leaders like
Billy Diamond and Zebedee Nungak organized the protest of the hydropower project on
their lands.4” Their activism launched a movement of national unity and would soon lay the
groundwork for the current political structures in Northern Québec.

430  Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 101, lines 3-12; testimony
of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 140, lines 20-25; testimony of Bill Namagoose,
stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 94-95, lines 23-6; Présentation de Martin Papillon: La
Convention de la Baie James et du Nord quebécois : quel bilan?, document P-634 (Commission), p. 7.

431 Savard, S. (2013). Hydro-Québec et I'Etat québécois, 1944-2005. Québec, Québec: Editions du Septentrion,
p. 202 and 244; Desbiens. (2015), op. cit,, p. 26-33.

432 Desbiens. (2015), op. cit., p. 33—-43; testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018,
p. 140, lines 16-20.

433 Savard. (2013), op. cit., p. 358; testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018,
p. 95, lines 19-24; Cree Nation Governance / La gouvernance de la Nation crie aujourd’hui, document P-663
(Commission), p. 12.

434 An Act to extend the Boundaries of the Province of Québec, 1912, op. cit., s. 2c) to e); testimony of Martin
Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 141-142, lines 20-18; testimony of Roméo Saganash,
stenographic notes taken October 27, 2017, p. 156-157, lines 20-3; document P-634 (Commission), op. cit.,
p. 7.

435  This position, which Indigenous peoples in Québec have always firmly opposed, would be refuted by
the Supreme Court of Canada in the 1990s: R. v. C6té, [1996] 3 S.C.R. 139 and R. v. Adams, [1996] 3
S.C.R. 101.

436 Thibault M. (2009). Hydro Development in Québec and Manitoba: Old Relationships or New Social Contract?
In M. Thibault and S. M. Hoffman (ed.), Power Struggles. Hydro Development and First Nations in Manitoba
and Québec (p.19-38). Winnipeg, Manitoba: University of Manitoba Press; Carlson, H. (2004). A Watershed
of Words: Litigating and Negotiating Nature in Eastern James Bay, 1971-75. Canadian Historical Review,
85(1), 63-84; testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 141, lines 5-20.

437 MacGregor, R. (1989). Chief: the Fearless Vision of Billy Diamond. Markham, Ontario: Viking Canada;
Nungak, Z. (2017). Wrestling with Colonialism on Steroids: Québec Inuit Fight for their Homeland. Montréal,
Québec: Véhicule Press.
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In 1972, the Eeyou (Cree) and Inuit, under the auspices of IQA, instituted legal proceedings
and asked the Superior Court of Québec to stop work already underway in James Bay.43¥ On
November 15, 1973, Justice Malouf was sympathetic to their application for an interlocutory
injunction and ordered the shutdown of the site as well as the respect for the rights,
environment and natural resources of the territory.4 The Court of Appeal of Quebec would
quickly reverse the injunction#° and the work would continue, but the decision of the Superior
Court was still a turning point in the relations between Indigenous peoples and the Québec
government.#4t Henceforth, the negotiated solution would be encouraged and the rights
of Indigenous peoples would no longer be systematically ignored.? In the Calder*3 case,
the ruling rendered by the Supreme Court of Canada in January 1973 already announced
a change of course in this regard, while recognizing for the first time the possibility of the
existence of Indigenous title on Canadian lands.#4 The next two years would be devoted
to intense negotiations, which would see certain gaps in the Indigenous common front.
In 1974, the Eeyou (Cree) decided to withdraw from the IQA the mandate to negotiate on
their behalf, to take care of the talks themselves.4 The interests of the Anishnabek, Innus
and Atikamekw Nehirowisiw in this territory were no longer being directly defended. As for
the Naskapis, they would join the negotiations, but would sign their own agreement, the
Northeastern Québec Agreement, in 1978446 In final negotiations, three Inuit communities
(Puvirnituq, Ivujivik and Salluit) would withdraw from the process.#4 To date, Puvirnituq is
still considered an unceded territory by the Inuit.

438 Deschénes, J.-G. and Vincent, S. (1988). La Convention dans la marche des Autochtones canadiens vers
leur autonomie. Eléments de chronologie, 1967-1987. In S. Vincent and G. Bowers (dir.), Baie-James et Nord
québécois : Dix ans apres (p. 215-238). Montréal, Québec: Recherches amérindiennes au Québec; Gagnon,
A. G. and Rocher, G. (2002). Reflections of the James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement. Montréal,
Québec: Editions Québec-Amérique; testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25,
2017, p. 103-104, lines 22-5; testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 96,
lines 6-9 and p. 97, lines 8-17.

439 Chief Max “One-Onti” Gros-Louis et al. v. The James Bay Development Corporation et al., [1974] R. P. 3,
p. 220-221; testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 97, lines 12-24;
testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 163-164, lines 24-16.

440 The Court of Appeal suspended the interlocutory injunction granted by Justice Malouf on
November 22, 1973. The James Bay Development Corp. et al. v. Chief Robert Kanatewat et al. and La
Commission Hydro-Electrique du Québec v. Chief Robert Kanatewat et al., [1973] C.A. 09-00890-73 and
09-000896-73. Then, the Court of Appeal overturned one year later the decision of the Superior Court and
denied the injunction. The James Bay Development Corp. et al. v. Chief Robert Kanatewat et al., [1974]
C.A. 166.

441 Blancquaert, L. (2011). L'impact du jugement Malouf au Québec (1973-1974). Québec, Québec: Fondation
Jean-Charles Bonenfant; testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 98,
lines 9-15; testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 143, lines 6-18;
document P-634 (Commission), op. cit., p. 8; document P-663 (Commission), op. cit., p. 13.

442 Testimony of Michel Morin, stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 62, lines 4-16.

443 Calder et al. v. Attorney-General of British Columbia, [1973] S.C.R. 313.

444 Testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 97, lines 3-7; testimony of Martin
Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 139, lines 3-24.

445  Turcotte. (2018), op. cit., p. 70; testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017,
p. 104-105, lines 23-5; testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 100-101,
lines 15-3.

446 Northeastern Québec Agreement, op. cit.; testimony of Noah Swappie, stenographic notes taken
June 16, 2017, p. 14, lines 13-19.

447 S. Vincent, and G. Bowers (1988). Baie James et Nord québécois : Dix ans apres. Montréal, Québec:
Recherches ameérindiennes au Québec, p. 223-224; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 210-211.



" So, Puvirnituq is not categorized. There's no category of land in Puvirnituq. [.]
We benefit from the James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement, but we have
yet never accepted the provision that says: "We cede and surrender all of our
rights in exchange for other rights.” \We never accepted that provision and we
still don't. [.] We do not accept that provision: it's our territory! [.I And I'm very
proud of that. [.] We know who we are. Yes. *

Lisa Qiluggi Koperqualuk, Inuit

(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 211)

Finally, after months of arduous discussions, an agreement was signed on November 11, 1975
between the Eeyou (Cree), the Inuit and the governments of Québec and Canada.“® The
JBNQA was the first modern treaty signed in Canada, encompassing all the lands in
Québec making up the James Bay and Hudson's Bay watershed .44 The Eeyou (Cree) and
Inuit then obtained monetary compensation in the amount of $225 million*®, in addition
to having reserved the use of certain lands for their exclusive development as well as for
their traditional hunting, trapping and fishing activities.#* They also obtained some form
of self-government#?, as well as powers in health, social services, education and public
safety (police services) and certain rights and privileges with respect to the administration
of justice#3 The Naskapis obtained similar powers from the Northeastern Quéebec
Agreement

In 1975, Liberal MNA John Ciaccia, who took part in the negotiations, stated that the JBNQA
was “a historic event for both the Indigenous peoples and the people of Québec as a
whole" 45 However, its implementation would remain a challenge, a source of tension and
dissatisfaction over the years#®, paving the way for new confrontations in the 1990s.

The negotiations surrounding the JBNQA were not the only ones to ignite tensions.
Management of the salmon rivers on the North Shore and in Gaspésie was also a major

448 James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement, op. cit.

449 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 105-106, lines 24-2;
testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 125, lines 2-4 and p. 149,
lines 22-24; testimony of Roméo Saganash, stenographic notes taken October 27, 2017, p. 155, lines 15-21.

450  James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement, op. cit., section 25.

451 Testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 158-159, lines 14-15;
document P-202, op. cit., p. 27.

452 Testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 151-252, lines 11-7 and
p. 165-166, lines 23-8.

453 Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25, 2017, p. 107, lines 7-13; testimony
of Abel Bosum, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 49-50, lines 23-3; testimony of Donald Nicholls,
stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 78-79, lines 25-12; testimony of Jean-Francois Arteau,
stenographic notes taken February 13, 2018, p. 83-84, lines 7-23; document P-634 (Commission), op. cit,
p. 14-15; document P-202 (Commission), op. cit., p. 57-94.

454  Testimony of Noah Swappie, stenographic notes taken June 16, 2017, p. 15, lines 11-18; Presentation of the
Naskapi Nation of Kawawachikamach, document P-023 (Commission), p. 9-11. They would receive for their
part compensation in the amount of $9 million.

455  National Assembly, Commission permanente des richesses naturelles, des terres et foréts, Journal des
débats, 30th Leg., 3rd session, issue 174, November 5, 1975, (J. Ciaccia).

456 Vincent and Bowers. (1988), op. cit., p. 6-8.
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source of confrontation between Indigenous peoples, the government and sport fishers 47
At the end of the 1970s and the beginning of the 1980s, the situation became explosive
and several conflicts erupted on the North Shore#® However, it is in Listuguj where the
confrontation gained the most momentum. On June 11, 1981, more than 500 police officers
and wildlife officers cordoned off the Mi'lgmag community to seize fishing gear, make arrests
and suspend band council powers#%® Many police cases of abuse were reported by the
Commission des droits de la personne® and the Ligue des droits et libertés.#* Then, despite
a second operation on the Restigouche River on June 20 and the occupation of an outfitting
operation in Nutashkuan the following year, tensions gradually subsided. Agreements were
signed to allow Indigenous peoples to regain control of their rivers. However, the “salmon
war" would leave a lasting mark on the affected Innu and Mi'gmaq communities.

“There were problems there, with the fishery guardians, the people who were
monitoring salmon fishing on the Moisie River. It's clear that there were some
altercations, really substantial, you know. Dangerous even, for a while. Between
the Innus who wanted to fish with nets and the fishery guardians. [..] [Tlhere was
a death, among other things. .1 At night, they went net fishing, then the fishery
guardians arrived, then there was a gunshot, all of that. People said it was an
accident”
Réginald Vollant, Innu Nation
(Document PD-16, p. 180-181)

3.5.2 The establishment of public services

By the 1960s, against mounting tensions in the field, Québec public services were
gradually assuming their current form. Indigenous communities were not forgotten and the
government was increasingly concerned with the social problems affecting them.42 Cultural
differences, however, were still viewed as barriers to be overcome to reduce disparities
through the introduction of “cultural bridges,” such as an Indigenous constabulary and
police force or courts that were more open to local realities. 3

In 1965, the federal Department of Indian and Northern Affairs instituted the first band constable
programs whose powers remained limited and subordinate to regular police forces* The

457 Testimony of Pierre Lepage, stenographic notes taken June 15, 2017, p. 9-10, lines 22-15.

458 McKenzie and Vincent. (2010), op. cit., p. 108-109; Commission d’enquéte sur les événements entourant
les déces de messieurs Achille Vollant et Moise Régis survenus en 1977. (1998). Québec, Québec, Québec
Official Publisher; testimony of Jean O’Bomsawin, stenographic notes taken November 23, 2017, p. 83-84,
lines 25-7; testimony of Stanley Vollant, stenographic notes taken November 17, 2017, p. 26-27, lines 22-3;
testimony of Jean-Charles Piétacho, stenographic notes taken June 16, 2017, p. 113-114, lines 15-15; Brief
of the Regroupement Mamit Innuat. (November 30, 2018). Document P-1175 (Commission), brief M-034, p. 8.

459  McKenzie and Vincent. (2010), op. cit., p. 105; testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken
September 26, 2017, p. 11-132, lines 14-14.

460  Today, the Commission des droits de la personne et des droits de la jeunesse.

461 McKenzie and Vincent. (2010), op. cit., p. 104-105; Obomsawin, A. (filmmaker). (1984). Incident at
Restigouche [Documentary film]. Canada: National Film Board.

462 Jaccoud, M. (1992). Processus pénal et identitaire : le cas des Inuit au Nouveau-Québec. Sociologie et
sociétés, 24(2), document P-410 (Commission), p. 30.

463 Aubert and Jaccoud. (2009), op. cit.,, p. 116.
464 Id., p. 104.



release of the Laing Report in 1967, acknowledging the over-representation of Indigenous
people in prisons, nevertheless revealed a budding awareness of the limits of the traditional
models and the need to make significant changes.®s These criticisms would be repeated
in the decades to follow, with one report after another4® decrying the lack of “sensitivity
to cultural considerations, lack of community input, biased investigations, minimal crime
prevention programming, and [..] alienation from the justice system [of] Aboriginal people"4©7

In the early 1970s, a new approach was favoured: the creation of Indigenous quotas
integrated within the regular police forces.4%® This opening to cultural diversity, coinciding
with the official adoption by the federal government of the multiculturalism policy in 19714,
was nevertheless not yet consistent with a rationale of empowerment.

In Québec, the Indigenous were little inclined to accept the presence of the SQ in their
communities, particularly given the tensions experienced with the Quéebec government
in the JBNQA negotiations.#° The creation of the Amerindian Police Council, in the late
1970s, however, allowed for the training of Indigenous police officers who would now
have full peace officer status.#* An opening to genuine self-governance was beginning to
materialize. The JBNQA, signed in 1975, also provided for the training of special Indigenous
constables within the SQ.42 However, from the start this plan was intended as a transition
program at the end of which the Eeyou (Cree) and Naskapi communities, as well as Inuit
communities, would have self-administered police forces.4? In 1979, by way of a band
resolution, the Mohawks of Kahnawake, who rejected provincial policing authorities in their
community, formed their own police force, the Kahnawake Peacekeepers. 44 It was the first
self-administered Indigenous police force in Canada.+s

465  Canadian Corrections Association. (1967). Indians and the Law (Laing Report). Ottawa, Ontario: Queen’s
Printer; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 21.

466 Task Force on Indian Policing. (1973). Indian Policing Policy Review: Task Force Report. Ottawa, Ontario:
Department of Indian and Northern Affairs Canada; Griffiths, C. T. and Yerbury, J. C. (1984). Natives and
Criminal Justice Policy: The Case of Native Policing. Canadian Journal of Criminology, 26(147), 147-160.

467 Public Safety Canada. (2016). 2014-2015 Evaluation of the First Nations Policing Program Final Report.
Retrieved from https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/vitn-frst-ntns-pleng-2015/index-en.aspx, p. 2.

468 Jaccoud, M. (2002). La justice pénale et les Autochtones : D’'une justice imposée au transfert de
pouvoirs. Canadian Journal of Law and Society/ Revue Canadienne Droit et Société, 17(2), document P-404
(Commission), p. 112.

469  House of Commons, Journals, 28th Parl., 2nd Session., October 8, 1971, p. 8540-8548 (P. E. Trudeau).
470 Aubert and Jaccoud. (2009), op. cit., p. 110-111.
471 Id., p. 111,

472 James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement, op. cit., chap. 19 and 21. For the Naskapis, see also the
Northeastern Québec Agreement, op. cit., chap. 13; testimony of Jean-Pierre Larose, stenographic notes
taken November 22, 2018, p. 21-22, lines 21-2; testimony of David Bergeron, stenographic notes taken
June 11, 2018, p. 28, lines 19-22.

473 The Eeyou-Eenou Police Force for the Eeyou (Cree), the Kativik Regional Police Force (KRPF) for the Inuit
and the Naskapi Police Service for the Naskapis. Aubert and Jaccoud. (2009), op. cit.,, p. 111. The creation of
the KRPF in Nunavik stemmed from an extensive consultation on the administration of justice. Quvrir la piste
vers un meilleur avenir, Rapport final du groupe de travail inuit sur la justice, document P-1141 (Commission).
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Regarding the administration of justice, the report La justice au-dela du 50° parallele®
triggered some important innovations, with the institution of itinerant courts.#”7 These were
gradually introduced in the Canadian North during the 1950s.47% In Quéebec, it was not until
Justice Malouf's 1970 ruling in /ttoshat*’e, denouncing the delocalization of justice toward
the south, that the need to look into adapting the justice system to the specific situation of
northern territories was raised.#®° In 1974, the Ministére de la Justice established an itinerant
court to serve the Cree communities of James Bay and the Inuit communities in Nunavik.48
Another circuit was subsequently established to serve the Innu and Naskapi communities
of the Lower North Shore and Schefferville region.

The JBNQA also included chapters on the administration of justice.*? These confirmed the
institution of an itinerant court and various measures were provided to adapt the judicial
system to Indigenous cultures, notably with respect to rules of practice, the training of
Indigenous staff and sentencing. The construction of detention facilities on Indigenous
territory was also announced in this agreement. However, most of these accommodation
measures would not be put into practice. The outcome was that in the mid-1980s, the track
record of the itinerant court since its inception remained mixed, even to some of its key
players.483

With respect to health and social services, the 1970s and 1980s would also be marked by a
new context. The signing of modern treaties by the Eeyou (Cree), Inuit and Naskapis granted
them a special status#®4 Under these agreements, the communities in question were
responsible for deploying and managing health and social services on their territories.4®
The agreements also called for the Ministere de la Sante et des Services sociaux du Quebec
to fund the deployment of services and infrastructures required in the communities.#®
This approach would give rise to the Cree Board of Health and Social Services of James

476 Comité d'étude sur I’administratiqn de la justice dans le nord québécois. (1972). La justice au-dela du
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481 Document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 22.

482 James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement, op. cit., chap. 18 and 20. For the Naskapis, see the
Northeastern Québec Agreement, op. cit., chap. 12; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 22-23.
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justice en milieu autochtone : vers une plus grande synergie. Québec, Québec: Cour du Québec, p. 15;
Jaccoud. (1995a), op. cit., p. 119-123.
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ministere de la Santé et des Services sociaux, document P-011 (Commission), p. 7.



Bay+¥7, the CLSC Naskapi“®® and later to the Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social
Services#® A few additional agreements would prove necessary to map out the workings
of this new sharing of responsibilities.4®°

By contrast, in communities not covered by an agreement, and still subject to the Indian
Act, the delivery and funding of health and social services were borne by the federal
government.#®* In other words, unless specifically agreed, no basic services were directly
provided to the communities by facilities in the Quéebec public health system 49 That said,
the legislation in force in Québec, including the Act respecting health services and social
services*? and the YPA*4 gpplied and had to be respected.*s The complexity of the sharing
of responsibility among the various levels of government would come with its share of
problems, which would last well beyond this period.

3.5.3 Turmoil in the Indigenous world

Mobilization around the James Bay hydroelectric project certainly played a key role in the
social, political and cultural turmoil in the Indigenous world throughout the 1970s. This
turmoil was also tied to an international environment that was becoming increasingly open
to Indigenous matters.

In the United States, the American Indian Movement, founded in 1968, gave unprecedented
visibility to Indigenous claims, with the staging of the Trail of Broken Treaties in Washington
in 1972 and occupation of the Wounded Knee Massacre site in 1973.4° That same year,
Marlon Brando refused the Oscar he was to receive for his performance in The Godfather
to denounce the derogatory manner in which Indigenous peoples were being portrayed in
American cinema as well as the Wounded Knee events.

Things were happening in Canada as well. During the summer of 1973, the offices of the
Department of Indian Affairs in Ottawa were occupied by Indigenous people, as was
Anicinabe Park in Kenora, Ontario, the following year. It was after these events that the idea

487 Testimony of Bella Petawabano, stenographic notes taken September 29, 2017, p. 86-87, lines 4-12;
document P-663 (Commission), op. cit., p. 20; Speaking notes of Grand Chief Dr. Matthew Coon Come for
the Grand Council of the Crees (Eeyou Istchee), Cree Nation Government, document P-009 (Commission),
p. 18, para. 86-76.

488 Testimony of Noah Swappie, stenographic notes taken June 16, 2017, p. 27, lines 10-14; document P-023
(Commission), op. cit., p. 23.

489 Testimony of Elisapi Uitangak, stenographic notes taken September 28, 2017, p. 159-160, lines 25-7;
testimony of Jobie Tukkiapik, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 160, lines 16-20.

490  Document P-009 (Commission), op. cit., p. 19, para. 88; testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes
taken June 11, 2018, p. 174-176, lines 11-5.

491 Testimony of Luc Castonguay, stenographic notes taken June 14, 2017, p. 85, lines 1-18.
492 Testimony of Luc Castonguay, stenographic notes taken June 14, 2017, p. 86-87, lines 20-1.
493 Act respecting health services and social services, R.S.Q. 1971, c. 48.

494 Youth Protection Act, op. cit.

495 Testimony of Luc Castonguay, stenographic notes taken June 14, 2017, p. 85-86, lines 19-8.

496 Deloria, V. J. (1985). Behind the Trail of Broken Treaties. An Indian Declaration of Independence. Austin,
Texas: University of Texas Press; Smith, P. C. and Warrior, R. A. (1997). Like a Hurricane: The Indian
Movement from Alcatraz to Wounded Knee (2nd ed.). New York, New York: The New Press.
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to hold the Native People's Caravan was born in Montréal, departing from Vancouver on
September 14, 1974 and ending with a protest on Parliament Hill in Ottawa. The protest was
brutally repressed by the police.4?”

In the face of government resistance and police repression, many Indigenous peoples
considered taking their cause on the international stage.“® These deliberations led to the
holding of the firstinternationalconference on discrimination against Indigenous populations
in the Americas in Geneva“® The members of the Haudenosaunee delegation travelled
there with their own handwritten leather passports as a gesture aimed at asserting their
sovereignty.5° Representations made to the UN in 1982 led to the forming of the Working
Group on Indigenous Populations (WGIP), which was tasked with, among other things,
developing human rights standards.5°* The WGIP was the first UN institution to fully embrace
the participation of the First Peoples.>°2 Beginning in 1985, it piloted the draft United Nations
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, which, after many tribulations, would finally
be adopted by the UN General Assembly on September 13, 20075°3 At the time, Canada
was among one of four countries to oppose it.5*

In Québec during the 1970s and 1980s, many Indigenous organizations and institutions
emerged in the political, cultural and social spheres. Weakened by the decision of the
Eeyou (Cree) to deal on their own with the government during the JBNQA negotiations,
the IQA was dissolved in 1977 to be replaced by the short-lived Confederation of Indians of
Queébec.5 It would take until 1985 for a new political organization to bring together all of
Quebec's First Nations communities. The Assembly of First Nations Quéebec-Labrador, with
ties to the Assembly of First Nations Canada, is still active today.5°®

By the end of the 1970s, political structures specific to each Indigenous nation also emerged,
enabling them to negotiate more effectively with governments. The Northern Québec Inuit
Association, which would become the Makivik Corporation after the JBNQA was signed,

497 Harper, V. (1979). Following the Red Path. The Native People’s Caravan. Toronto, Ontario: NC Press Limited.

498 Daes, E.-I. A. (2013). La contribution du groupe de travail sur les populations autochtones (GTPA) a la
genese et a I'évolution de la Déclaration des Nations unies sur les droits des peuples autochtones. In C.
Charters and R. Stavenhagen (dir.), La Déclaration des droits des peuples autochtones. Genéese, enjeux
et perspectives de mise en ceuvre (p. 51-79). Paris, France: L'Harmattan; testimony of Kenneth Deer,
stenographic notes taken February 19, 2018, p. 171, lines 13-24.

499 Testimony of Kenneth Deer, stenographic notes taken February 19, 2018, p. 172-174, lines 2-21; Kenneth
Deer Presentation, document P-418 (Commission), p. 32-33.

500  Testimony of Kenneth Deer, stenographic notes taken February 19, 2018, p. 172-173, lines 12-7.

501 Testimony of Kenneth Deer, stenographic notes taken February 19, 2018, p. 174-175, lines 22-4.

502 Daes. (2013), op. cit.; testimony of Paul Joffe, stenographic notes taken February 19, 2018, p. 94, lines 3-10.

503 United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, September 13, 2007, GA Res. 61/295;
Charters, C. and Stavenhagen, R. (2013). La Déclaration des Nations Unies sur les droits des peuples
autochtones : comment elle devint réalité et ce gu’elle annonce. In C. Charters and R. Stavenhagen (dir.),
La Déclaration des droits des peuples autochtones. Geneése, enjeux et perspectives de mise en ceuvre
(p. 13-19). Paris, France: L'Harmattan, p. 13.

504  Testimony of Paul Joffe, stenographic notes taken February 19, 2018, p. 94, lines 18-24.
505  Turcotte. (2018), op. cit., p. 132.
s06  Testimony of Ghislain Picard, stenographic notes taken June 6, 2017, p. 14, lines 16-23; Lepage, P. (2017).



was established in 197257 The Grand Council of the Crees was formed in 1974 after the
Eeyous (Cree) withdrew from the IQA.5%8

With the signing of the JBNQA and the NEQA, the Eeyous (Cree) and Inuit were able
to establish their own governance structures in 1978°°, that is, the Kativik Regional
Government (KRG)**° and the Cree Regional Authority.5* In 2012, the latter became the Cree
Nation Government following the agreement on governance in the Eeyou-Istchee James
Bay territory.52 As for the Naspakis, a seat is reserved for them on the KRG council 533

In 1975, the Atikamekw Nehirowisiw and the Innus joined diplomatic forces as the Conseil
des Atikamekw et des Montagnais (CAM)5% Through the years and over the course of
negotiations, the Conseil lost some members before being dissolved in 1995. It would be
replaced by three associations: the Conseil de la Nation Atikamekw, founded in 198255, the
Conseil tribal Mamit Innuat5® in 1988, and the Conseil tribal Mamuitun, founded in 1990.57
The Abénakis joined the Grand Conseil de la Nation Waban-Aki in 197958, and other tribal
councils were formed later, during the 1990s and 2000s.5*® Meanwhile, the Malécites would
not be recognized as a nation by the government until 1989.5%°

507 Testimony of Jobie Tukkiapik, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 1568-159, lines 16-4.
s08  Testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 100, lines 15-23.

509  Testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 165-166, lines 23-8. Provincial
laws were enacted to recognize their roles. The Act respecting Northern villages and the Kativik Regional
Government, R.S.Q. 1978, c. V-6.1; Act respecting the Cree Regional Authority, R.S.Q. 1978, c. A-6.1.

510  Testimony of Jennifer Munick, stenographic notes taken November 19, 2018, p. 96, lines 12-14; testimony of
Jobie Tukkiapik, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 160, lines 21-23.

511 Testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 113, lines 7-13.

512 Agreement on Governance in the Eeyou Istchee James Bay Territory between the Crees of Eeyou Istchee
and the Gouvernement du Québec, Gouvernement du Québec, Crees of Eeyou Istchee, July 24, 2012;
testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 132-133, lines 21-8.

513 Testimony of Jennifer Munick, stenographic notes taken November 19, 2018, p. 96, lines 10-11.

514  Frenette. (1996), op. cit., p. 544; Desbiens. (2015), op. cit., p. 44-45; PowerPoint, Regroupement Mamit
Innuat, Un regroupement d’avenir, document P-794 (Commission), p. 2.

515  Testimony of Constat Awashish, stenographic notes taken June 19, 2017, p. 15, lines 18-25.

516 Testimony of Serge Ashini Goupil, stenographic notes taken June 12, 2017, p. 31-32, lines 17-12; testimony
of Maude Bellefleur, stenographic notes taken September 10, 2018, p. 169, lines 9-24; Nation Innue
(presentation), document P-004 (Commission), p. 6; document P-794 (Commission), op. cit., p. 2. This
council included the Innu communities of Ekuanitshit (Mingan), Unamen Shipu (La Romaine) and Pakua
Shipu. Nutashkuan withdrew in 1998 to offer its own services.

517 Testimony of Serge Ashini Goupil, stenographic notes taken June 12, 2017, p. 32, lines 13-18;
document P-004 (Commission), op. cit., p. 7. This council included the Innu communities of Mashteuiatsh,
Essipit, Pessamit, Uashat mak Mani-Utenam and Matimekush-Lac John.

518 Grand Conseil de la Nation Waban-Aki. (2018). Our mission. Retrieved from https://gcnwa.com/en/
our-mission/.

519 Algonquin Anishinabeg Nation Tribal Council (2018). History and mission. Retrieved from http://www.
anishinabenation.ca/en/about/; Mi'gmawei Mawiomi Secretariat. (2018). The Mi'gmawei Mawiomi Mission.
Retrieved from https://www.migmawei.ca/about-us/.

520  Testimony of Amélie Larouche, stenographic notes taken September 14, 2018, p. 184, lines 15-25.
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“Things happened, you know. At the political level, in the government... [..] The
movement leading to a politicalawareness [..] happened there. [.I The Algonquin,
the Anishinabe here, we were the only ones who weren't yet organized or..
united. The Cree, it was done; the Atikamekw, it was done; the Innus, it was done;
the Mohawk, it was done; the Algonquin.. nobody.”

Richard Kistabish, Anishnabe Nation

(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 58)

Nonetheless, indigenous institutions were not confined to the political arena. The assertion
of Indigenous nations was also taking place in education and culture. In 1973, to provide
concrete follow-up to the publication of Indian Control of Indian Education®® by the National
Indian Brotherhood, Manitou College opened its doors on the former military base in La
Macaza, becoming the *first post-secondary institution in Québec designed specifically to
instruct Indigenous students"52 Students came from all corners of Canada. However, the
innovative experiment ended abruptly in 1976, mainly due to reduced federal funding. It
was not until 2011 that a similar institution saw the light of day in Québec with the opening
of the Kiuna College, located in the Abénakis community of Odanak 523

In 1978, the CAM also founded the Institut éducatif culturel atikamekw montagnais, which
would become the Institut culturel educatif montagnais in 1990, and then the Institut
Tshakapesh in 2009. Today, this organization is still devoted to passing down and promoting
Innu culture, be it through the production of instructional material or by supporting Innu
artists#* Following the creation of the Kativik Regional Government in 1978 in the wake
of the JBNQA?®%, the Inuit founded the Avataq Cultural Institute to promote their culture 52
In 1983, the Société de communication Atikamekw-Montagnais was launched, bringing
together 11 Innuand three Atikamekw Nehirowisiw communities within a single broadcasting
network.5?

3.5.4 Recognition of Indigenous peoples

In the early 1970s, Canada was a country in political turmoil. Given the rising tide of Québec
nationalism, the search for a new constitutionalarrangement appeared warranted. However,
the negotiations proved to be long and arduous. It wasn't until 1982 that the Constitution was

521 National Indian Brotherhood. (1972). Indian Control of Indian Education. Ottawa, Ontario: National Indian
Brotherhood, document P-183 (Commission).

522 Dufour, E. (2017). Du College Manitou de La Macaza a I'Institution Kiuna d’'Odanak : la genese des
établissements postsecondaires par et pour les Premieres Nations au Québec. Revue d'histoire de
I'’Amérique francaise, 70(4), p. 11 and 15.

523 Testimony of Prudence Hannis, stenographic notes taken October 25, 2017, p. 14-16, lines 17-16.

524 Institut Tshakapesh. (2018). Institut Tshakapesh. Retrieved from https://www.tshakapesh.ca/fr/institut-tsha-

kapesh_14/.

525  Testimony of Jennifer Munick, stenographic notes taken November 19, 2018, p. 96, lines 12-14.

526 Avataq Cultural Institute. (2018). Avataq Cultural Institute. Retrieved from http://www.avatag.qc.ca/en/Accueil.

527 Société de communication Atikamekw. (2018). SOCAM Tipatcimo Tipatshimu. Retrieved from http://www.
socam.net/socam.html.
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finally repatriated and the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms®® was added, although
Quebec refused to sign the finalagreement. The question of the place of Indigenous peoples
within Canada became urgent. Adopted under pressure from Indigenous organizationss,
section 35 of the Charter provides for the constitutional recognition and confirmation of
existing rights—ancestral or treaty—of Indigenous peoples, including the First Nations, the
Inuit and the Métis 53° Constitutional conferences were also planned to clarify the content of
the rights referred to in section 3553 These conferences would take place yearly between
1083 and 1985, then for a last time in 1987, without yielding any meaningful results 53

During this period, the Indigenous peoples did not confine themselves to political action.
They also made use of the courts53 In 1973, the Calders3 ruling by the Supreme Court
of Canada and the Malouf judgment?3, which ordered the suspension of work on the
James Bay hydroelectric project, obliged governments to recognize the existence of
Indigenous titles and rights. For the first time, judges spoke of Indigenous rights stemming
from their historical occupations¥® In reaction, in 1973, the federal government adopted
its first policy regarding comprehensive and specific land claims. This was a major policy
shift since the publication of the White Paper a few years earlier5¥ The Office of Native
Claims offered a political alternative to costly and uncertain litigation before the courts. It
nonetheless suffered credibility issues because it had little appearance of independence 5#®
This legal activism also brought the Québec government to the negotiating table, then led
to the JBNQA and the NEQA.

A sign of the new approach being taken by the Quéebec government, the DGNQ was
dissolved in 1978. A new government structure was created within Cabinet: the Secrétariat
aux activités gouvernementales en milieu ameérindien et inuits° Its mandate was to
coordinate the diverse actions of government departments and organizations offering

528 Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Part 1 of The Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the
Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c. 11

529 Miller. (2000), op. cit., p. 350.

530  Testimony of Serge Bouchard, stenographic notes taken September 25 2017, p. 168, lines 12-18; testimony
of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20 2017, p. 41, lines 12-16.

531 Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B of the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c. 11, s. 35.1, 37 and 37.1
(sections 35.1 and 37.1 were added under the terms of the Constitution Amendment Proclamation, 1983,
S1/84-102, and sections 37 and 37.1 are no longer in force); Peuples autochtones et droit constitutionnel,
document P-415 (Commission), para. 31.

532 Dupuis, R. (1991). La question indienne au Canada. Montréal, Québec: Boréal express, p. 89-98.
533  Testimony of Konrad Sioui, stenographic notes taken September 28, 2017, p. 27-30, lines 1-18.
534 Calder et al. v. Attorney General of British Columbia, 1973, op. cit.

535 Le chef Max « One Onti» Gros-Louis et autres c. Société de développement de la Baie James et autres,
1974, op. cit.

536  Document P-415 (Commission), op. cit., para. 52.1-62; testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken
June 20, 2017, p. 16, lines 19-23; testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p.
96-97, lines 19-24; testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 139, lines 2-24.

537 Testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 140, lines 6-15.
538 Miller. (2000), op. cit., p. 265.

539  Arrété en conseil concernant la création du secrétariat des activites gouvernementales en milieu amérindien
et Inuit, No. 154-78.
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direct services to Indigenous peoples as well as to develop government policies regarding
Indigenous peoples.5© In 1987, the name of this structure changed to the current Secrétariat
aux affaires autochtones. Its mandate was also changed to include the negotiation and
implementation of agreements between the government, the First Nations and the Inuit.5#

It was also in 1978 that a “historic” meeting took place in Québec between the provincial
government and over 125 Indigenous representatives .5 This first official meeting exposed
the depth of the chasm of misunderstanding between the parties, but also launched
the building of new bridges.52 In November 1982, a group of Indigenous representatives
proposed to the Québec government 15 principles for the recognition of their constitutional
rights5* Cabinet answered with a 15-point statement of principles’4, which has since
constituted the “basis for government action with regard to Indigenous”54¢ This first official
position would be followed by a parliamentary commission of the National Assembly on
the rights and needs of Indigenous peoples .5 The exercise concluded on March 20, 1985,
with the adoption of a resolution by the National Assembly of Québec acknowledging the
existence of 10 distinct Indigenous nations and their ancestral treaty rights.54

3.6. 1990-2001 / Toward self-determination

The signature of the JBNQA and the official recognition of Indigenous Nations by the
government marked an initial opening of Québec society to Indigenous realities in the
1970s and 1980s. On many issues, the frustrations experienced by Indigenous communities
continued. It was in this context that the Oka Crisis broke out in the summer of 19090 and
attempts to reintegrate Québec into the Canadian constitutional family came into play.
Among Indigenous peoples, the time to stand up had come.

540  Testimony of Patrick Brunelle, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 13, lines 7-22.

541 Testimony of Patrick Brunelle, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 16-17, lines 1-24; Décret
concernant le Secrétariat aux affaires autochtones, No. 17-87.

542 SAGMAI. (1979). Discours et Ateliers. La rencontre des Amerindiens du Québec et du gouvernement
québécois, les 13, 14 et 15 décembre 1978. Québec, Québec: Editeur officiel du Québec.

543 Trudel, P. (2010). Lorsque Rémi Savard rédigeait un «Livre blanc ». Recherches amérindiennes au Québec,
40(1-2), p. 32.

544 Bernier, C. (1984). La négociation de I'autonomie politique des Autochtones du Québec et le droit
international. Revue québécoise de droit international, 1, 359-372.

545  SAA, quinze principes adoptés par le Conseil des ministres le 9 février 1983, document P-805-17
(Commission).

546 Secrétariat aux Affaires autochtones. (2018). Mission and orientations of the Secrétariat. Retrieved from http://
saa.gouv.qc.ca/secretariat/mission_secretariat_en.htm#principles.
547 Gourdeau. (1994), op. cit.

548 National Assembly, Résolution de I’Assemblée nationale du Québec du 20 mars 1985 sur la reconnaissance
des droits des Autochtones, Journal des débats, 32nd Leg., 5th Session, Vol. 28, No. 39, p. 2570; Partenariat
développement actions : Affaires autochtones / orientations du gouvernement du Québec, document P-024A
(Commission), op. cit., p. 17-18; testimony of Patrick Brunelle, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017,

p. 14, lines 6-18. The National Assembly thereby recognized “the existence in Québec of Abénaquis,
Algonquin, Attikamekw, Cri, Huron, Micmaque, Mohawk, Montagnais, Naskapi and Inuit nations.” The
Malécite Nation was recognized as the 11" Indigenous nation of Québec in 1989. National Assembly,
Résolution du 30 mai 1989 sur la reconnaissance de la nation malécite, Journal des débats, 33rd Leg.,
2nd Session, Vol. 30, No. 117, p. 6079.



3.6.1 Ongoing conflictual relations

The origins of the Oka Crisis dated back to the French Regime, when, in 1721, the Sulpicians
invited the Mohawk, Anishnabe and Nipissingue who had converted to Catholicism to
relocate to the seigneury of Lac-des-Deux-Montagnes#¥® The status of the community's
lands, known as Kanehsata:ke in the Mohawk language, were problematic from the start.
Mohawk oral tradition maintained that the French authorities had granted the seigneury
property that fully belonged to the Indigenous peoples, while the Sulpicians held that it
belonged to them 5% The disagreement continued under the British Regime, and starting
in 1781, the Mohawk presented several petitions and claims, all without success.s* The
concession of land by the Sulpicians to colonists in order to found the village of Oka only
intensified the conflict.

In 1945, the federal government bought unsold land in Oka for the Mohawks. Despite
repeated requests by Indigenous authorities, the land in question was not granted reserve
status.5? The refusal to officially recognize Indigenous rights maintained a climate of
recurring tension over the years. Ultimately, it was a project to expand a golf course in Oka
coupled with a real estate development on the contested land that ignited the powder keg
in 1090.553

In March, barricades were erected as protest by Kanehsata:ke community members on
a secondary road leading to the land slated for development5s* Following an injunction
granted by the courts®ss, the SQintervened on the site on July 11. Agunfight erupted, resulting
in the death of Corporal Marcel Lemay of the SQ. In support of those in Kanehsata ke, the
Mohawks of Kahnawa ke blocked the Mercier Bridge, a major access route to the island of
Montreal.55 In Kanehsata ke, a long siege of the Mohawk barricade began, first by the SQ,
then, starting in August, by the Canadian Army, finally drawing to a close on September 26.5%7

"It was horrible [.] [Wle lived off-reserve and.. many of the vigilantes that were
causing a lot of the commotion that was going on.. [..] Throwing, [.] and burning
effigies.. and they knew where we lived. And, one night, we got a knock on the

549 Gabriel, B., and Van den Hende, A. (2010). At The Woods’ Edge: An Anthology of the History of the People of
Kanehsatake. Kanehsata:ke, Québec: Kanehsatake Education Centre, p. 20-28; testimony of Michel Morin,
stenographic notes taken December 7, 2017, p. 29, lines 10-22.

550  Lepage, P. (2009). Oka, 20 ans déja! Les origines lointaines et contemporaines de la crise. Recherches
ameérindiennes au Québec, 3%(1-2), p. 120-121.

551 Id., p. 122.

s52  Id., p. 123; Chalifoux, E. (2009). Prés de trois siécles de revendications territoriales. Recherches
ameérindiennes au Québec, 39(1-2), p. 112.

553 Trudel, P. (2009). La crise d’'Oka de 1990 : Retour sur les événements du 11 juillet. Recherches
ameérindiennes au Quéebec, 39(1-2), p. 130-131.

554 Testimony of Ellen Gabriel Katsisakwas, stenographic notes taken December 8, 2017, p. 167, lines 2-4.

555 La municipalité d’'Oka c. Les membres de la bande autochtone « Six nations traditional hereditary chiefs »,
[1990] J. E. 90-1092 (C.S.).

556  Testimony of Dwayne Zacharie, stenographic notes taken June 19, 2018, p. 22, lines 7-11.

557 York, G. and Pindera, L. (1991). People of the Pines. The Warriors and the Legacy of Oka. Toronto, Ontario:
Little Brown; Obomsawin, A. (Director) (1993). Kanehsatake: 270 Years of Resistance [documentary].
National Film Board.
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door. I was already in bed. My ex-husband went to open the door. | was looking
out my bedroom window and when he opened the door, | could see, in big red
writing on the door, it said: "Déménage. Ah.. at that point, they were stoning our
building. And we lived in a four-plex, there were four families, and those other
three families that lived in our building took care of us. Anyways, that night, we
called the police, and the police said: "Ah, there's nothing we can do.”

Member of the Mohawk Nation
(Document PD-16 (Commission), p. 256-257)

The length and intensity of the conflict raised the awareness of the public and government
authorities of the extent and immediacy of Indigenous claims. The federal government
reacted by creating a Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples the following year.5% In 1996,
the Commission produced a lengthy final report containing over 400 recommendations
proposing a new framework for the relationship with Indigenous peoples based on the
recognition and affirmation of self-government.ss°

During this same period, the open political crisis over the unilateral repatriation of the
Constitution in 1982 continued. It culminated with the rejection of agreements negotiated
to regularize the situation, the Meech Lake Accord of 1990, then the Charlottetown Accord
in 10925 Throughout these negotiations, the Indigenous peoples and Québec sought to
assert their respective rights on the Canadian stage, causing some degree of friction. The
province therefore abandoned its project to develop a general policy on Indigenous peoples
that included self-governance, instead undertaking piecemeal negotiations with a number
of groups #* The Canadian constitutional conflict culminated with the 1995 referendum on
Québec independence, in which the Indigenous peoples, uneasy about recognition of their
rights, showed little enthusiasm for the sovereignist plan.5

In the minds of both the federal and provincial governments, the JBNQA should have
settled the claims of the signatory Indigenous nation once and for all. But, some 15 years
later, dissatisfaction with its implementation remained very high.5%3 Relations between the
Eeyou (Cree), the Inuit and the Québec government remained strained, as evidenced by
the negotiation of several side agreements to amend and complement the original text of

558 Testimony of Ellen Gabriel Katsisakwas, stenographic notes taken December 8, 2017, p. 201, lines 9-21.
559  Lavoie, M. (2007). Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples Recherches amérindiennes au Québec, 37(1).

560  Testimony of Roméo Saganash, stenographic notes taken October 27, 2017, p. 143, lines 2-9. The
Indigenous peoples were unsuccessful in having their inherent right to self-governance constitutionalized in
the Meech Lake Accord, pushing Manitoba Cree MLA Elijah Harper to oppose ratification by the Manitoba
Legislature, resulting in the Accord’s failure. Recognition of the right to Indigenous self-governance was
subsequently included in the Charlottetown Accord, but this agreement was rejected by Canadians in a 1992
referendum.

561 Dupuis, R. (1995). The government of Québec and Aboriginal self-government. Retrieved from http://
publications.gc.ca/site/eng/9.829754/publication.html, p. 68.

se2  Salée, D. (1994). L’Etat québécois et la question autochtone. In A.-G. Gagnon (dir.), Québec : Etat et société,
Vol. 2, (p. 68). Montréal, Québec: Editions Québec Amérique; Trudel, P. (1998). D'une obligation a I'autre.
L'indépendance du Québec et le droit des peuples autochtones. Recherches amérindiennes au Québec,
28(83), 54-59; testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 177, lines 7-12.

563 Testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 118-119, lines 18-14; testimony of
Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 174, lines 4-18; document P-1141, op. cit., p. 7.
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the Agreements®4, as well as the increasing number of legal proceedings. At the start of the
1990s, tensions reached new heights over forest conflicts involving the Eeyou (Cree) and
their international campaign to block the Great Whale hydroelectric development, a project
which would ultimately be abandoned 5%

Given the difficulties encountered at the political level, the Indigenous peoples did not
hesitate to turn again to the courts to have their rights upheld. The year 1990 proved to
be pivotal in this regard. Indeed, it was in 1990, with the R. v. Sparrows®s, decision that the
Supreme Court of Canada spelled out the existence and scope of Indigenous ancestral
rights protected under section 35 of the Constitution of 198257 Several judgments also had
a specific impact in Québec, especially the Sioui decisions®®, which recognized a document
signed by the British General Murray and presented to the Hurons-Wendat in 1760 as
constituting a treaty.5% This was the first decision to recognize Indigenous rights on Québec
territory, outside the regions covered by the JBNQA.

For the nations with agreements, specifically the Eeyou (Cree), the conflicts were in large
part resolved with the negotiation of the Agreement concerning a new relationship between
le Gouvernement du Quéebec and the Crees of Québec®° in 2002. Dubbed the “Peace of
the Braves,” this agreement launched a new ‘nation-to-nation” partnership to ensure
the economic and social development of James Bay* A similar accord, the Sanarrutik
Agreement, would be signed that same year with the Inuit.572

3.6.2 Public services offered by the Québec government

A new approach on Indigenous issues gradually began taking shape in some government
departments, starting in the early 1990s. Where cultural differences had once been

s64 At that time, there were 24 side agreements to the James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement, the last
in 2012, and three to the Northeastern Québec Agreement, document P-010 (Commission), op. cit., p. 12,
para. 56.

565  Testimony of Matthew Coon-Come, stenographic notes taken June 14, 2017, p. 25, lines 2-10; testimony
of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 122-123, lines 24-22 et p. 121, lines 8-14;
testimony of Martin Papillon, stenographic notes taken June 11, 2018, p. 176, lines 10-17 et p. 225,
lines 7-25; document PD-16 (Commission), op. cit., p. 53-56.

se6 . v. Sparrow, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 1075; testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017,
p. 47, lines 10-23.

567 The Supreme Court subsequently developed its theory of ancestral rights in a series of judgments,
particularly: R. v. Van der Peet, [1996] 2 S.C.R. 507; R. v. N.T.C. Smokehouse Ltd., [1996] 2 S.C.R. 672; R.
v. Gladstone, [1996] 2 S.C.R. 723; Delgamuukw v. British Columbia, [1997] 3 S.C.R. 1010; R. v. Marshall,
[1999] 3 S.C.R. 533; Haida Nation v. British Columbia (Minister of Forests), 2004 SCC 73; Nation Tsilhqot'in v.
British Columbia, 2014 SCC 44.

s68  R.v. Sioui, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 1025; testimony of Konrad Sioui, stenographic notes taken September 28, 2017,
p. 24-29, lines 19-8.

569 Testimony of Kateri Vincent, stenographic notes taken September 28, 2017, p. 21-22, lines 22-20.

570 Agreement concerning a new relationship between le Gouvernement du Québec and the Crees of Québec,
Gouvernement du Québec, Crees of Québec, February 7, 2002.

571 Testimony of Bill Namagoose, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2018, p. 129, lines 2-22 and p. 124,
lines 12-17.

572 Partnership Agreement on Economic and Community Development in Nunavik (Sanarrutik Agreement),
Makivik Corporation, Kativik Regional Government and the Gouvernement du Québec, April 9, 2002;
testimony of Jobie Tukkiapik, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 159, lines 20-25.
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perceived as obstacles to be eliminated, it was now considered more important to recognize
them and take them into account to make it possible to live side by side.53 Section 35 of the
Constitution Act, 1982, which was slow to be implemented, inspired this vision 574

The principles of self-government also underpinned the First Nations Policing Policy
(FNPP) adopted by the federal government in 199155 This policy was put in place to align
Indigenous policing programs developed since the 1960s across Canada. It also aimed
to address the failure of previous models, which, in particular, were unable to reduce the
Indigenous presence in the criminal justice system.5”° Some reports produced in the early
1990s raised the issue of unprofessionalism and discrimination of the regular police forces
in their dealings with Indigenous peoples. Issues cited included the negative perceptions of
the special constables, their insufficient number and the unfair treatment reserved for them
(especially in terms of training and compensation), as well as underuse of the community
and preventive approaches.5”7 In answer to these criticisms, the FNPP aimed for negotiation
of tripartite agreements among the federal, provincial and Indigenous governments. The
goal was to establish police departments that would be self-governed by the Indigenous
communities or, in the absence of agreements, recourse to the provincial police force (the
SQin Québec's case) 578 Policing would be fully funded by the governments, with the federal
government assuming 52.0%, and the provincial 48.0%, all under signed agreements.5° This
system, still in place today, seeks to respond to the criticisms of the former “non-native
Western-urban model"s%°

The development of self-administered Indigenous police forces did not necessarily mean
radical transformations in police practices. The laws and regulations applied continued
to be those proposed by the State, through band councils and governments.5® Several
initiatives were nonetheless introduced in the justice system to take cultural differences
into account, including developing awareness among nhon-Indigenous personnel.

573 Aubert and Jaccoud. (2009), op. cit., p. 116.

574 Id., p.113.

575  Testimony of Richard Coleman, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 104, lines 2-7.
576  Jaccoud. (2002), op. cit.,, p. 113.

577 Depew, R. (1986). Native policing in Canada: a review of current issues. Ottawa, Ontario: Ministry of the
Solicitor General; Head, R. H. D. (1989). Policing for Aboriginal Canadians: the R.C.M.P. Role. Ottawa,
Ontario: Royal Canadian Mounted Police; Royal Commission on the Donald Marshall, Jr., Prosecution. (1989).
Digest of findings and recommendations. Retrieved from https://novascotia.ca/just/marshall_inquiry/ docs/
Royal%20Commission%200n%20the %20Donald%20Marshall%20Jr%20Prosecution_findings.pdf; Law
Reform Commission of Canada. (1991). Aboriginal peoples and criminal justice: equality, respect and the
search for justice. Ottawa, Ontario.

578 Aubert and Jaccoud. (2009), op. cit., p. 114; testimony of Richard Coleman, stenographic notes taken
June 13, 2017, p. 99, lines 14-25 and p. 105-106, lines 20-7.

579  Testimony of Richard Coleman, stenographic notes taken June 13, 2017, p. 104, lines 7-11.
580  Depew. (1986), op. cit., p. ix.

581 Jaccoud. (2002), op. cit., p. 113 and 116; testimony of Richard Coleman, stenographic notes taken
June 13, 2017, p. 102-108, lines 23-4.
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In 1981, the organization Native Para-Judicial Services of Quebec was launched to offer
assistance to Indigenous people involved with the justice system, whether as a victim,
witness or accused.s®? Starting in the 1990s, several reflections were also undertaken at
the federal and provincial levels to propose improvements or even alternatives to the state
justice system in places® In Quebec, the Sommet de la Justice, held in 1992, led to the
creation of a Comité de consultation sur ladministration de la justice en milieu autochtone,
presided over by Justice Jean-Charles Coutu, who issued his report in 1995.5% It made
some 50 recommendations to create an overall strategy for the administration of justice
in Indigenous communities in order to improve the state justice system and move toward
the gradual assumption of responsibility by Indigenous communities. Many of these ideas
were implementeds®, such as appointing Indigenous justices of the peaces®®, adapting
sentencing practicess®’, implementing Indigenous community justice programs (often
called justice committees) with the mission of dejudicializing and offering accused parties
alternative measures through their communitys®, improving itinerant court services and
holding legal terminology workshops in Indigenous languages.5®°

s82  Testimony of Sharon McBride, stenographic notes taken September 14, 2017, p. 53, lines 11-15 and p. 54,
lines 14-16; DG-0204-C, Les services parajudiciaires autochtones du Québec (SPAQ), document P-839-81
(Commission).

583  Document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 24-26; Justice Canada. (1991). Aboriginal Justice Initiative.
Ottawa, Ontario: Supply and Services Canada; Groupe de travail sur I'accessibilité a la justice. (1991). Jalons
pour une plus grande accessibilité a la justice. Québec, Québec: Ministere de la Justice; Justice Canada.
(1996). The Aboriginal Justice Strategy. Ottawa, Ontario: Supply and Services Canada; Royal Commission
on Aboriginal Peoples. (1996). Bridging the cultural divide: a report on Aboriginal people and criminal justice
in Canada. Ottawa, Ontario: Canada Communication Group; Québec Grand Council of the Crees. (1991).
Justice for the Cree: final report. Nemaska, Québec: Québec Grand Council of the Crees; document P-1141
(Commission), op. cit.

s84  Gouvernement du Québec. (1993). La justice, une responsabilité a partager : les actes du Sommet de
la justice tenu a Québec du 17 au 21 février 1992. Québec, Québec: Ministere de la Justice; Comité
de consultation sur I'administration de la justice en milieu autochtone. (1995). La justice pour et par les
Autochtones. Québec, Québec: Ministere de la Justice; document PD-11 (Commission), op. cit., p. 26.

585  Jaccoud. (2002), op. cit., p. 113-116.

586  In Québec, Indigenous justices of the peace were appointed under section 107 of the Indian Act in the
Mohawk (Kahnawa:ke and Akwesasne) and Innu (Mashteuiatsh) communities. In addition, Indigenous
justices of the peace with limited powers were appointed in the Eeyou (Cree) and Inuit communities. Les
juges de paix, document P-839-105 (Commission), p. 4 and 13.

587 At the federal level, this approach is embodied in the 1996 adoption of section 718.2(e) of the Criminal Code,
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46 and in the decisions R. v. Gladue, [1999] 1 S.C.R. 688 and R. v. Ipeelee, 2012 SCC 183;
Denis-Boileau, M.-A. and Sylvestre, M.-E. (2016). Ipeelee et le devoir de résistance. Canadian Criminal Law
Review, 21, 73-121, document P-058 (Commission); Jaccoud, M. (1999). Les cercles de guérison et les
cercles de sentence autochtones au Canada. Criminologie, 32(1), 79-105, document P-407 (Commission);
Les rapports Gladue, document P-839-102 (Commission).

588 Les comités de justice, document P-839-103 (Commission); Alternative Measures Program for adults in
Aboriginal communities, document P-839-104 (Commission); DG-0024-C, Informations sur les Comités de
justice communautaire, document P-839-11 (Commission), tab 11.1.1, p. 19 of 940 (online PDF).

589 Working group composed of representatives of the Court of Québec, the Ministére de la Justice, the
Directeur des poursuites criminelles et pénales and the Secrétariat aux Affaires autochtones. (2008), op. cit.,
p.17.
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In the area of correctional services, the main initiative in the 1990s was adoption by the
federal government of a law proposing services adapted to Indigenous clienteles59°
However, there were no equivalent measures at the provincial level.

In health and social services, while the public health care system was undergoing major
reforms, the organization of services offered to Indigenous peoples remained unchanged.
Strictly speaking, funding and services continued to be shared among several levels of
government, depending on the nature of the service and the person’s place of residence
(community under an agreement, community not under an agreement, or outside a
community). That said, inits Politique de la santé et du bien-étre, adopted in 1992, the Queébec
government for the first time officially acknowledged the harsh circumstances under which
the First Nations live and made Indigenous communities a priority target for intervention 5
To tackle these challenges, the policy proposed a progressive assumption of health and
social services by the communities themselves 59

Then, at the beginning of the 2000s, came the lesson of little Jordan River, who suffered
from a rare neuromuscular disorder. Caught in a jurisdictional squabble between the federal
government and the government of Manitoba, where he lived, the boy died without ever
being returned to his family home and community.5%3 At the heart of this human drama was
a fight between the two levels of government over financial responsibility for the homecare
the child needed ¥ Several years after the conflict began, the House of Commons passed
a motion stipulating that, in case of a jurisdictional dispute, the government that was
addressed first should pay for the services required and then, and only then, undertake
steps to pursue sharing of costs.5%

At this same time, a growing number of communities, concerned with their people's state
of health, sought special agreements with the government to assume greater responsibility
for the service offer. In 2001, the Québec government opened the door in the area of youth
protection, changing the law to allow communities to establish their own youth protection
program.®® A number of nations expressed interest, including the Atikamekw Nehirowisiw

500  Corrections and Conditional Release Act, S.C. 1992, c. 20, s. 79-84.

591 Gouvernement du Québec. (1992). La politique de la santé et du bien-étre. Québec, Québec: ministere de la
Santé et des Services sociaux, p. 164.

592 |bid.

593 Testimony of Cindy Blackstock, stenographic notes taken September 4, 2018, p. 98-100, lines 12-7;
testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 44, lines 19-25.

594  Testimony of Cindy Blackstock, stenographic notes taken September 4, 2018, p. 99, lines 13-23; testimony
of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 44, lines 5-19; testimony of Sébastien
Grammond, stenographic notes taken September 22, 2017, p. 193, lines 9-12.

595  House of Commons of Canada, Journals, 39th Parl., 2nd Session, No. 36, document P-772-4 (Commission);
testimony of Cindy Blackstock, stenographic notes taken September 4, 2018, p. 132, lines 10-15; testimony
of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 45, lines 5-12. A second motion would also be
passed in 2016. House of Commons of Canada, Journals, 42nd Parl., 1s'Session, No. 102, document P-772-5
(Commission).

596  Testimony of Maryse Picard, stenographic notes taken June 20, 2017, p. 59, lines 10-16; Youth Protection
Act, CQLR, c. P-34.1, s. 37.5; testimony of Anne Fournier, stenographic notes taken October 23, 2017, p. 75,
lines 12-18.



Nation, which had already implemented an intervention system under Atikamekw authority
as a pilot®¥” However, it would be more than 16 years before the first agreement on youth
protection was signed.®® But the time for self-determination had nonetheless come. The
message was clear: more than merely being consulted, the nations wanted their own levers
of action.

This is the context in which the period under investigation by the Commission begins.
The next 15 years would be marked by major events in the area of relations, including the
First Nations Socioeconomic Forum in 2006, implementation of the TRC in 2008 and the
emergence of the Idle No More movement in 2012. Because these events coincide with
the testimonies of the witnesses who spoke at the hearings, they have nonetheless been
treated as evidence and are mentioned elsewhere in this report, sometimes as elements
of the regulatory framework of services under scrutiny, sometimes as contextual and
analytical elements.

That said, regardless of the angle from which they are examined, we can confirm without
fear of error that relations between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples are a complex
mosaic of policies, legislative measures and human relationships. Relations that, alas, have
all too often been mishandled and that still translate today into a lack of understanding and
a feeling of mutual distrust that is fertile ground for racism and systemic discrimination.

597 Testimony of Constant Awashish, stenographic notes taken June 19 2017, p. 41, lines 8-14; testimony of
Anne Fournier, stenographic notes taken October 23, 2017, p. 78, lines 13-15; testimony of Lucie Dubé,
stenographic notes taken February 22, 2018, p. 148-150, lines 6-2; testimony of Anne Fournier, stenographic
notes taken February 22, 2018, p. 166-167, lines 12-2.

598 Testimony of Anne Fournier, stenographic notes taken February 22, 2018, p. 177-178, lines 17-6; Entente
visant a établir un régime particulier de protection de la jeunesse pour les membres des communautés de
Manawan et de Wemotaci, document P-445 (Commission).
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CHAPTER 4

INDIGENOUS PEOPLES OF QUEBEC

Québec's Indigenous peoples encompass both First Nations and Inuit. The term First
Nations includes the Abénakis, Anishnabek (Algonquins), Atikamekw Nehirowisiw, Eeyou
(Cree), Hurons-Wendat, Innus, Malécites, Mi'gmaq, Mohawks and Naskapis. Members of
these peoples have settled from east to west and north to south. Some live in First Nations
communities®® or Inuit communities, others in urban areas. All are bearers of their own
unique culture based in large part on their traditional and contemporary living environment.

From the outset of the process, the Commission’'s team went to great lengths to obtain
statistical data on Québec's First Nations and Inuit. This proved to be very difficult. Not only
did the team regularly come up against a lack of data, but the data available turned out to
be piecemeal and posed significant limitations that meant having to handle it with extreme
caution.

In my view, the weakness of the data collected is in itself relevant to our inquiry. That is why |
still felt it appropriate to assemble the available information to provide a sociodemographic,
psychosocial, health, judicial and correctional profile of Indigenous people. Basically
quantitative, the content organized as such forms the bulk of this chapter. It is a baseline
from which we can collectively measure the progress made in coming years, at least |
hope. Although the statistics shed light on real phenomena, they must be interpreted
and used considering the historical context of colonization and the economic and social
marginalization that Indigenous peoples have faced for centuries.

In addition, since not everything is about statistics, the Commission’s team also looked
at what characterizes Indigenous people in terms of land, language, governance and
economics. The information collected was used to draw the geopolitical portrait presented.
Much of the information was gleaned from the evidence gathered by the Commission, both
through public hearings and interviews with individuals belonging to one or another group
of Indigenous peoples.6°

This chapter reflects the desire, expressed by several stakeholders, to foster a better
understanding of Indigenous peoples. Although it is far from comprehensive, it lays the
foundation for what | hope to be the beginnings of reconciliation and a path to progress in
the relations established with First Nations and Inuit.

599 The notion of Indigenous community must be understood here to include both reserves and Indian
settlements.

600  Perspectives historiques autochtones : entrevues, document PD-16 (Commission).
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4.1. Sociodemographic portrait

In Québec, as in Canada's other provinces, population is estimated using information
collected through the census conducted every five years by Statistics Canada. Using
certain mandatory questions, the five-year survey also paints a picture of ethnic diversity,
immigration, education, language and households. The last such exercise established
Quebec's total population at 8,394,034 in 2017.5

However, the population data collected by Statistics Canada do not provide a truly reliable
picture of Québec's Indigenous population. In fact, since it was voluntary to self-identify
as an Indigenous person for the census, the population data on First Nations and Inuit do
not have the same level of probity as the other information gathered. On top of that, some
Indigenous communities®® refused to let the census enumerators on their territory and, by
doing so, excluded their populations from the overall portrait created.

For all these reasons, a decision was made to refer to the Indian Register, the Register
of Cree and Naskapi Beneficiaries and the Register of Inuit beneficiaries to determine the
number of Indigenous people living in Québec, the demographic curve for Indigenous
peoples, and the male-to-female ratio 3

Despite the gapsidentified above, the statistics regarding place of residence, life expectancy,
family structure and education, as well as income and employment, are from Statistics
Canada. The scarcity, or even lack of, alternative information sources on these subjects with
respect to Indigenous peoples made this decision necessary.

4.1.1 Populations

According to the existing registers, Québec has 114,094 people of Indigenous origin (First
Nations and Inuit combined), that is, 1.4% of the province's total population.t®4 Of that
number, more than 100,000 (100,444) belong to a First Nations community.®® The most
populous nations are the Innus, with 23,297 registered individuals, and the Eeyou (Cree),
with 21,126 people of all ages.®°® Bringing up the rear are the Naskapis and Malécites, with
1,526 and 1,315 registered individuals, respectively.5

601 Institut de la statistique du Québec. (2018). Québec Handy Numbers. 2018 Edition. Québec City, Québec:
Institut de la statistique du Québec, p. 10. Based on Statistics Canada data.

602  This was the case for the communities of Kahnawa:ke, Kanehsata:ke, Akwesasne and Barriere Lake (Lac
Rapide) in 2016.

603  For more information on these registers and their methodological limitations, see Appendix 12.

604  Données populationnelles des Autochtones au Québec, document PD-13 (Commission). In order to ensure proper
representation, those aged 100 and older (2,101 in total) in the registers were excluded from all calculations
done from those sources. Because of its unique geographic location, straddling the Canada—US border and the
Québec—Ontario border, the Akwesasne community’s population was not taken into account either.

605  Document PD-13 (Commission), op. cit., p. 8. Total based on individuals listed in the Indian Register
(excluding Inuit, Eeyou (Cree) and Naskapis) and in the Register of Cree and Naskapi Beneficiaries.

606  Ibid.

607  Ibid. The detailed breakdown of First Nations population by nation as well as by community can be found in
Appendix 13. The home nation was based on the home community listed in the Indian Register.



The Inuit register is comprised of 13,650 registrants, which is 11.96% of the total Indigenous
population registered in Québec.t°® The four most populated communities are Kuujjuaq
(15.9% of the total Inuit population), Inukjuak (13.2%), Puvirnituq (12.5%) and Salluit (11.3%),
which alone account for more than half of the Inuit population (52.9%).5%

4.1.2 Place of residence

In Québec in 2016, over half of First Nations members, namely 55.6%, were living outside
the communities, most often in urban areas.®*® However, the situation was much different
for the Inuit, because, across Canada, close to three quarters of them (72.8%) were still living
in communities north of the 55th parallel.®*

However, this gap could narrow because, at the time of its last census, Statistics Canada
noted the growing numbers of Indigenous people in urban areas, both among First Nations
and Inuit.®2 Based on this data, Montreal has the seventh largest First Nations population in
urban Canada®®s and the third largest Inuit population.® Another important aspect is that,
over the course of 10 years, from 2006 to 2016, Quéebec's Indigenous population®s more than
doubled in three census metropolitan areas, Québec City, Saguenay and Sherbrooke

The Statistics Canada analysts refuse, however, to see this as a mass movement to the
cities. From their standpoint, the urbanization of Indigenous peoples is due to a number of
factors: the growing Indigenous population, both inside and outside the communities; the
overall mobility of the population; and the increase in the number of people choosing to
self-identify as Indigenous during the census.5”

At a hearing, the Regroupement des centres d'amitié autochtones du Québec indicated
that there are three key factors behind the migration of First Nations members and Inuit to
urban areas, namely education (35.0%), work (24.0%) and access to housing (11.0%).5%®

608 Id., p. 11. This number also includes Inuit who have not been living in Nunavik for more than 10 years.
609  Ibid. A detailed breakdown of the Inuit population by community can be found in Appendix 14.

610 Institut de recherche et d’informations socioéconomiques. (2018). Portrait des inégalités socioéconomiques
touchant les Autochtones du Québec. Montréal, Québec: Institut de recherche et d’informations socioécono-
miques, p. 4; Lévesque, C., and Cloutier, E. (2013). Les Premiers Peuples dans I'espace urbain au Québec :
trajectoires plurielles. In A. Beaulieu, S. Gervais, and M. Papillon (dir.), Les Autochtones et le Québec. Des
premiers contacts au Plan Nord (p. 281-296). Montréal, Québec: Presses de I'Université de Montréal.

611 Statistics Canada. (2017, October 25). Aboriginal peoples in Canada: Key results from the 2016 Census.
Ottawa, Ontario: Statistics Canada, p. 6.

612 Id.,p. 1.

613  Statistics Canada. (2017, October 25). Number of First Nations people, Métis and Inuit by selected census
metropolitan areas, 2016. [Research data available online]. Retrieved from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/
daily-quotidien/171025/cg-a005-eng.htm.

614  Statistics Canada. (2017, October 25). Aboriginal peoples in Canada: Key results from the 2016 Census, op.
cit, p. 9.

615  This figure also includes the Métis.

616  Statistics Canada. (2017, October 25). Aboriginal peoples in Canada: Key results from the 2016 Census, op.
cit., p. 10.

617 Id., p. 9; Lévesque, C., and Cloutier, E. (2013), op. cit., p. 281-296; testimony of Philippe Meilleur,
stenographic notes taken June 8, 2017, p. 22-23, lines 10-1.

618 Testimony of Philippe Meilleur, stenographic notes taken June 8, 2017, p. 22, lines 1-9.
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4.1.3 Demographic curve

According to data from the different registers available, the average age of Indigenous
people living in Québec is 37.3 years.®® Specifically, the average age for women belonging
to one of Québec's 11 Indigenous nations is 38.5 years, while that for men is 36 years.t® In
comparison, the average age for the population of Québec as a whole is 42.1 years. It stands
at 43 years for women and 41.2 years for men %

The Inuit have the lowest average age (28 years), which is on par with the Naskapis (28 years).
Not far behind are the Atikamekw Nehirowisiw (30 years) and Eeyou (Cree) (31 years).62
However, the Inuit and Naskapis stand out from the rest with half of their population under
the age of 25.52 Conversely, the highest average ages were recorded for the Malécites
(50 years), Abénakis (49 years), Hurons-Wendat (47 years) and Mohawks (46 years).524

According to the Institut de la statistique du Québec, the life expectancy of Quebecers, all
cultural affiliations combined, has increased steadily and stands at 82.7 years (80.8 years
for men and 84.5 years for women).?25 The Inuit have not seen a similar rise. In fact, life
expectancy was estimated at 67 years for the Nunavik population, that is, 65 years for men
and 69 years for women.®?®® The most recent data available for the Eeyou (Cree) reveal that
children born between 1999 and 2003 in Eeyou Istchee (Cree) territory can expect to live to
an age of 77.2.5%7

4.1.4 Male-to-female ratio

The proportion of men and women is almost identical in the various nations. In fact,
according to the registers available, 50.1% of the Indigenous registrants are women, versus
49.9% being men.f® The results were similar for Québec as a whole, with 50.3% being
women and 49.7% being men %

619  Document PD-13 (Commission), op. cit., p. 12. This percentage was determined based on birth dates in the
registers. Subsequently, individuals who failed to provide a date of birth were excluded from the calculation,
as well as those aged 100 or over, which brings the sample to 112,986 people.

620 Id., p. 13. The average age by nation as well as the median for each nation are presented in Appendix 15.

621 Institut de la statistique du Québec. (2017). Le bilan démographique du Québec. Edition 2017. Québec,
Québec: Institut de la statistique du Québec, p. 26.

622  Document PD-13 (Commission), op. cit., p. 12.
623 Ibid.

624  Ibid. The results obtained may in fact be considered conservative, since a significant number of deceased
persons still appear in the Indian Register.

625 Id., p.54.
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4.1.5 Family

When it comes to family, the profile of Indigenous people differs from Québec's overall
population. The first defining feature is that children are clearly more numerous among First
Nations couples living in a community (64.1%)%° and Inuit living in Nunavik (79.6%)%3* than
in the general population (40.2%).6% As a result, the Indigenous population is growing four
to five times faster than Québec’'s non-Indigenous population. The number of children is
also three to four times greater among members of First Nations and Inuit than in Québec's
overall population 633

Nunavik communities also stand out in terms of the proportion of single-parent families.
The last census conducted by Statistics Canada found the proportion of single-parent
families to be 18.3% among Inuit living north of the 55th parallel.®3 By comparison, single-
parent families account for an estimated 12.8% of First Nations families, whereas this figure
for Québec as a whole is 16.8%.5%

Family size also differs. While 29.0% of First Nations families have three or more children, the
rate exceeds 35.0% among Inuit families.®3® By contrast, less than one family in six (15.6%) has
three or more children when considering Québec as a whole.*¥ In absolute numbers, the
average family living in a First Nations community has 3.2 members, while the average Inuit
family has 3.7.6% Yet a few communities distinguish themselves with even larger families.
Such is the case for all Atikamekw Nehirowisiw communities (3.7 persons)®*® and Eeyou
(Cree) communities (3.6 persons)®4°, as well as the Inuit communities of Tasiujaq (4 persons),
Kangiqsualujjuaq, Quaqtaq, Salluit and Ivujivik (3.9 persons).®4 On the contrary, there are
fewer families with only one child among First Nations (42.8%)%4? and Inuit (35.8%)%4 than
in Québec as a whole (45.9%).54 For First Nations, the Hurons-Wendat have the smallest

630  Statistics Canada. (2018). Census Profile, 2016 Census [Research data available online]. Retrieved from

https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/index.cim?Lang=E. A table presenting

data on families in each of Québec’s Indigenous communities can be found in Appendix 16.
631 Ibid. A table presenting data on families in each Nunavik community can be found in Appendix 17.

632  Institut de la statistique du Québec. (2018). Panorama des régions du Québec. Edition 2018. Québec,
Québec: Institut de la statistique du Québec, p. 27.

633  Testimony of Carole Lévesque, stenographic notes taken June 19, 2017, p. 103, lines 8-14.
634  Statistics Canada. (2018). Census Profile, 2016 Census, op. cit.

635 Institut de la statistique du Québec. (2018), Panorama des régions du Québec, op. cit., p. 27.
636  Statistics Canada. (2018). Census Profile, 2016 Census, op. cit.
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638  See appendices 16 and 17.
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families, with around 2.7 persons per family®4, followed closely by the Abénakis, with
2.8 persons per family.®4 The Québec-wide average for family size is 2.3 persons.5+

4.1.6 Education

According to a report released by the Institut de recherche et d'informations
socioéconomiques, and based on the latest data collected by Statistics Canada, the level
of education of Québec's Indigenous population is lower than that of its non-Indigenous
population. In fact, while 13.0% of non-Indigenous persons aged 24 to 65 have not earned
a certificate, diploma or degree, that number swells to 30.5% for members of First Nations
and 54.2% for the Inuit population.®# Furthermore, the school dropout rate for Indigenous
persons (First Nations and Inuit) living in urban areas is reportedly 43.0%.649

A gap can be found at all educational levels. However, the discrepancy proves to be
narrowest with respect to getting a high school diploma or attestation of equivalence.®°
In fact, based on the 2016 census by Statistics Canada, a high school diploma was the
highest certificate, diploma or degree obtained by 17.7% of First Nations and 17.1% of Inuit
people. This figure stands at 21.6% for non-Indigenous persons.®st The gap tends to widen,
however, at the postsecondary level with a marked difference in the number of people
earning certificates and diplomas and bachelor's, master's and doctoral degrees. Indeed,
while 20.8% of non-Indigenous persons said they had a university degree in 2016, less than
8.0% (7.9%) of First Nations members and 2.0% of Inuit could say the same.®52 On a more
positive note, more First Nations members (22.9%) than non-Indigenous people (19.7%)
have earned an apprenticeship certificate or graduated from a trade school.®53

4.1.7 Employment and income

In Québec, as elsewhere in Canada, there are significant differences between non-Indig-
enous and Indigenous persons with respect to employment. The most recent Statistics
Canada data indicate that the number of employed people (employment rate), all ages
combined, is lower for First Nations members (49.5%) than for the non-Indigenous popula-
tion (59.7%). The same applies to the Inuit (54.6%).654
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During the last census, unemployment was twice as high for First Nations, both among
men (15.8% vs. 6.8%) and women (9.8% vs. 5.2%).5% This gap was even more pronounced
for Inuit men (18.8% vs. 6.8%) and women (12.7% vs. 5.2%).°%° It was also determined that the
proportion of unemployed persons generally increases with geographic re